DIGITAL COMMONS © UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

March 2021

Mechanisms and Mitigation: Effects of Light Pollution on West Nile Virus Dynamics

Meredith E. Kernbach University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Ecology and Evolutionary Biology Commons, Epidemiology Commons, and the Immunology and Infectious Disease Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

Kernbach, Meredith E., "Mechanisms and Mitigation: Effects of Light Pollution on West Nile Virus Dynamics" (2021). *USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations.* https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/8806

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Mechanisms and Mitigation: Effects of Light Pollution on West Nile Virus Dynamics

by

Meredith E. Kernbach

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health with a concentration in Global Communicable Diseases Department of Global Health College of Public Health University of South Florida

> Major Professor: Lynn B. Martin, Ph.D. Thomas R. Unnasch, Ph.D. Rays H.Y. Jiang, Ph.D. Richard J. Hall, Ph.D. Miguel Reina, Ph.D.

> > Date of Approval: February 8, 2021

Keywords: ALAN, house sparrow, host competence, disease ecology, emerging infectious disease

Copyright © 2021, Meredith E. Kernbach

DEDICATION

First, I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my parents, Michael Kernbach and Nancy Harmon, who encouraged me to pursue my dreams and go wherever they may take me. Without their support from the beginning, none of this would have been possible. They always listened to my morbid sparrow stories and consoled me when I got into fights with security guards over bird nets or despaired over computer troubles. I would also like to dedicate this dissertation to my siblings, Gretchen and August Kernbach, who may not have a clue what any of this says but were always there to keep things light and give me a laugh when I didn't feel like smiling. I would not have been able to get through any of this work without the everlasting support and love from my labmate and best friend, Haley Hanson. Even though I often distracted Haley from the million things that she had to do, she managed to give me the brightest and most thoughtful advice and wisdom I could ever ask for (and still accomplish an insane amount of amazing research... animal!). My fondest memories at USF (and in life) will always include spinning you around the lab in chairs that are falling apart, getting pooped on by birds together, whipping the golf cart to places that we definitely could have walked to, slam dunking heads (don't ask), spitting up carrots because you made me laugh too hard, and lighting the murder candle to ~calm the senses~. I would also like to dedicate this dissertation to my other labmates (and the real brains behind this whole document) Emily Ruhs, Cedric Zimmer, Jeanette Miller, and countless others I did not have room to thank here. This work was impossible without the help of an army, and I thank all of those who helped, even if it was taking down a net one day! Additionally, I want to dedicate this dissertation to my best friends who from day one were cheering me on and

celebrated my accomplishments like they were their own. Even if I did not want to go out and celebrate a publication, they pushed me to bask in the temporary glory! Last, but certainly not least, I would like to dedicate this to my future husband, Ryan DeWitt, for his unconditional love and unparalleled compassion through all my successes and setbacks. I apologize for screaming at my computer in the other room constantly while we worked from home during quarantine, but I swear your patience was worth it! After all, our mail will immortalize this experience forever as Dr. -then Mr.- DeWitt... You were always the first person to celebrate with me during the good times and sit with me during the hard times. I could not have finished this dissertation without you and the joy you brought into my life. Your authenticity and optimism will always inspire me to trust in God, have faith in humanity, and have hope for the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor, Dr. Lynn "Marty" Martin. His expertise, advice, and help on just about anything throughout my entire time at USF will propel me for success no matter what career I pursue. I will always cherish our whiteboard discussions, conference adventures, and schlumping around the BSL-3 together. I also want to thank my committee members for the countless hours they spent advising me on different aspects of my projects and always being willing to meet with me. Finally, I would like to acknowledge all my other mentors who were absolutely instrumental in helping me complete this research. You provided invaluable help that propelled my studies and manuscripts to succeed, and I look forward to seeing you all in the future at meetings, journal clubs, society happy hours, and perhaps as future co-PIs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF TABLES | V |
|---|------|
| LIST OF FIGURES | viii |
| LIST OF BOXES | X |
| ABSTRACT | xi |
| INTRODUCTION: DIM LIGHT AT NIGHT: PHYSIOLOGICAL EFFECTS AND | |
| ECOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES FOR INFECTIOUS DISEASE | 1 |
| Note to Reader | 1 |
| Authors | 1 |
| Affiliations | 1 |
| Abstract | 2 |
| Introduction | 2 |
| Known effects of light pollution on vertebrate traits relevant for the spread of infections | 4 |
| dLAN effects on circadian clocks and melatonin | 7 |
| Effects of light pollution on multi-level disease dynamics | 10 |
| dLAN effects on infectious disease dynamics in wildlife | 11 |
| West Nile virus | 12 |
| Putative effects of dLAN on host competence for WNV | 13 |
| Consequences of light pollution exposure for population and community level | |
| disease dynamics | 15 |
| Conclusions | 18 |
| Acknowledgements | 19 |
| Author Contributions | 19 |
| CHAPTER I' LIGHT POLLUTION INCREASES WEST NILE VIRUS COMPETENCE | |
| OF A UBIOUITOUS PASSERINE RESERVOIR | 25 |
| Note to Reader | 25 |
| Authors | 25 |
| Affiliations | 25 |
| Abstract | 26 |
| Introduction | 27 |
| Methods | 28 |
| Capture and housing | 28 |
| Dexamethasone suppression test | 29 |
| WNV infection | 29 |

| Corticosterone assays | |
|---|----|
| RNA extraction and RT-PCR for viremia | |
| WNV and corticosterone statistical analyses | |
| Outbreak potential modeling | 32 |
| Whole blood RNA extraction and sequencing | |
| RNA sequencing – differential expression | |
| RNA sequencing – weighted gene network correlation analysis (WGCNA) | 35 |
| Results | |
| Discussion | |
| Acknowledgements | 44 |
| Author Contributions | |
| Ethical Statement | 44 |
| CHAPTER II: BROAD-SPECTRUM LIGHT POLLUTION SUPPRESSES | |
| MELATONIN AND INCREASES WEST NILE VIRUS-INDUCED MORTALITY | |
| IN HOUSE SPARROWS (PASSER DOMESTICUS) | 50 |
| Note to Reader | 50 |
| Authors | 50 |
| Affiliations | 50 |
| Abstract | 51 |
| Introduction | 52 |
| Methods | 55 |
| Experimental Methods | 55 |
| Melatonin experiment | 55 |
| Spectral composition experiment | 56 |
| Data analysis | 58 |
| Melatonin experiment | 58 |
| Spectral composition experiment | 59 |
| Results | 60 |
| Exposure to ALAN suppresses melatonin in House sparrows | 60 |
| Amber-hue ALAN enhances West Nile virus resistance | 60 |
| Broad-spectrum ALAN increases WNV-induced mortality | 61 |
| Discussion | 62 |
| Melatonin actions on antiviral immune defenses | 62 |
| ALAN exposure, viral resistance, and its relationship to melatonin | 63 |
| ALAN exposure, immunopathology, mortality, and a potential role for | |
| melatonin | 64 |
| Melatonin independent effects of ALAN exposure on immune defenses | 65 |
| Seasonality in ALAN effects on WNV resistance and mortality | 66 |
| Alternative lighting options | 68 |
| Conclusions | 69 |
| Acknowledgements | 69 |
| Author Contributions | 70 |
| Ethical Statement | 70 |

| CHAPTER III: LIGHT POLLUTION AFFECTS WEST NILE VIRUS EXPOSURE | |
|---|------|
| RISK ACROSS FLORIDA | 77 |
| Note to Reader | 77 |
| Authors | 77 |
| Affiliations | 77 |
| Abstract | 77 |
| Introduction | 79 |
| Methods | 83 |
| Sentinel data | 83 |
| Environmental data | 83 |
| Data analysis | 84 |
| Results and Discussion | 87 |
| Why does ALAN affect WNV exposure? | 89 |
| Nonlinearity of ALAN effects on WNV exposure risk | 89 |
| Weather, precipitation, and WNV | 90 |
| Urbanization and zoonotic exposure risk | 91 |
| Conclusions and implications | 92 |
| Acknowledgements | 93 |
| Author Contributions | 93 |
| CONCLUSION | 99 |
| REFERENCES | 105 |
| APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTARY TEXT: CHAPTER II | 146 |
| APPENDIX B: SUPPLEMENTARY TEXT: CHAPTER III | 167 |
| APPENDIX C: SUPPLEMENTARY TEXT: CHAPTER IIII | 182 |
| APPEDNDIX D: INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE (IACUC) AND INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE (IBC) APPROVA | L187 |
| APPENDIX E: COPYRIGHT INFORMATION | 195 |
| Chapters 1 and 3 | |
| Introduction and Chapter 2 | 198 |
| introduction and chapter 2 | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 3.1: Summary statistics of the generalized linear mixed model to determine effects of day treatment, and their interaction on WNV viremia accounting for random effects of bird ID. | 71 |
|--|-----|
| Table 3.2: Summary statistics of the Cox proportional-hazards analysis to determine effects of treatment, average percent change body mass, average viremia, and their interaction on mortality. | 72 |
| Table 4.1: WNV exposure model selection including spatial, non-spatial, and offset options. | 93 |
| Table 4.2: Sensitivity analysis of polynomial effects on WNV exposure. | 94 |
| Table A2.1: Terms used in the linear mixed model to determine effects of days in captivity on viremia. | 152 |
| Table A2.2: Parameters used for the survival analysis. | 153 |
| Table A2.3: Terms used in the linear mixed models to determine effects of ALAN, day post-exposure, and their interactions on body mass throughout the course of infection. | 154 |
| Table A2.4: Output from type III test of fixed effects in SPSS to analyze relationship between fixed effects and dependent variable. | 154 |
| Table A2.5: Output from type III test of fixed effects in R studio to analyze relationship between day, treatment, and their interaction on viremia. | 155 |
| Table A2.6: Full statistics from the linear mixed model in SPSS. | 156 |
| Table A2.7: Linear mixed model outputs from 'nlme' package in R studio | 157 |
| Table A2.8: Parameters used to estimate West Nile virus basic reproductive number | 158 |
| Table A2.9: Variance inflation factors (VIF). | 158 |
| Table A2.10: Eigenvalue condition indices used to determine whether collinearity exists | 159 |

| Table A2.11: Number of differentially expressed genes classified by DEseq2 at FDR <0.05 and <0.10. | 159 |
|---|-----|
| Table A2.12: Measurements of ALAN at capture sites using VIIRS satellite radiance data from lightpollutionmap.info and handheld lux meters. | 159 |
| Table A2.13: Post-hoc analyses using 'emmeans' in R studio for linear mixed models accounting for repeated measures. | 160 |
| Table A3.1: Melatonin administration viremia distribution. | 171 |
| Table A3.2: Melatonin administration viremia type III ANOVA. | 171 |
| Table A3.3: Melatonin administration alone on viremia GLMM output. | 172 |
| Table A3.4: Melatonin administration*treatment on viremia GLMM output | 172 |
| Table A3.5: Residual variation in body mass distribution | 173 |
| Table A3.6: Melatonin administration*treatment*viremia on residual variation in body mass GLM | 173 |
| Table A3.7: Viremia distribution between 3000K and 5000K treatments. | 173 |
| Table A3.8: Bartlett Test of Homogeneity. | 174 |
| Table A3.9: 3000K and 5000K type III ANOVA | 174 |
| Table A3.10: 3000K and 5000K effects on mortality in a Cox Proportional Hazards Model | 174 |
| Table A3.11: 3000K and 5000K effects on body mass in a GLM. | 175 |
| Table A3.12: Melatonin Pre-Exposure. | 175 |
| Table A3.13: Melatonin Pre-Exposure. | 175 |
| Table A3.14: Pre-/Post-ALAN exposure effects on melatonin [within-group] | 176 |
| Table A3.15: Pre-/Post-ALAN exposure effects on melatonin [within-group] | 176 |
| Table A3.16: Effects of ALAN exposure on melatonin concentrations. | 177 |
| Table A3.17: Effects of ALAN exposure on melatonin concentrations. | 177 |
| Table A3.18: Main effects of treatment, time, and their interaction on WNV viremia | 178 |

| Table A3.19: Detailed statistics of treatment, time, and their interaction on WNV viremia GLMM output. | 178 |
|---|-----|
| Table A3.20: Detailed statistics of treatment, time, and their interaction on percent change body mass GLMM output. | 179 |
| Table A3.21: Effects of treatment and vigor on mortality | 179 |
| Table A3.22: Effects of treatment alone on mortality. | 179 |
| Table A3.23: Main effects of treatment, average percent change body mass, and average viremia on mortality. | 180 |
| Table A3.24: Detailed output of treatment, average percent change body mass, and average viremia on mortality | 180 |
| Table A3.25: Comparison of days until death between treatments | 181 |
| Table A3.26: Pairwise comparison of time until death between treatments | 181 |
| Table A4.1: Spatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with no offsets. | 182 |
| Table A4.2: Nonspatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with offsets. | 183 |
| Table A4.3: Nonspatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme without offsets. | 184 |
| Table A4.4: Spatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with offsets | 185 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1: The mechanisms by which dLAN can influence disease dynamics at the within-individual and among-individual levels | | | | |
|--|-----|--|--|--|
| Figure 1.2: Light pollution across the Tampa Bay region and Culex sp. numbers over time and by light-pollution environment (dLAN). | 22 | | | |
| Figure 1.3: Potential differences in mosquito–host interaction under natural and light- polluted conditions. | 23 | | | |
| Figure 2.1: West Nile virus infection viremia, body mass and WNV-induced mortality results | 45 | | | |
| Figure 2.2: WGCNA results for significantly enriched WNV immune defense modules | 47 | | | |
| Figure 2.3: Normalized counts for SOCS1 and SOCS3 across treatment groups | 49 | | | |
| Figure 3.1: Melatonin concentration measured during the dark phase at Zeitgeber times | 73 | | | |
| Figure 3.2: The effects of spectral composition of ALAN on WNV viremia, percent change body mass since exposure, and percent survival | 74 | | | |
| Figure 3.3: Residual variation of the means of time (days) until death as a function of average viremia during days 2 and 4 post-exposure. | 76 | | | |
| Figure 4.1: Sentinel chicken sampling locations throughout Florida overlaid on the artificial component of night sky brightness. | 95 | | | |
| Figure 4.2: Effect sizes of ALAN and urbanization, temperature, and weather variables on West Nile virus risk. | 96 | | | |
| Figure 4.3: Interannual effects of ALAN, human population density, mean temperature of the previous month, and monthly total precipitation on incidence of WNV seroprevalence. | | | | |
| Figure A2.1: Corticosterone levels at capture in the wild. | 161 | | | |
| Figure A2.2: Corticosterone regulatory profiles after ALAN exposure | 162 | | | |

| Figure A2.3: Baseline corticosterone levels of birds at capture (wild) and after a period of time in captivity (captive) | 163 |
|--|-----|
| Figure A2.4: PCA of all 18 RNAseq libraries used in the study. | 164 |
| Figure A2.5: Cell type enrichment analysis based on up and down regulated genes in the 'd6 ALAN v Control' and 'ALAN d6 v d2' DEseq2 results | 165 |
| Figure A2.6: WGCNA module trait correlations | 166 |
| Figure A4.1: Histograms and density distribution of artificial night lighting across Florida and at our sentinel chicken sample locations. | 186 |

LIST OF BOXES

| Box | 1.1 | : Pathogen | basic r | reproductive | number . | م 2 | 24 |
|-----|-----|------------|---------|--------------|----------|--------|----|
|-----|-----|------------|---------|--------------|----------|--------|----|

ABSTRACT

Light pollution, or the presence of unnatural light at night, is a pervasive and growing problem across the globe. While often pictured in urban centers, light pollution is far reaching and can affect seemingly safe and minimally developed environments. For example, agricultural communities with artificial lighting near facilities can generate such light pollution in rural areas. Further, streetlights and illuminated billboards along roads and highways can generate light pollution far from cities. Given how pervasive this anthropogenic stressor is, it is surprising that not much is known about how artificial light at night, or ALAN, affects humans or wildlife, especially those that harbor infectious diseases.

Previously, the biomedical field uncovered many negative effects of ALAN exposure on the immune system. Laboratory rodents experience exaggerated fever responses and decreases in bacterial killing ability, among other consequences. This is altogether not surprising as components of vertebrate immune systems possess circadian rhythms. Additionally, other studies have found that exposure to ALAN induces hormonal dysregulation, leading to a mismatch in circadian and circannual timing. Ultimately, the consensus among the research community is that ALAN generates a myriad of negative effects on immunity and other components of organismal physiology. However, it is yet to be uncovered how ALAN may affect infectious disease dynamics.

Here, I investigated for the first time how light pollution might affect infectious disease dynamics. To do so, I considered the mosquito-transmitted flavivirus, West Nile virus (WNV). WNV is among one of the most important arboviruses worldwide, and continues to affect human, horse, and bird populations in the United States following its introduction in 1999. WNV has also been described as a "peri-urban" disease-causing agent, as it often emerges in suburbs and other built environments. Lastly, as WNV is harbored by common and urban-residing avian reservoirs, light pollution has the potential to affect transmission through effects on these amplifying hosts. I used the ubiquitous house sparrow as the study species here because they are competent WNV reservoirs in nature, reside in almost all part of the continental United States, and are residents of light polluted areas. Overall, I asked how exposure to low-intensity light pollution may affect the host competence (i.e., ability to generate new infections) of house sparrows to WNV.

In my first chapter, I considered how light pollution might affect multiple aspects of WNV dynamics in house sparrows, from molecular mechanisms to outbreak potential. I first discussed the circadian nature of immunity and viral defenses and outline how these may become dysregulated by exposure to light at night and other downstream effects. I then discussed the effects on host competence including infectious period, mortality, and vector-associated behavior. Lastly, I walked through multiple components of the R₀ equation (i.e., the basic reproductive number) which essentially determines how many new infections one host can generate based on infectious period, probability of being infected after a bite (in hosts and vectors), biting rate, background mortality, disease-induced mortality, and other relevant parameters. Combined, this chapter outlined how ALAN might be altering vector-transmitted diseases.

In my second chapter, I experimentally tested whether low-intensity ALAN affected WNV responses in House sparrows. My results first revealed that exposure to ALAN did not affect glucocorticoid regulation in sparrows, indicating that any such immune dysregulation

xii

would not have been mediated by this stress hormone. Importantly, I found that exposure to ALAN, no matter the duration (ranging from 7 to 21 days), allowed sparrows to maintain infectious levels of WNV for twice as long as controls. Although ALAN-exposed sparrows lost a significant amount of body mass, there were no differences in mortality rate among the groups. Additionally, transcriptomic analyses revealed that while ALAN-exposed birds upregulated WNV immune defenses earlier than controls, they displayed signs of immunopathology. After considering all of this, I used a simple single-host, single-vector R₀ model, and found that extending the infectious period by two days increased outbreak potential by ~41%.

In my third chapter, I explored whether spectral composition of ALAN affects host competence to WNV in house sparrows. I repeated a similar WNV infection experiment but substituted out an incandescent light for 3 different types of LED lights: cool white, warm white, and amber-hued (which are marketed as "wildlife-safe"). First, I found that exposure to warm white light at night significantly suppressed the circadian hormone, melatonin. Melatonin is known for regulating many circadian functions, but also plays a role in mediating immune responses and attenuating infection-induced damage. Additionally, I found that exposure to broad-spectrum (both cool and warm white) ALAN did not affect viremia (i.e., amount of virus in circulation), but interestingly, exposure to amber-hue ALAN marginally but significantly increased WNV resistance (i.e., decreases viremia). Alternatively, birds exposed to broadspectrum ALAN did experience higher WNV-induced mortality and tended to die at lower viremias than control birds. Altogether, altering spectral composition of light at night has the potential to alleviate negative effects on wildlife.

In my fourth and last chapter, I investigated whether these effects of ALAN observed in the lab manifest ecologically using Florida Department of Health (FDOH) sentinel chicken

xiii

surveillance data. The FDOH monitors environmental circulation of vector-transmitted diseases by surveying chickens throughout the state weekly for the presence of WNV antibodies, indicating that they have been exposed to the virus. I extracted ALAN intensities from the World Atlas of Artificial Sky Brightness at these surveillance sites while accounting for weather and urbanization variables. Mixed effect model selection revealed that ALAN as a polynomial term and temperature of the month prior were the best predictors of WNV exposure risk across Florida. Exposure risk was lowest in non-light polluted areas, peaked in areas of low light pollution, and then tapered off in areas of moderate to high light pollution. Unlike previous results, I did not find support for parameters of urbanization here, but more work needs to be done to uncover what about ALAN exposure at ground-level may be driving WNV exposure risk.

INTRODUCTION:

DIM LIGHT AT NIGHT: PHYSIOLOGICAL EFFECTS AND ECOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES FOR INFECTIOUS DISEASE

Note to Reader:

This is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in Integrative and Comparative Biology following peer review. The version of record: Kernbach ME, Hall RJ, Burkett-Cadena ND, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2018. Dim light at night: physiological effects and ecological consequences for infectious disease. Integr Comp Biol.

Authors:

Meredith E. Kernbach¹, Richard J. Hall², Nathan Burkett-Cadena³, Thomas R. Unnasch¹, Lynn B. Martin¹

Affiliations:

1. Department of Global and Planetary Health, University of South Florida, Tampa FL.

 Department of Infectious Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Georgia, Athens GA.

3. Florida Medical Entomology Laboratory, University of Florida, Vero Beach FL.

Abstract:

Light pollution has emerged as a pervasive component of land development over the past century. Several detrimental impacts of this anthropogenic influence have been identified in night shift workers, laboratory rodents, and a plethora of wildlife species. Circadian, or daily, patterns are interrupted by the presence of light at night and have the capacity to alter rhythmic physiological or behavioral characteristics. Indeed, biorhythm disruption can lead to metabolic, reproductive, and immunological dysfunction depending on the intensity, timing, duration, and wavelength of light exposure. Light pollution, in many forms and by many pathways, is thus apt to affect the nature of host-pathogen interactions. However, no research has yet investigated this possibility. The goal of this manuscript is to outline how dim light at night (dLAN), a relevant and common form of light pollution, may affect disease dynamics by interrupting circadian rhythms and regulation of immune responses as well as opportunities for host-parasite interactions and subsequent transmission risk including spillover into humans. We close by proposing some promising interventions including alternative lighting methods or vector control efforts.

Introduction:

Urbanization and other anthropogenic changes can impact humans and wildlife in many ways. Among the many changes that co-occur with land development (i.e., noise pollution, toxic pollution, habitat loss), light pollution is one of the most influential and widespread. Light pollution, or the presence of unnatural levels of light at night, now covers 18.7% of the United States land mass at intensities that can be detected from space, and its spatial extent grew at a rate of 2.2% per year between 2012 and 2016 (Cinzano et al. 2001; Kyba, Kuester, et al. 2017). It

has been estimated that 80.7% of the U.S. population lives in urban areas; however, 99% of the U.S. population lives under light polluted skies (Cinzano et al. 2001; United States Census Bureau 2016).

Several organizations, such as the Fatal Light Awareness Program (FLAP) and The International Dark-Sky Association (IDSA), have begun to draw attention to this 'barelyaddressed' conservation problem, which has permeated even our most protected and precious natural sites (Aubrecht, C., Jaiteh, M., & De Sherbinin 2010). Many forms of light pollution have been described by the international astronomical union (IAU), such as skyglow (i.e., the illumination of the atmosphere surrounding intensely illuminated regions) and glare (i.e., the presence of light at night that disrupts object perception) (International Dark-Sky Association 2009). Over-illumination (i.e. the excessive use of nighttime illumination to highlight memorials or buildings) at the 9/11 memorial, "A Tribute in Light", in New York City was recently highlighted as a major disruption of navigation to migrating birds, which caused individuals to become entrapped in the light (Van Doren et al. 2017). Our focus in the present manuscript, dim light at night (dLAN), is one of the most widespread forms of light pollution (International Dark-Sky Association 2009) with little sign of being moderated in spite of its effects on human and wildlife health (Falchi et al. 2011; Gaston et al. 2013a).

dLAN is emitted from street and billboard lights, vehicle headlights, and other sources that vary in duration, intensity, and wavelength. Typical natural light intensity ranges from 103,000 lux (sunny day) to 0.1 lux (moon on cloudy night), but levels of dLAN as low as 5 lux can have biological effects (Longcore and Rich 2004; Navara and Nelson 2007; Gaston et al. 2013a). Spectral composition of light differs across nighttime lighting regimes (Boyce 2003). Historically, incandescent and halogen lighting were favored, but there has been a recent switch

to energy efficient cool-white LEDs, which pose new risks to humans and wildlife (Frank 1988). Whereas orange hues emitted from traditional lighting are not harmless, broad spectrum LEDs predominantly emit short wavelengths, posing a greater threat to wildlife. Wildlife are particularly sensitive to these light forms due to the ecological relevance of blue light cues (Elvidge et al. 2010). Despite interannual consistency in light pollution, temporal heterogeneity exists throughout the night due to social and economic demands (Gaston et al. 2013b). Artificial lighting is critical to facilitate the flow of commerce, safe transportation networks, and public confidence in security of otherwise threatening areas. As the majority of life on earth evolved in the absence of nighttime illumination (with the exception of occasionally bright moonlit nights), light pollution poses a novel and spatiotemporally extensive threat to a wide variety of organisms (Verheijen 1985).

Known effects of light pollution on vertebrate traits relevant for the spread of infections:

Nearly 100 years ago, scientists observed that trees next to street lights maintain their leaves longer into autumn (Matzke 1936). Some argued the advent and widespread use of artificial light set in motion 'eternal summers', as light conditions began to lack the seasonal rhythmicity they had for millions of years (Wehr 2001). Indeed, the impact of light exposure at night became particularly apparent when scientists began to discover poor health conditions in humans performing night shift work. In addition to augmented risk of various types of cancer, metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes, these individuals experiencing almost constant exposure to light suffered from higher rates of depression and insomnia than control populations (Viswanathan et al. 2007; Chepesiuk 2009; Pietroiusti et al. 2010; Pan et al. 2011). Because the hormone melatonin is regulated by light, many studies evaluated and eventually linked melatonin dysregulation to the above maladies (Lewy et al. 1980; Blask et al. 2002; Reiter et al. 2007;

Gooley et al. 2011; Niemelä and Dingemanse 2018). That research revealed that light pollution often led to arrhythmia in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), the part of the brain responsible for integrating light signals and synchronizing melatonin secretion (Brainard et al. 1988a; Reiter et al. 2007). However, other studies implicated direct effects of light pollution on circadian activities of cells in several tissues, as most tissues in the body possess molecular clocks, which are naturally synchronized by melatonin from the pineal gland (Balsalobre et al. 1998; Yamazaki et al. 2000). Receptors that detect light at night are most sensitive to peaks in the blue light part of the visible light spectrum (Elvidge et al. 2010). These findings led to the recent emphasis of limiting exposure to electronics rich in blue light at night (Figueiro et al. 2011; Wood et al. 2013). The 'night-shift' application implemented on smartphones, computers, and tablets by Apple and other manufacturers attempt to mitigate dLAN-associated disease risks by reducing blue light emissions (Nagare et al. 2019).

Similar observations as the above for humans have been made in lab rodents. Indeed, dLAN can have many physiological and behavioral consequences in these species, including altered immune function, metabolism, and behavior (Bedrosian et al. 2011; Fonken et al. 2013; Borniger et al. 2014). When exposed to light at night, nocturnal Siberian hamsters (*Phodopus sungorus*) have i) weaker ability to control bacterial infections ex vivo and ii) reduced cutaneous inflammatory responses in vivo (Bedrosian et al. 2011). Conversely, Swiss Webster mice have exaggerated febrile responses and over-express pro-inflammatory cytokines (Fonken et al. 2013). Exposure to dLAN in lab rodents also induces a dramatic, yet reversible, change in metabolism by shifting feeding patterns (Fonken et al. 2010, 2013). Knocking out genes involved in clock oscillations also induces diabetic and obesity-associated phenotypes (Fonken and Nelson 2014). Although many of these effects can be ameliorated when light pollution is ceased, exposure to dLAN during development can sometimes have enduring effects, including the induction of anxiety-like behavior in adulthood (Borniger et al. 2014).

There is evidence that dLAN and other forms of light pollution affect wildlife too. For instance, songbirds that reside in the proximity of light pollution shift the timing of migration and reproductive behaviors ahead by several weeks (Dominoni et al. 2013a; Agarwal et al. 2015; Weishampel et al. 2016). Light pollution can also disrupt navigation ability in species that use visible light to coordinate large-scale movements (Frank 1988; Cochran et al. 2004; Wiltschko et al. 2007). As evidence, the incidence of building collision deaths is exceptionally high in light polluted cities, such as Galveston, Texas, which occur along major migration routes (Van Doren et al. 2017). Many species ranging from zooplankton to marine turtles suffer reproductive losses too and try to avoid light polluted habitats altogether (Moore et al. 2000; Weishampel et al. 2016). It is also well-known that multiple insect species display "fly to light" behavior, particularly towards sources of reflective polarized light. However, it has yet to be determined whether light pollution itself exacerbates such effects (Horváth et al. 2009; Gaston et al. 2013a; Shimoda and Honda 2013).

Reproductively, light pollution can work through many pathways to jeopardize wildlife prospects. Organisms that reproduce seasonally shift the timing of their gonadal development and courtship behavior nearly a month in advance. These changes occur because light at night is mistaken for extensions of daylength, which many species use to time gonadal recrudescence or maturation (Nelson 2011; Dominoni et al. 2013a). When given a choice, frugivorous bats prefer to forage in completely dark habitats, rather than those that are dimly lit, which indirectly shifts habitat preference in those reservoir species (Lewanzik and Voigt 2014). Even in dimly lit

habitats (i.e., 8 lux), European blackbirds intentionally avoid light exposure and roost under levels of light as low as 0.2 lux (Dominoni et al. 2014).

Given the many known effects of light pollution, it is surprising that effects of dLAN on host-pathogen interactions have largely yet to be investigated. Our main goal in this manuscript is to summarize the many paths by which light pollution could induce circadian or circannual rhythm disruption (figure 1.1a), and affect infection coping mechanisms at the individual level (figure 1.1b). A complementary goal is to summarize how such individual level effects could scale-up to alter disease dynamics at the population and community levels including spillover of zoonoses to humans (figure 1.1c).

dLAN effects on circadian clocks and melatonin:

Most biological processes within individuals follow a circadian (meaning 'about a day') rhythm. Blood pressure and heart rate, physical activity and food intake, hormone regulation, and immune system traits such as T cells concentrations in the blood and macrophage tissue migration are just a few examples (Aschoff 1966; Martí et al. 1993; ADAMOPOULOS et al. 1995; Keller et al. 2009; Arble et al. 2012). Most organisms show some form of circadian biorhythms mediated by autonomous intra-cellular circadian oscillators that function on an approximate 24-hour feedback loop (Bell-Pedersen et al. 2005a). A peak in copies of an RNA transcription factor, such as Per and Cry (Kornmann et al. 2007) and CLOCK and BMAL1 (Shearman et al. 2000), work together to allow organisms and their various organ systems to time events precisely (Albrecht et al. 1997; Reppert and Weaver 2002). CLOCK:BMAL1 heterodimers interact with Per and Cry to control the expression of timekeeping genes, processes that are independent of exogenous environmental changes (e.g., ambient temperature; (Maes et al. 1994)). Light pollution can disrupt clock actions in multiple ways. The absence of the

transcription factor BMAL1 leads to the depletion of Per gene expression and causes arrhythmia in the SCN can be generated; BMAL1 absence leads to a depletion of mPer1 and mPer2 (Bunger et al. 2000), compromising circadian rhythmicity. Circadian feedback loops were first described in retinal base neurons of the snail (*Bulla gouldiana*), but since then have been observed in multiple species (Binkley et al. 1978; Aronson et al. 1993; Welsh et al. 1995; Brandstätter et al. 2001). Intrinsic rhythms can be extrinsically entrained by zeitgebers, a German word meaning "time giver" (Pevet and Challet 2011). For example, rats possess a free-running endogenous rhythm of 24.25-hour days but synchronize to a 24-hour day by zeitgeber-induced melatonin secretion (Redman et al. 1983). Light, or photoperiod, typically serves as the circadian zeitgeber because it is the most reliable environmental cue an organism can use to predict future conditions.

Although climate has changed vastly since the origination of life on Earth, photoperiod has remained consistent (Crowley and North 1988). The integral role that light information plays in synchronizing physiological functions across taxa confirms that individuals have placed a heavy reliance on light cues for millions of years. Organisms developed these sensitive light reception and synchronization mechanisms long before light pollution appeared, which probably explains why light exposure at night has many negative effects. For example, in the presence of light pollution, Per and Cry genes could be expressed sporadically throughout the day, thus cells would not express oscillating genes in synchrony.

The indoleamine hormone, melatonin, the "chemical expression of darkness," is secreted into circulation to synchronize the aforementioned intracellular oscillators and thus coordinate daily rhythms within the body (Klein and Moore 1979; Reiter 1991). Melatonin is synthesized from tryptophan and serotonin precursors in the pineal gland prior to rapid release into

circulation (Reiter 1993; Tricoire et al. 2003). Although melatonin is primarily known for its role in maintaining biological rhythms, melatonin affects a variety of other physiological functions. Melatonin receptors are expressed with a daily rhythm in the coronary arteries of healthy individuals (Ekmekcioglu et al. 2001) and assist in thermoregulation during torpor or hibernation periods (Saarela and Reiter 1994). Melatonin is also intricately intertwined with metabolic processes exhibiting circadian fluctuations (Fonken and Nelson 2011). In light of the focus in the present manuscript, the extensive and diverse effects of melatonin on the immune system are of particular relevance. Melatonin enhances T cell proliferation and differentiation, antigen presentation by MHCII molecules, and cytotoxic activity upon antibody activation (Pioli et al. 1993; Esquifino et al. 2004; Konakchieva et al. 2018). It also amplifies in vivo production of IL-1, IL-6, and IL-12 (i.e., pro-inflammatory cytokines) secreted from helper T cells, which increases various immune activities and protects against encephalitis (i.e., inflammation of the brain), bacterial infection, and septic shock (Maestroni et al. 1988). It can also restore immune functions and reduce mortality following physiological trauma such as septic or hemorrhagic shock (Wichmann et al. 2018). One of the most potent effects of melatonin is to reduce collateral damage from inflammation and free radicals (Sasaki et al. 2002; Vijayalaxmi et al. 2004; Hardeland et al. 2012). In rats faced with spinal cord injury, heat stroke, acute pancreatitis, and diabetic pathologies, melatonin reduced inflammatory cytokine production and plasma lipid peroxidation levels (Esposito et al. 2008; Gülben et al. 2010; Lin et al. 2011; Agil et al. 2012). Indeed, genomic expression of the melatonin-induced anti-inflammatory profile has been confirmed in Raw cell (clonal stem cell) lines, which typically exhibit the common response of cells in the body (Ban et al. 2011). The combination of these melatonin-mediated immune modifications has implications for infection resistance (Boga et al. 2012). Evidence suggests that

melatonin can also delay the onset of viral infection and reduce viral-induced mortality (Maestroni et al. 1988; Ben-Nathan et al. 1995). Stimulation of the early-phase interferon responses (i.e., IFN-gamma) by melatonin also appears to enhance anti-viral efficacy of various leukocytes (Bonilla et al. 2004a). Apoptosis is also moderated by melatonin (Sainz et al. 2003). Some studies have noted higher infection resistance in human patients who received melatonin (Reiter et al. 2002).

Glucocorticoids, such as corticosterone in birds and cortisol in mammals, follow daily rhythms as well (Nelson 2011). Nadirs can be around sunrise in diurnal species, such as house sparrows, (*Passer domesticus*) or around sunset in nocturnal species, such as fruit bats (*Pteropus vampyrus*) (Widmaier and Kunz 1993; Breuner et al. 1999). Much as with metabolic incoordination described above, glucocorticoid dysfunction can influence variety of functions in the body including metabolism, mobilization and transport of resources, and, importantly, immune function. Indeed, acute elevation of glucocorticoids in response to a short-term stress event enhances immune function, whereas chronic elevation of glucocorticoids dampens immune function (Rich and Romero 2005). Great tits (*Parus major*) exposed to white light at night had significantly higher baseline corticosterone than those exposed to red or no light at night (Ouyang, de Jong, et al. 2015).

Effects of light pollution on multi-level disease dynamics:

There are many ways by which dLAN could affect the success and movement of parasites within and among hosts. At the organismal level, the ability to avoid infection outright (exposure), prevent infection upon exposure (susceptibility), reduce parasite burden once infected (resistance), and maintain fitness throughout the course of infection (tolerance) partly determines the probability of transmission to another host or vector (figure 1.1b), which are

collectively termed host competence (Gervasi et al. 2015). Much heterogeneity in competence exists within and across hosts, contingent on individual health and environmental context (figure 1.1b). Individuals with high competence, namely superspreaders, maintain high fitness when infected (figure 1.1b). Variation in aspects of competence ultimately describes how individuals cope with infection, including morbidity (sickness) and mortality (fatality), and how they contribute to disease spread within communities. An explicit focus on competence allows us to investigate multiple facets of physiology and behavior, including those with circadian patterns detailed above, and determine how pathogens move among individuals in populations (figure 1.1c). Below, we focus on West Nile virus (WNV) infection as an example of how dLAN might affect disease dynamics in nature.

dLAN effects on infectious disease dynamics in wildlife:

The intricate balance among natural biorhythms could be disrupted when individuals are exposed to dLAN. The perception of day time would likely become skewed when individuals receive light cues sporadically or consistently throughout the night, but there have been few studies that have explicitly related dLAN exposure to circadian disruption on a molecular or physiological level. It is known that almost every function in organisms operate with a daily rhythm, so it is likely that in the event that circadian disruption occurs, the immune functions responsible for coordinating and executing pathogen control will be affected as well (Reppert and Weaver 2002). Many studies have found organismal consequences that implicate clock and melatonin disruption. For example, great tits (*Parus major*) exposed to white light at night maintain higher activity levels than controls, and American robins (*Turdus migratorius*) exposed to light pollution sing earlier in the morning (Miller 2006a; Ouyang et al. 2017).

Contradictory cues induced by light pollution can impact seasonal timing of activities by individuals. In European blackbirds, individuals exposed to light pollution elevated testosterone levels and accelerated testicular development by nearly a month earlier in the season (Dominoni et al. 2013b). Additionally, dLAN exposed birds began to sing both earlier in the season and earlier in the morning than control individuals (Dominoni et al. 2013b). Redheaded buntings (*Emberiza bruniceps*) exposed to light pollution have altered migrational timing, which can affect reproductive success upon arrival (Agarwal et al. 2015). Although the seasonal effects of light pollution on host immunity are not yet clear, the shift towards reproductive and migratory life histories may indicate a shift away from investment in immune defenses. It has been well observed in nature that during reproduction, individuals sacrifice immune function and invest in courtship behavior, gonadal development, and provisioning their young (Sheldon and Verhulst 1996).

West Nile virus:

Not long after its initial introduction to the United States, WNV became widespread and influential. Since WNV is a vector-transmitted multi-host pathogen, there are many facets of the transmission cycle that can be impacted by light pollution. This zoonotic arbovirus was introduced to New York in 1999 (Campbell et al. 2002) and is now found in 326 bird species (Kilpatrick et al. 2006), which vary in competence. WNV has been isolated from 65 mosquito species, but mosquito species also differ in their competence for WNV (Marra et al. 2004). While Culex spp. are the most competent vectors, WNV has been found in Anopheles spp. and Aedes spp. as well (Apperson et al. 2002). WNV regularly spills over from reservoir species to hosts that do not promote further transmission of pathogen such as horses, other mammals, humans, and rarely reptilian species (Miller et al. 2003; Marra et al. 2004). With over 2.5 million

West Nile infections between its introduction in 1999 and 2011, WNV remains a threat to both wildlife and humans (Petersen et al. 2013).

Putative effects of dLAN on host competence for WNV:

After a vertebrate is infected by WNV, early viral replication occurs in a variety of local cells when virions bind to an unknown membrane receptor, enter the cytoplasm, and reassemble the capsid in the endoplasmic reticulum to promote replication. Eventually, virions are re-released into circulation via exocytosis (Suthar et al. 2013). The RIG-I-like receptor (part of the RLR pathway), combined with MDA5 and LGP2, is activated upon detection of WNV RNA (Suthar et al. 2013). Zebra finches inoculated with WNV upregulate the transcription of several genes including DDx58 and IFIH1 (which control RIG-1 and MDA5) to promote the production of RLR throughout the course of infection (Newhouse et al. 2017). Upon activation, the RLR cascade stimulates production of interferons (IFN), which coordinate subsequent antiviral immune effectors (Loo and Gale 2011). MAVS, a signaling molecule in the RLR pathway, has been implicated as the most important aspect of the anti-WNV defense cascade. Mice with MAVS-deficiency have an exaggerated inflammatory response and dysregulated T-cell responses and humoral responses to WNV (Suthar et al. 2013). Type-1 IFN signaling and NOD-like receptor activation also play a role in control of WNV.

There is also circadian variation in the propensity of host immune defenses relevant to WNV. Tissue emigration of cellular immune defenses and phagocytic ability of macrophages required for the initial control of WNV infection in Langerhans cells are robust during the active period of the host (Scheiermann et al. 2013). Some T cell types peak in circulation during the day as well (Bollinger et al. 2010).

Unlike mediators of WNV resistance and susceptibility, there has been almost no work to elucidate how hosts tolerate WNV infections. Experiments on laboratory rodents revealed that dLAN exposure might exaggerate pro-inflammatory cytokine signaling and fever responses (Fonken et al. 2013). Over-exuberant inflammation has recurrently been associated with low tolerance (Råberg et al. 2009; Sears et al. 2011). Several studies in humans have also found that night-shift work increases the incidence of autoimmune disorders (Boscolo et al. 2008), further implicating self-inflicted damage as a common outcome of dLAN exposure (Warkany 1986). Given that WNV infection can lead to West Nile fever, extreme cases of which include lethal encephalitis, it remains a possibility that dLAN will generally compromise vertebrate host health when infected.

In spite of reasons for concern, the direct effects of dLAN on melatonin and viral resistance are largely unknown. dLAN clearly has the capacity to alter within-host viral replication, but to what extent these effects are mediated by changes in the regulation of melatonin are as yet obscure (Carrillo-Vico et al. 2006; Navara and Nelson 2007). As emphasized earlier, melatonin levels increase in the dark, and are suppressed in the presence of light, including that originating from light pollution sources. A direct relationship between melatonin and WNV resistance pathways has not yet been established, but it is plausible. For example, individuals exposed to dLAN would not secrete natural levels of melatonin at night, which may lead them to produce an exaggerated and damaging inflammatory response and/or inappropriate T-cell mediated responses to WNV (Carrillo-Vico et al. 2005). Individuals who do not possess natural levels of melatonin at night, subsequently, may be more competent for WNV, either by being disproportionately susceptible, remaining infective for longer, and/or experiencing different mortality rates than individuals exposed to natural photoperiods. Some

individuals might even be able to tolerate higher viral titers for longer, behaving normally but with higher burdens than unpolluted conspecifics (Gervasi et al. 2017). Individuals might also be more attractive or conspicuous to vectors of WNV.

Indeed, many forms of tolerance are apt to be affected in dLAN, particularly when they involve behaviors regulated by melatonin (e.g., timing and duration of arousals, selection of roosting sites, rates of interspecific encounters). In the context of WNV, mosquito-directed behaviors are particularly important to investigate. There is clear evidence that dLAN extends nighttime activity in birds by several hours earlier in the morning and throughout the course of the entire night (Miller 2006b; Ouyang et al. 2017). This extension of activity may increase interactions among species, especially the crepuscular and nocturnal feeding vectors of WNV. On the one hand, non-roosting hosts may be easier blood-meal targets for mosquitoes as they often forage in the vicinity of mosquito breeding habitat (i.e., small bodies of still water), but on the other, active hosts might be better able to avoid or defend against vectors.

Consequences of light pollution exposure for population and community level disease dynamics:

Heterogeneity in WNV competence within and among hosts will affect the probability of transmission among hosts (Martin et al. 2016a; VanderWaal and Ezenwa 2016). Demographic rates such as fecundity and mortality combined with host competence determine the potential for emergence and maintenance of WNV epidemics at the population-level. Once we have data on how dLAN affects aspects of competence at the individual-level, we can link within-organism processes to population-level transmission dynamics using compartmental epidemiological models (e.g., SEIR; Susceptible, Exposed, Infectious and Recovered). A useful metric that summarizes the potential of a pathogen to cause an outbreak when introduced to a wholly

susceptible population is the pathogen basic reproductive number, R₀. This term aggregates model parameters relating to transmission and recovery processes and demographic parameters determining population size in hosts and vectors (box 1.1). For a pathogen to cause an outbreak, R₀ must be greater than one (i.e., the index case must generate at least one new infection during its infectious period). In the presence of light pollution, a pathogen may become established more easily (e.g., at a low vector population size) and persist in the population via changes in host traits that contribute to infectivity, mortality, rates of recovery or other factors.

Many factors surrounding vector activity, abundance, and behavior affect R₀ parameters that increase and/or decrease outbreak potential. Culex nigripalpus, a known vector of WNV, is attracted to blue wavelengths emitted by LEDs (Ali et al. 1989). The presence of light at night, especially that of cool white LEDs, may increase the aggregation of mosquitoes near light sources and vector density (V). The maintenance of Culex mosquito abundance later in the fall could also prolong WNV transmission season (figure 1.2). Crepuscular feeding vectors can increase biting rate (b), throughout the night as they may misperceive light pollution as dusk or dawn and extend activity later into the night (figure 1.3). However, increased host activity at dawn and dusk may enhance vector avoidance behavior which would decrease biting rate (b) (Ouyang et al. 2017). Although not much is known about vector survival in light polluted habitats, this may affect the ability of vectors to transmit WNV further (i.e., fractions of mosquitoes surviving latent period). Moreover, several studies have found that mosquitoes thrive on "urban heat islands" (Paz and Albersheim 2008), so other aspects of urban sites, where dLAN predominates, could amplify or complicate dLAN effects on disease dynamics.

Exposure to pathogens might also be affected by dLAN through extended contact rates between hosts and vectors (Wright and Gompper 2005; Tompkins et al. 2011; Brearley et al.

2013; Becker and Hall 2014). Resource clumping strongly correlates with host density and contact rates within and among species (Bradley and Altizer 2007a). Combined, these effects have been directly related to increased parasite prevalence in fragmented habitats (Wright and Gompper 2005). WNV antibodies are often more prevalent in suburban avian reservoir hosts, perhaps because individuals are exposed to more infected vectors in these light-polluted habitats (Gibbs et al. 2006b). Many vertebrates prefer dark nights and actively avoid light at night (Dominoni et al. 2014; Lewanzik and Voigt 2014). In small habitat patches, it is possible that species are driven away from light sources at night along edges and increase contact rates and thus opportunity for transmission from vector to the host and from the host to the vector and/or nocturnal foraging vector density (V) further by congregating densely in darker niches.

Additionally, much evidence so far suggests that exposure to dLAN could increase host susceptibility by altering viral resistance mechanisms. Pathogens can be eliminated by the immediate innate immune responses, which are hindered by dLAN in laboratory rodents (Bedrosian et al. 2011; Fonken et al. 2013) and later during infection by adaptive immune responses (Cissé et al. 2017). For example, aspects of humoral immunity such as TNF- α and IL-6 play a large role in stimulating early immune responses but induce a great amount of immunopathology if not well regulated (Biron 1998; Fonken et al. 2013). The ability to eliminate pathogen burden and attenuate damage induced by the pathogen will determine whether and for how long hosts are infectious to vectors (IPH), however more work needs to be done to understand how the infectious period of vectors to hosts (IPV) may change with respect to light pollution (box 1.1).

As susceptibility is in part determined by within-individual characteristics, we assume that highly susceptible individuals are also more likely to become infected upon exposure.

European blackbird (*Turdus merula*) populations in urban habitats have greater longevity (Evans et al. 2009). Avian urban-exploiter species often have greater over-winter survival rates as well, due to the availability of resources throughout the season (Luniak 2004). Whether longevity decreases outbreak potential in hosts previously exposed (i.e., non-competent hosts [N]) to an immunizing pathogen such as WNV is complex, in part due to the lack of information on whether long living individuals are susceptible or resistant.

Several studies, including those on Lyme disease and WNV, found that stressors such as habitat loss or resource depletion will result in the reduction of community diversity, leaving primarily competent host species, enhancing transmission (Allan et al. 2003; Bradley and Altizer 2007a; Bradley et al. 2008). Although also an effect of urbanization, avian diversity is significantly lower in light-polluted regions than in those that are not (Blair 1996; Marzluff 2015). The most prominent bird species that remain (i.e., House sparrows, American robins, etc.) are those that serve as reservoir hosts of WNV (Kilpatrick et al. 2006). Competent host abundance (H) increases R₀ and transmission potential. Indeed, it's been suggested that the emergence of WNV in light polluted regions may be in part due to the disproportional abundance competent (H) hosts (Ortega-Álvarez and MacGregor-Fors 2009; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2017).

Conclusions:

As emphasized above, there are many ways in which light pollution can influence within and among individual disease dynamics. Although vector-transmitted diseases are the focus of this manuscript, contact, airborne, and sexually transmitted parasites are potentially influenced as well. Host competence to Mycoplasma gallisepticum, a contact-transmitted mycobacterium that causes conjunctivitis, is greatest among house finches who congregate around feeders in
developed habitats (Adelman et al. 2015). Host competence may increase further in the presence of light pollution, increasing contact rates and possibly transmission. Sexually transmitted pathogens may have an increased transmission rate among conspecifics that extend their reproductive behaviors for longer periods during the day and over more months throughout the year in the presence of light pollution (Dominoni et al. 2014). It is important to emphasize that light exposure will unlikely have the same consequences for all disease systems.

Recommendations can be provided to city planners and vector control agencies to prevent these potential outbreaks of infectious disease. Alternative lighting sources such as motion sensitive or timed lighting may limit sleep disturbance and suppression of melatonin, as well as activity levels of both hosts and vectors throughout the night. Switching from cool white to warm white LEDs will not eliminate the detriments to humans and wildlife but may limit the extent to which individuals suffer from blue light signals present throughout the night. Predictive disease modeling that integrates the effects of light pollution on model parameters may allow researchers to identify communities most susceptible to disease emergence and redirect vector control efforts to maximize outbreak prevention and minimize economic burden.

Acknowledgements:

We thank Jenny Ouyang and Davide Dominoni for inviting us to present in their SICB symposium. L.B. Martin recognizes NSF #1257773 for funding support.

Author contributions:

M. E. Kernbach contributed to conceptualization and writing; R. J. Hall contributed to conceptualization, formal analysis, visualization, and writing; N. Burkett-Cadena contributed to conceptualization, visualization, and revision; T. R. Unnasch contributed to conceptualization

and supervision; L. B. Martin contributed to conceptualization, funding acquisition, supervision, and writing.

There is no ethical statement for this study.



Figure 1.1:

The mechanisms by which dLAN can influence disease dynamics at the (A and B) within-individual and (C) among-individual levels. Hormonal dysregulation is depicted in (A) where the solid line represents individuals exposed to dLAN and the dashed line represents individuals who are not. In (A and B), individuals exposed to dLAN may increase corticosterone earlier in the morning due to the misperception of time of day but reach a lower peak concentration. In (C), individuals exposed to dLAN will attenuate melatonin secretion at night but may still produce low levels if dLAN is perceived as sunset. Hormonal alteration can in turn influence pathogen resistance and infection tolerance in (B). The image entitled "Resistance" shows that individuals exposed to dLAN may have a higher pathogen burden than those who are not exposed to dLAN. The graph entitled "Tolerance" shows that dLAN exposed individuals may have higher tolerance (upper solid line) and maintain fitness throughout the course of infection. Conversely, individuals exposed to dLAN may have lower tolerance (lower solid line) if they are unable to mount specific immunity and incur damage from inflammatory responses and viral replication. (C) dLAN altered circadian hormone fluctuations, resistance, and tolerance contribute to an individual's susceptibility to acquiring infection.



Figure 1.2:

(A) Light pollution across the Tampa Bay region; lighter shading denotes the highest light pollution. (B) Culex sp. numbers over time and by light-pollution environment (dLAN). All light-polluted locations were similar in habitat characteristics, rainfall, and temperature; however, we do acknowledge that there is likely some slight variation between sites. These sites were chosen because they were an intermediate between suburban and natural patches of habitat. Reservoirs, vectors, and humans actively come into contact at these sites, making them representative of potential origins of spillover events. Bars are means ± 1 SE. Letters denote group membership by post hoc comparisons. Dash line separates seasons, as a generalized linear model (with a negative binomial distribution for count data) revealed a significant season x site effect (P < 0.001). These data outline the significant interaction between light pollution sites and mosquito vector abundance across the transmission season. Culex sp. mosquitoes remain abundant later into the transmission season, which may indicate the exploitation of intermediate levels of light pollution.



Figure 1.3:

Potential differences in mosquito—host interaction under natural (A) and light-polluted (B) conditions. Mosquitoes are most active during dawn and dusk as shown by the bars in panel (A). The yellow lines represent house sparrow activity level at dusk and dawn. Time (t) is defined along the x-axis, with the shaded background regions signifying nighttime hours. The bottom panel (B) shows an increase in house sparrow activity at dusk later into the night and earlier in the morning, and a greater overlap with mosquito activity that dissipates from peaks at dawn and dusk to fairly consistent feeding patterns throughout the entirety of night.

Box 1.1:

The expression for the pathogen basic reproductive number R₀ is based on the model derived by Wonham et al. (2004), with a slight modification that mosquitoes distribute their bites evenly among non-competent and WNV-competent hosts. The non-competent hosts could include non-competent, diluting species, and/or non-competent individuals of the focal species (i.e. those that are immune following prior exposure).

R₀ for a vectored parasite can be written as:

$$R_0 = \sqrt{b^2 p_{VH} p_{HV} \frac{V}{N+H} \frac{H}{N+H} f_L I P_H I P_V}$$

In which *b* represents biting rate, p_{VH} , p_{HV} represent probability of vector to host and host to vector transmission respectively, IP_H , IP_V represent infectious period of host and vector respectively, f_L is the fraction of mosquitoes surviving WNV latent period, *V* represents vector density, *N* is non-competent host density, and *H* represents WNV-competent host density. Here, we replace the vector to host ratio (*V*/*H*) from Wonham et al. (2004) with the ratio of vectors to all bitten species (non-competent and competent, V/N + H) and the probability that the bitten host is WNV-competent (H/N + H). R₀ allows us to integrate both host and vector characteristics with population and community dynamics to determine how the potential for transmission may change across contexts (i.e. light pollution exposure). The weight each parameter has on outbreak potential is also considered here, which allows us to identify and empirically model the impact each factor will have on disease dynamics in a particular system.

CHAPTER I:

LIGHT POLLUTION INCREASES WEST NILE VIRUS COMPETENCE OF A UBIQUITOUS PASSERINE RESERVOIR SPECIES

Note to Reader:

This is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in Proceedings of the Royal Society B following peer review. The version of record: Kernbach ME, Newhouse DJ, Miller JM, Hall RJ, Gibbons J, Oberstaller J, Selechnik D, Jiang RHY, Unnasch TR, Balakrishnan CN, Martin LB. 2019. Light pollution increases West Nile virus competence of a ubiquitous passerine reservoir species. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 286:20191051.

Authors:

Meredith E. Kernbach¹, Daniel J. Newhouse², Jeanette M. Miller¹, Richard J. Hall³, Justin Gibbons^{1,4}, Jenna Oberstaller¹, Daniel Selechnik⁵, Rays H.Y. Jiang¹, Thomas R. Unnasch¹, Christopher N. Balakrishnan², Lynn B. Martin¹

Affiliations:

 Global and Planetary Health Area, College of Public Health, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620

2. Department of Biology, East Carolina University, Greenville, NC 27858

 Center for the Ecology of Infectious Diseases, Odum School of Ecology and Department of Infectious Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Georgia, Athens GA 30602
Department of Molecular Medicine, Morsani College of Medicine, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL 33620

5. School of Life and Environmental Sciences (SOLES), University of Sydney, Sydney 2006

Abstract:

Among the many anthropogenic changes that impact humans and wildlife, one of the most pervasive but least understood is light pollution. Although detrimental physiological and behavioral effects resulting from exposure to light at night are widely appreciated, the impacts of light pollution on infectious disease risk have not been studied. Here, we demonstrate that artificial light at night (ALAN) extends the infectious-to-vector period of the house sparrow (Passer domesticus), an urban-dwelling avian reservoir host of West Nile virus (WNV). Sparrows exposed to ALAN maintained transmissible viral titers for two days longer than controls but did not experience greater WNV-induced mortality during this window. Transcriptionally, ALAN altered the expression of gene regulatory networks including key hubs (OASL, PLBD1, TRAP1) and effector genes known to affect WNV dissemination (SOCS). Despite mounting anti-viral immune responses earlier, transcriptomic signatures indicated that ALAN-exposed individuals likely experienced pathogen induced damage and immunopathology, potentially due to evasion of immune effectors. A simple mathematical modelling exercise indicated that ALAN-induced increases of host infectious-to-vector period could increase WNV outbreak potential by ~41%. ALAN likely affects other host and vector traits relevant to

transmission, and additional research is needed to advise management of zoonotic diseases in light polluted areas.

Introduction:

Among the many anthropogenic changes that impact humans and wildlife, one of the most pervasive but least understood is light pollution (Leu, M., Hanser, S., & Knick 2008). Artificial light at night (ALAN) is a common form of light pollution worldwide, in both urban centers and non-urban areas including farms, airports, warehouses, and even natural areas such as greenspaces near roadways (IDA 2009; Falchi et al. 2016). Early research on human health found that individuals working throughout the night routinely suffer higher rates of Type II diabetes, heart conditions and other non-infectious maladies compared to day-working staff (Navara and Nelson 2007). In domesticated rodents, exposure to short-wavelength light at night, similar to that of cool-white LEDs, has been linked to metabolic dysregulation, immunosuppression, and the development of some cancers (Navara and Nelson 2007). Levels of blue light (420-480nm) as low as 0.2 lux can suppress melatonin secretion in humans (Thapan et al. 2001; Pauley 2004), and in wildlife, comparable forms of ALAN alter many behavioral, life history, and physiological traits (Witherington and Martin 2000; Dominoni 2015).

Despite the diverse and strong effects of ALAN, no study has yet investigated whether and to what degree it might affect infectious disease risk, which is surprising given that many hosts and vectors use light cues to coordinate daily and seasonal rhythms (Hastings et al. 1985; Schibler 2005). Light is among the most reliable environmental cues, and light regimes induce temporal fluctuations in immune defenses and other factors that influence risk of infection (Bedrosian et al. 2011). Our goal here was to discern whether ALAN could alter zoonotic disease

risk for humans and wildlife by changing the ability of a reservoir host to amplify virus for subsequent transmission, and if so, to implicate some molecular mechanisms that might be responsible for these changes. Differences in transmission ability between individual hosts, which we term host competence (Paull et al. 2012; Barron et al. 2015; Gervasi et al. 2015), is partly mediated by endocrine-sensitive physiological processes (Bedrosian et al. 2011; Martin et al. 2016b). For example, melatonin and glucocorticoids both affect host behaviors driving exposure risk as well as immune defenses underlying resistance to infection and transmissibility (Sapolsky et al. 2000; Ouyang, De Jong, et al. 2015).

We investigated ALAN effects on WNV infections in house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) because this species is among the most common infection reservoir in light-polluted areas and a close commensal of humans (Chamberlain et al. 2007). House sparrows are also among the more competent hosts for WNV (Nicholas Komar 2003), which we chose as our pathogen for two reasons: (i) more than 46,000 cases of WNV-induced human disease have been reported across the US since its introduction to New York in 1999 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2017), and (ii) following its emergence in the US, WNV decimated avian populations, particularly corvids and other passerine species that commonly occupy light-polluted habitats (Marra et al. 2004).

Methods:

Capture and housing

We captured house sparrows using mist nets at two sites in the Tampa Bay area with comparable levels of light pollution. All birds were captured between the hours of 5:30 and 9:30 AM. Birds were then transported to the University of South Florida vivarium where they were housed individually in 13"x15"x18" cages for the next 7-25 days in visual and audial proximity

to each other. In captivity, birds were housed under ALAN/treatment (12h light: 12h ~8 lux artificial light; N= 23) or natural light/control conditions (12h light: 12h dark, N=22). Food (mixed seeds) and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the study. Following this initial period, all birds were transported to the USF Biosafety level-3 (BSL-3) suite where they were kept individually in similar cages but inside bioBUBBLE containment systems (bioBUBBLE Inc, Fort Collins CO). Light conditions during this period were identical to conditions described above.

Dexamethasone suppression test

To examine HPA function, we performed the dexamethasone (DEX) suppression test twice: once at capture and once after 7-25 days in captivity. Blood samples for the DEX suppression test required: (1) a baseline corticosterone (CORT) sample obtained within 3 minutes of capture, (2) a post-stressor blood sample collected after 30 minutes of restraint in a cloth bag following initial capture, which was immediately followed by a DEX injection (s.q., 28ug dissolved in 50 uL peanut oil), and (3) a final sample collected 1h after injections. Blood samples were collected from the brachial vein using sterile 26-gauge needles and microcapillary tubes, and serum was frozen at -20°C until hormone assay.

WNV infection

Following transfer to the BSL-3 facility, we exposed all birds (N=45) to 10^{1} (PFU) of WNV, NY99 strain via subcutaneous inoculation within the same time frame (ALAN exposure duration varied to determine if time of ALAN exposure affected infection outcomes but was not a significant term in models, so it is not further addressed). Following WNV exposure, all birds were maintained under the same light regimes while we sampled serum on days 2, 4, 6, and 10 to quantify WNV viremia in circulation (Gervasi et al. 2017). We also measured body mass (to 0.1g

prior to and on each blood sampling day) to assess effects on individual health and group WNVinduced mortality (mortality was closely monitored from the point of exposure through day 10, when the experiment was concluded). Serum and whole blood samples were frozen at -20°C until extraction and qPCR or sequencing methods protocols were performed.

Corticosterone assays

CORT concentrations were quantified in serum using an enzyme immunoassay (EIA) kit from Arbor Assays (Arbor Assays, Ann Arbor, MI, product # K014-H5; 13). Samples were run in duplicate and standardized across plates. Concentrations were derived from known values along the standard curve, and all values fell within the curve.

RNA extraction and RT-PCR for viremia

WNV RNA was extracted from 10uL of stored serum using the Qiagen QIAmp Viral Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen Cat. No. 52906). Viremia was quantified using quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) using a one-step Taqman kit (iTaq Universal Probes One-Step Kit; Bio-Rad Cat. No. 1725141). Standards were extracted from known concentrations (via plaque-assay) of WNV stock and quantified using the same methods listed above. Forward and reverse primers and probe sequences are listed in supplementary text (Gervasi et al. 2017). All samples were run in duplicate with negative controls.

WNV and corticosterone statistical analyses

Linear mixed models were used in R studio and SPSS to analyze most data, after log10 transformation of WNV viremia which produced variable distributions amenable to model assumptions. Statistics in the supplementary text confirm that analyses conducted in both programs were consistent. We first modeled viremia as a dependent variable in which ALAN conditions, days post-exposure and their interactions were fit as fixed effects. Given the

repeated-measures nature of the study, we used individual bird as a random effect. We modeled WNV tolerance in a similar fashion except that in these models, body mass change (from pre-WNV values) was the dependent variable. To account for unequal variance among groups, we performed several iterations of this model that accounted for this and compared them using an ANOVA; because the models were not significantly different, we reported the conservative estimates provided by the linear mixed model allowing for unequal variance (supplementary text). We included all data over the course of the entire infection and used days post-exposure, ALAN, and WNV titer (as a continuous covariate) and all two- and three-way interactions as predictors (Adelman et al. 2015). As above for viremia, individual bird was included as a random effect and body mass prior to WNV exposure was included as a covariate to control for preexisting differences in vigor among individuals (Adelman et al. 2015). CORT data were analyzed similarly to viremia with the following exceptions. First, we conducted an omnibus mixed model in which CORT was the dependent variable and time in captivity, ALAN and their interaction were fixed effects with individual bird as a random effect. In a second series of models, we analyzed each of four HPA traits separately: baseline CORT (first measurement), post-stressor CORT (second measurement), post-dexamethasone CORT (third measurement), and total CORT (area under the total concentration curve, AUC), as each variable serves a distinct physiological role across the time period which they were sampled and hence could affect WNV competence differently. In these simpler mixed models, time was binary (at capture versus after a period of captivity but prior to WNV exposure), but otherwise model composition was identical to the omnibus models. Finally, we used Cox regression to assess effects of ALAN on direct mortality risk to WNV. We set alpha to < 0.05 and used SPSS v24 and GraphPad Prism for analyses and figure production, respectively.

Outbreak potential modeling

Using a previously developed model (Wonham et al. 2004) the pathogen basic reproductive number can be written:

$$R_0 = \sqrt{\frac{a^2 b c I P}{m} \frac{k}{k+m} \frac{M}{B}}$$

where *a* is the bite rate, *b* and *c* are the respective probabilities that birds and mosquitoes are infected by a bite, *IP* is the bird host infectious period, *m* is the mosquito mortality rate, *k* is the WNV development rate in the mosquito and M/B is the ratio of adult mosquitoes to birds. Assuming that *ALAN* only affects host competence traits measured in the experiment (i.e. infectious period) and does not affect vector traits, the proportionate change in the reproductive number due to ALAN is

$$r = \frac{R_0(ALAN) - R_0(control)}{R_0(control)} \times 100\% = \left(\sqrt{\frac{IP(ALAN)}{IP(control)} - 1}\right)$$

The infectious periods of ALAN and control birds were estimated as the total amount of time for which viremia exceeds the 10⁵ transmission threshold, yielding respective values of approximately 4 and 2 days. This results in a change in outbreak potential, $r = 100 \times (\sqrt{4/2} - 1) \approx 41\%$.

To estimate the absolute outbreak potential in the presence and absence of ALAN $(R_0(ALAN), R_0(control))$ respectively), we estimated the remaining component parameters of the reproductive number from experiments and the literature; where ranges of parameters were reported, we took the approximate midpoint value (supplementary text). The parasite development rate and adult mosquito mortality were calculated as the inverses of the reported extrinsic incubation periods of WNV and *Culex quinquefasciatus*, a common and competent

WNV vector in Florida, lifespan, respectively (David et al. 2012). The resulting values for R_0 in the presence and absence ALAN were $R_0(ALAN) = 12.66$ and $R_0(control) = 8.95$.

Whole blood RNA extraction and sequencing

RNA was processed and sequenced following the protocols described by Louder et al. (Louder et al. 2018). Following sequencing, reads were adapter trimmed with Trim Galore v0.3.8 (Martin 2011). Trimmed reads were then aligned to the zebra finch (*Taeniopygia guttata*) v3.2.4 reference genome (Warren et al. 2010) with STAR v2.5.3 (Dobin et al. 2013) specifying '-- sjdbOverhang 74'. We assigned Ensembl gene IDs and quantified reads with htseq-count v0.6.0 (Anders et al. 2015) specifying '-s reverse' to account for the strand specific library preparation. A total of 9,688 genes with an average count value > 5 across all 18 samples were used to generate a count matrix and retained for downstream analysis.

RNA sequencing – differential expression

DEseq2 v1.21.21 (Love et al. 2014) was used to read in the count matrix and perform normalization of counts to sequencing depth. Normalized counts of each sample were then rlog transformed and visualized via Principle Components Analysis (PCA) within the pcaExplorer R package (Figure A2.4; (Louder et al. 2018)). We generated the DEseq model '~ nested.ind + TreatDay', where 'nested.ind' accounts for repeated sampling of individuals and 'TreatDay' is a grouping variable of the interaction between treatment and day (i.e., 4 groups: 2dpe-Control, 2dpe-ALAN, 6dpe-Control, 6dpe-ALAN). We then extracted results from the model selecting pairwise contrasts between 2dpe-ALAN vs 2dpe-Control, 6dpe-ALAN vs 6dpe-Control, Control-6dpe vs 2dpe, and ALAN-6dpe vs 2dpe. In each case, we used the 'IfcShrink' function within DEseq2 to perform log2 fold change shrinkage to enhance visualization of individual gene expression plots. DEseq2 performs a Wald test followed by false discovery rate (FDR; (Martin 2011)) correction to determine differential expression (DE). We classified genes with an FDR <0.10 as DE, which is the standard for DEseq analyses and default determined by the package; values listed for the FDR <0.05 are in the supplementary text. As the interaction term between treatment and day on viremia was significant on day 6, we were primarily interested in the effects of light pollution on gene expression at this point. We further filtered the comparisons of 6dpe-ALAN vs 2dpe-ALAN and 6dpe-ALAN vs 6dpe-Control. For 6dpe-ALAN vs 2dpe-ALAN, we eliminated genes that were also DE in the 6dpe-Control vs 2dpe-Control. As the control birds were also infected with WNV, this isolates the genes responding to both WNV and ALAN treatment in the 6dpe-ALAN vs 2dpe-Control comparison. This eliminates genes that did not change in relative expression level between sampling points. In each of these filtration steps, we only removed genes with the same regulation pattern (i.e., up or down), as we were interested in genes that show the opposite expression patterns between days and/or treatments.

For each of the four DEseq2 comparisons, we performed gene ontology (GO) analysis with the GOrilla webserver (Eden et al. 2009) after converting zebra finch Ensembl IDs to gene symbols in the Ensembl-BioMart web server (Kinsella et al. 2011; Zerbino et al. 2018). A total of 7,321 of 9,688 had associated gene symbols. We then sorted DEseq2 results by ascending FDR value and used the entire ranked list of 7,321 genes to perform GO analysis. A GO category was considered significantly enriched if the FDR value was < 0.05.

Lastly, we performed cell type enrichment analysis with the CTen tool (Shoemaker et al. 2012). CTen identifies cell types from heterogeneous tissue (e.g., whole blood) transcriptomic data. Here, we restricted our analysis to DE genes, separated into Up and Down regulated, in the d6 ALAN v Control and ALAN d6 v d2 contrasts. This approach helps distinguish whether gene

expression differences were due to changes in transcription or relative cell type abundance following infection and ALAN treatment. We followed the "Advanced Example" on the CTen webserver (http://www.influenza-x.org/~jshoemaker/cten/advanced_example.php) and a cell type was considered significantly enriched with an enrichment score of >2. *RNA sequencing – weighted gene correlation network analysis (WGCNA)*

We used WGCNA v1.64-1 (Langfelder and Horvath 2008) to cluster genes with correlated gene expression into modules and then test these modules for associations with experimental groups. To generate the input for WGCNA, we first performed a variancestabilized transformation of read counts on all 9,688 genes in DEseq2. We then removed 59 genes that had a median absolute deviation of zero, for a total input of 9,628 genes. We generated a signed network with the following parameters: soft threshold power (β) = 18, minimum module size = 30, and module dissimilarity threshold = 0.1. We then tested modules for associations with day, treatment, and individual treatment x day groups. For module-trait correlations of interest, we visualized module gene expression with heatmaps and performed a target vs background GO analysis in GOrilla testing module genes (target) against all genes (background) used in the analysis. Lastly, we visualized module hub genes with Visant (Langfelder and Horvath 2008). To do so, we restricted our visualization the top 300 genes ranked by intramodular connectivity from each module. Within these 300 genes, we calculated the topological overlap (i.e., strength of interaction) between each gene and ranked descending. We plotted the top 300 strongest interactions and identified the top 1-6 genes with the highest number of connections (degree distribution) to other genes and classified these as the module hubs.

Results:

We detected a significant effect of ALAN on the temporal course of WNV viremia in house sparrows (ALAN x day: $F_{4,124} = 2.9$, P = 0.023, 4 time points; Figure 2.1A [no main effect]). At 2-4 days post-exposure (dpe; all animals became infected), both ALAN-exposed and control birds had comparable viral titers. However, at 6 dpe, the interaction between ALAN treatment and dpe was significant (t = 2.7, P = 0.009). Post-hoc analyses (conducted using 'emmeans' in R studio) further confirmed the existence of a significant interaction (treatment x 6 dpe t = -2.9, P = 0.005 [supplementary text]). The conservative estimate for minimum circulating viral titer needed to transmit WNV to vectors is ~10⁵ plaque-forming units (PFU; horizontal dashed line in Fig. 2.1A; (Turell et al. 2000)), suggesting the ALAN-exposed individuals remained infectious longer than controls. Specifically, eight ALAN-exposed sparrows possessed viral titers above the transmission threshold whereas no control birds were infectious at 6 dpe (Fig. 2.1C).

In previous studies, we found that CORT, an avian stress hormone, enhanced hostattractiveness to Culex mosquito vectors (Gervasi et al. 2016) and increased WNV viremia above the transmission-to-vector threshold (Turell et al. 2000). Given these results, we investigated whether any effects of ALAN on WNV competence could be explained by increases in CORT using the DEX suppression test (Liebl et al. 2013a). We found that CORT was unlikely to be involved in the observed ALAN effects in the present study, as there was little evidence that ALAN affected HPA function (treatment: $F_{1,40} = 2.8$, P = 0.104). To further probe whether ALAN effects on WNV competence were mediated by HPA dysregulation, we included CORT values in models to predict viremia and tolerance; however, no single measure (baseline,

stressor-induced or post-dexamethasone concentrations or the integral of CORT over the measurement period) was a significant predictor in any model.

Additionally, our study was designed to determine whether duration of ALAN exposure influenced corticosterone regulation or viremia. Hence, birds were exposed to ALAN in captivity for a range of 7-25 days. However, days in captivity had no effect on viremia in the mixed models (P = 0.802, supplementary text), thus we binned all birds under either ALAN or control groups and removed this term from further iterations of the models.

We next asked whether ALAN might modify the capacity of individuals to tolerate WNV, or ameliorate damage associated with infection (e.g., maintain body mass while infected sensu (Råberg et al. 2007)). A linear mixed model involving body mass as the dependent variable, treatment, day, and their interaction as fixed effects, and individual bird as a random effect was built using the 'nlme' software package in R. We found no effect of ALAN on WNV tolerance across the entire post WNV-exposure period (ALAN x integrated WNV titer: $F_{1,34} =$ 1.3, P = 0.257). However, birds with the highest WNV titers overall lost more body mass than birds with lower cumulative titers (integral WNV titer: $F_{1, 34} = 6.6$, P = 0.015). Subsequently, we assessed directly whether body mass changed over time differently in ALAN-exposed and control birds after WNV infection. Birds in the control group gained mass post-infection, whereas body mass reached a nadir in ALAN-exposed birds 6 dpe (Fig. 2.1B); mass gain in virally-infected birds is counter-intuitive, but has precedent (Coon et al. 2011). Again, post-hoc analyses ('emmeans' in R studio) indicate that body mass differed at day 6 between controls and ALAN birds (treatment x 6 dpe t = 2.8, P = 0.007). On 10 dpe, body mass returns to comparable levels between groups (Fig. 2.1B). When we analyzed how WNV tolerance changed over the infectious period, we found that it varied with days post-exposure (dpe x ALAN x WNV titer: F₃, 83 = 3.1, P = 0.030). This three-way interaction was driven by distinct WNV x ALAN effects on 6 dpe ($\beta = 1.3 \pm 0.060$, t = 2.1, P = 0.041; Fig. 2.1C): at this time, only some ALAN-exposed birds (~50%) maintained WNV titers above the transmission threshold; no control birds were infectious on day 6. We found no effect of ALAN on survival of WNV infection post-exposure ($\chi 21 = 0.26$, P = 0.610; Fig. 2.1D); about 60% of birds in each group survived to 6 dpe. We confirmed that no collinearity existed among these three variables (ALAN, viremia, and body mass) using variance inflation factors and Eigenvalue condition indices (supplementary text).

To evaluate the epidemiological implications of the above effects, we compared the relative change in outbreak potential in the presence and absence of ALAN by evaluating the pathogen basic reproductive number, R_0 , based on a simple single host, single vector model of WNV transmission (Wonham et al. 2004). We conservatively assumed that ALAN effects on house sparrows arise solely via extension of the infectious period; additional parameter values relating to demographic and transmission processes were estimated from the literature (supplementary text). Under these conditions, ALAN effects on host infectiousness increased R_0 from 8.95 to 12.66. In other words, assuming no prior exposure of hosts to WNV (i.e., no pre-existing immunity in the bird population) and no other effects of ALAN on house sparrow hosts or Culex vectors, ALAN would increase R_0 for WNV by 41%.

To implicate physiological mechanisms mediating ALAN effects on WNV competence, we conducted RNA-seq on whole blood samples at 2 and 6 dpe. Weighted gene co-expression network analysis (WGCNA; (Tag-El-Din-Hassan et al. 2012a)) identified 22 modules of co-regulated genes. One module (purple; Figure 2.2A-B) included genes associated with innate immunity and were relatively increased in abundance in 2 dpe ALAN individuals (r=-0.66, p=0.003; (Mashimo et al. 2002)). OASL, a gene linked to WNV resistance in both birds (Tag-El-

Din-Hassan et al. 2012b) and mammals (Mashimo et al. 2002; Perelygin et al. 2002), acted as hub (i.e., the most highly connected gene) within this module (Figure 2.2B). Suppressor of cytokine signaling 1 (SOCS1), responsible for suppressing IFN-gamma (anti-viral) activity, was also assigned to the purple module and transcript levels increased in day 2-ALAN individuals (Figure 2.3A), an outcome that may facilitate WNV dissemination through the host body (Guo et al. 2005; Mansfield et al. 2010; Ma and Suthar 2015). Conversely, transcript levels of SOCS3, which also suppresses cytokine signaling, were decreased in ALAN-exposed individuals at 6 dpe (Figure 2.3B). Two other modules revealed strong effects of ALAN treatment on the blood transcriptome, particularly at 6 dpe (turquoise module r = 0.84, $p=1.000 \times 10^{-5}$], figure 2.2C-D; tan module [r =0.84, p=1.000x10-5], 2.2E-F). In one module, both PLBD1 and ATP11B (Figure 2.2D) were hubs (Chovatiya and Medzhitov 2014; Guardado et al. 2016). PLBD1 is expressed during severe infection in malaria patients (Sobota et al. 2016a). Similarly, ATP11B is expressed in individuals experiencing innate immune hyperactivation (Hu 2013). In the other module, TRAP1, (i.e., Heat Shock Protein [HSP] 75), was a hub (Figure 2.2F); TRAP1 inhibits cellular apoptosis by reducing reactive oxygen species (Guardado et al. 2016; Sobota et al. 2016a). Altogether, these results demonstrate that ALAN alters various components of the immune system (Yoshimura et al. 2000; Newhouse et al. 2017).

Discussion:

In this study, we demonstrated that ALAN extended the infectious-to-vector window for a zoonotic pathogen in a wild reservoir species. Ecologically, this effect could enhance transmission risk, as suggested by changes in R₀ when only this parameter (duration of infection) was allowed to vary with light pollution. Although this approach is unarguably a great simplification of the true effects of ALAN in nature, this result should instigate additional

theoretical and empirical studies of ALAN and infectious disease. At the molecular level, transcriptomic data suggest that ALAN-exposed birds were less effective at tolerating infection on day 6 post-exposure, likely from a combination of pathogen induced damage or immunopathology, although neither of these were directly measured (Chovatiya and Medzhitov 2014; Guardado et al. 2016). The mechanism underlying body mass gain in control birds during WNV infection is not well-understood, but not unprecedented (Gervasi et al. 2017). Many of the birds exposed to ALAN with significant loss of body mass on day 6 died shortly thereafter; this may be why the group average on day 10 reflects a "catching-up" of body mass of individuals who survived the studied course of infection. Much is still unknown about body mass regulation during viral infections, so we emphasize the need to further investigate relationships between pathogen-induced or collateral damage and body mass in passerines. The higher abundance of gene transcripts of typical WNV anti-viral response genes earlier in ALAN-exposed than control birds also suggests that immune responses were generally dysregulated. These differences could have contributed to the loss of body mass in ALAN-exposed birds, as there are significant energetic costs involved in mounting immune responses, but direct investigations are necessary (Råberg et al. 2007; Bonneaud et al. 2012). Regardless of mechanism, ALAN did not cause greater WNV-induced mortality, a result that could enable infectious birds to transmit WNV to vectors for longer than in non-polluted areas.

Whereas antiviral immune defenses were bolstered earlier, ALAN birds remained infectious for longer than controls, which prompts questions regarding the mechanisms that allow high viral burden to persist. The dysregulation of the TRAP1 network indicates that inhibition of apoptosis may have been important (Guardado et al. 2016; Sobota et al. 2016a). Additionally, SOCS genes, which assist in negative feedback of immune mechanisms via the

JAK-STAT signaling pathway, might have attenuated cytokine secretion and thus enabled WNV to disseminate more easily. ALAN-exposed individuals upregulated SOCS1 on day 2 post-WNV exposure and downregulated SOCS3 on day 6 post-WNV exposure. Previous studies have found that upregulation of SOCS during WNV infection increases neuroinvasive capacity (Mansfield et al. 2010). SOCS has also been proposed as a mechanism by which flaviviruses, including WNV, actively evade host defenses (Mansfield et al. 2010). It is likely that high viral titers persisted as a result of a combination of these and other mechanisms (Martin et al. 2016a).

Prior studies on laboratory rodents found that individuals exposed to various forms of light at night had exaggerated immune responses, many with the capacity to induce collateral damage (Navara and Nelson 2007). Although the exact mechanisms by which ALAN altered immune defenses here is obscure, other hormones (i.e., melatonin) could play a role (Hastings et al. 1985). Our study ruled out corticosterone as a factor, despite other evidence in birds that ALAN alters the regulation of avian physiology via stress-response pathways (Ouyang, De Jong, et al. 2015; Ouyang et al. 2017). Because melatonin enhances viral resistance and attenuates cellular and tissue damage by acting as an antioxidant and free radical scavenger, ALANinduced suppression may contribute to the increased viral titer observed in this study (Hastings et al. 1985; Valero et al. 2015). Alternatively, incoordination of biological rhythms may also have contributed to the effects we observed. Most organisms evolved to use photoperiod to synchronize endogenous circadian rhythms with the environment. Indeed, 10% of the mammalian genome shows intrinsic circadian oscillations, including immune parameters such as Toll-like receptor expression and neutrophil activity (Scheiermann et al. 2013). Shifting the time at which individuals are exposed to WNV (i.e., from crepuscular to nighttime periods) may also affect infection outcomes, as other studies have found oscillations in pathogen defenses that

impact the likelihood that viral dissemination occurs (Mideo et al. 2013; Hoyle et al. 2017). This issue is worthy of future study. Lymph nodes, which also influence viral dissemination, and the spleen, which is a key site of WNV replication, also display circadian patterns of gene expression (Keller et al. 2009). Peritoneal macrophages involved in inflammation upregulate the secretion of cytokines, including TNF-a and IL-6, at different points during the 24-hour period. ALAN cues that contradict zeitgeber time may mismatch circadian rhythms of hosts to their environments and hence induce upregulation of certain antiviral defenses at inappropriate times.

We must acknowledge that studies like ours, conducted in captivity, have some limits and should be cautiously extrapolated to the natural world. For example, gain of body mass during the course of infection may not occur in nature as resources typically are not as accessible (Liker et al. 2008). Furthermore, mortality could differ for ALAN-exposed birds if morbidity decreased survival probability via predation risk (Adelman et al. 2017). Ultimately, though, experimental WNV infections will never be realized in nature, so we advocate for additional work like ours, with study elements directed at emulating natural conditions (e.g., naturalistic food availability), which will be useful to the parameterization of epidemiological models (Griffith et al. 2017).

Our results also should motivate further investigation of mechanisms whereby ALAN affects epidemic risk. Indeed, light pollution might alter other drivers of R_0 such as vector and host diversity and the nature and timing of their interactions (i.e., over days and seasons; (Keller et al. 2009)). Most WNV vectors, for instance, take blood meals at dusk and dawn (Apperson et al. 2004a); with ALAN, the blood-meal feeding window might be extended, or vectors might arouse too early to find a blood meal (Kernbach et al. 2018a). Mosquito density also tends to be lower in urban than rural environments, however, urban heat islands make ideal breeding habitat for many species of vectors (Araujo et al. 2015; Ferraguti et al. 2016). More work must

determine which vector species thrive in light-polluted environments and how vector community composition affects local disease dynamics (Kernbach et al. 2018a). Incoordination of the immune system has also been noted in laboratory rodents and could result in increased susceptibility at time of exposure, thus increasing an important parameter in outbreak potential involving the likelihood that a host develops infection upon mosquito bite (i.e., exposure; (Wonham et al. 2004; Navara and Nelson 2007)). The pineal-derived hormone mentioned above, melatonin, also coordinates such circadian behaviors which could have complex effects on WNV dynamics, particularly as vectors also rely on melatonin for temporal coordination of behaviors (Gwinner and Benzinger 1978).

As we further explore ALAN effects on infectious disease risk, it will be important to study whether and how lighting spectra can be adjusted to mitigate risk. Motion-activated or directed light sources can be substituted for current illumination practices, and lighting overall could also be reduced when alterations would have the greatest positive impacts on wildlife (i.e., migrations, breeding seasons). The International Dark-Sky Association has led efforts to eliminate lighting in tall urban buildings during avian migrations to reduce extensive window strikes that occur during critical migratory periods (IDA 2009). An analogous example to curtail vectored-disease transmission in the southeastern US would be to reduce lighting of vulnerable areas during the height of arbovirus transmission season (e.g., late Fall; (Ezenwa et al. 2006a)). Additional mitigation opportunities likely reside in the advent of new technologies detectable by human, but less so wildlife, vision (e.g., high-wavelength (red) wavelengths versus the broadspectrum options typically used; (Apperson et al. 2004a)).

Acknowledgements:

We thank Erik Hofmeister for sharing the West Nile virus NY'99 strain, and members of the Martin lab. Funding: We recognize NSF 1257773 for funding.

Author contributions:

M. E. Kernbach contributed to conceptualization, data curation, methodology, investigation, project administration, and writing; D. J. Newhouse contributed to data curation, methodology, formal analysis, and writing; J. M. Miller contributed to data curation, project administration, and investigation; R. J. Hall contributed to conceptualization, formal analysis, visualization, writing- original draft; J. Gibbons contributed to data curation and formal analysis; J. Oberstaller contributed to data curation and formal analysis; R. Jiang contributed to formal analysis; T. R. Unnasch contributed to conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, resources, and supervision; C. N. Balakrishnan contributed to data curation, methodology, formal analysis, writing, and supervision; L. B. Martin contributed to conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, resources, supervision, and writing- original draft.

Ethical Statement:

All procedures and protocols were approved by and performed according to IACUC (#2716) and USF Biosafety (#1323).



Figure 2.1:

West Nile virus infection viremia, body mass and WNV-induced mortality results. Effects of experimental West Nile virus exposure on house sparrows (Passer domesticus) exposed to artificial light at night (ALAN; 8 lx during night hours for two to three weeks prior to WNV exposure) versus controls (animals kept on 12 L : 12 D for duration of experiment). Blue points and dashed lines signify ALAN-exposed individuals, and black points and solid lines signify controls. (A) Individuals exposed to ALAN had significantly higher viral titers on d6 post-exposure, indicated by the asterisk. The horizontal dashed light represents the conservative transmission threshold or the minimum amount of virus in circulation required to transmit WNV to a vector (i.e. 105 PFU). (B) Effects of WNV and ALAN on change in group mean body mass throughout the course of WNV infection. On d6, ALAN-exposed individuals lost appreciable mass whereas controls continued to gain body mass. (C) Relationship between WNV titer and body mass change on d6 post-WNV exposure. The vertical dashed line represents the WNV transmission threshold; individuals to the right of this dashed line are infectious to mosquitoes, and individuals to the left of this dashed line are not. Only ALAN-exposed individuals were infectious on d6. (d) No effect of ALAN on WNV-induced mortality.



Figure 2.2:

WGCNA results for significantly enriched WNV immune defense modules. (A) Heatmap of eigengene expression for purple module (235 genes), showing downregulation in d2 control birds. Columns are organized by day and treatment; each row represents a module gene and row colors correspond to relative expression levels, where orange represents upregulation and blue represents downregulation. (B) Visant network of the most interconnected genes in the purple module (greater than 28 connections). Each dot represents a gene and diamonds highlight hub genes. (C) Heatmap of eigengene expression for turquoise module (3274 genes), showing upregulation in d6 ALAN birds. Columns are organized by day and treatment, each row represents a module gene and row colors correspond to relative expression levels, where orange represents upregulation and blue represents downregulation. (D) Visant network of the most interconnected genes in the turquoise module (greater than 44 connections). Each dot represents a gene and diamonds highlight hub genes. (E) Heatmap of eigengene expression for tan module (206 genes), showing upregulation in d6 ALAN birds. Columns are organized by day and treatment, each row represents a module gene and row colors correspond to relative expression for tan module (206 genes), showing upregulation in d6 ALAN birds. Columns are organized by day and treatment, each row represents a module gene and row colors correspond to relative expression levels, where orange represents upregulation in d6 ALAN birds. Columns are organized by day and treatment, each row represents a module gene and row colors correspond to relative expression levels, where orange represents upregulation and blue represents downregulation. (F) Visant network of the most interconnected genes in the tan module (greater than 60 connections). Each dot represents a gene and diamonds highlight hub genes.



Figure 2.3:

Normalized counts for (A) SOCS1 and (B) SOCS3 across treatment groups. Each dot represents a sample. Black dots and boxplots correspond to control and blue dot and boxplots correspond to ALAN. Significance bars indicate ***p < 0.001 and *p < 0.05.

CHAPTER II:

BROAD-SPECTRUM LIGHT POLLUTION SUPPRESSES MELATONIN AND INCREASES WEST NILE VIRUS-INDUCED MORTALITY IN HOUSE SPARROWS (PASSER DOMESTICUS)

Note to Reader:

This is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in The Condor following peer review. The version of record: Kernbach ME, Cassone VM, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2020. Broad-spectrum light pollution suppresses melatonin and increases West Nile virus–induced mortality in House Sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). Condor.

Authors:

Meredith E. Kernbach¹, Vincent M. Cassone², Thomas R. Unnasch¹, and Lynn B. Martin¹.

Affiliations:

 Center for Global Health Infectious Disease Research, College of Public Health, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL.

 Department of Biology, College of Arts and Sciences, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY.

Abstract:

Artificial light at night (ALAN) has become a pervasive anthropogenic stressor for both humans and wildlife. Although many negative impacts of ALAN on human health have been identified, the consequences for infectious disease dynamics are largely unexplored. With the increase in popularity of energy efficient light-emitting diodes (LEDs), the effects of spectral composition of ALAN have also come into question. Previous studies showed that exposure to low levels of incandescent ALAN extended the infectious period of House Sparrows infected with West Nile virus (WNV) without affecting mortality rates, thus increasing the pathogen initial reproductive rate (R_0) by about 41%. Here, we asked whether exposure to broad-spectrum (3000K [Kelvin; unit of color temperature]) ALAN suppressed melatonin, a hormone implicated in ALAN-induced physiological consequences, in House sparrows (Passer domesticus). We then asked whether amber-hue bulbs (1800K) could ameliorate the effects of WNV on individual sparrows, and whether broad-spectrum or blue-rich bulbs (3000K and 5000K, respectively) could exacerbate them. We found that exposure to low intensity (~5 lux) broad-spectrum (3000K) ALAN significantly suppressed melatonin levels throughout the night. Second, we found that exposure to broad-spectrum and blue-rich (3000+5000K) lights did not affect WNV viremia but did increase WNV-induced mortality. Conversely, birds exposed to amber-hue (1800K) ALAN had lower viremia and mortality rates similar to controls (i.e., natural light conditions). This study demonstrates that ALAN affects melatonin regulation in birds, but this effect, as well as ALAN influences on infectious disease responses, can be ameliorated by particular lighting technologies.

Introduction:

Light pollution, especially artificial light at night (ALAN), is a widespread and influential anthropogenic stressor (Kyba, Kuester, et al. 2017). In addition to its prominence across busy highways and city centers, ALAN is found in rural greenspaces and along forest edges, many of which are occupied by wildlife (Longcore and Rich 2004). As the lightbulb was invented in the late 19th century, artificial nighttime lighting poses a relatively novel threat (Morison and Hughes 1991; Hedges and Kumar 2003). Alteration of light cycles, historically perhaps the most reliable environmental cue on Earth, can create mismatch and confusion in both circadian and circannual rhythms of the organisms exposed to such light pollution. Some of the best known examples of these effects include earlier reproduction in passerines exposed to light pollution (Miller 2006b; Dominoni et al. 2013a), as well as the multiple dimensions of immune dysregulation observed in laboratory rodents (Bedrosian et al. 2011; Fonken et al. 2013). Light at night has also induced broad physiological consequences in birds such as hormonal dysregulation, shifted circadian regulation, and modified behavior (Schoech et al. 2013; Dominoni 2015; Alaasam et al. 2018). Nevertheless, the full extent to which these organismal effects translate into ecological consequences remains elusive (Kernbach et al. 2018a).

Many effects of ALAN on animals are likely mediated by upstream circadian dysregulation of molecular timekeepers like melatonin. The brain's suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), known as the central pacemaker, is responsible for coordinating circadian rhythms across the body. The pineal gland coordinates with the SCN, and integrates light cues from melanopsin receptors to encode time of day (Bell-Pedersen et al. 2005b). Although the SCN and pineal gland are both important for maintaining daily rhythms, the pineal gland is responsible for the synthesis and secretion of the indoleamine hormone, melatonin (Hardeland et al. 2012).

Melatonin, in addition to synchronizing molecular clocks throughout the body, aids many other physiological processes including gonadal development, inflammation control and antioxidant activity, thermoregulation, and metabolism (Hing-Sing Yu 1992; Cassone et al. 2009). Melatonin secretion is suppressed during exposure to light (i.e., day) and typically peaks during the middle of the dark phase (Blask et al. 2002). Indeed, exposure to light at night suppresses melatonin secretion in many birds and mammals, including humans (Yamada et al. 1988; Redlin 2001). Given the many roles that pineal-derived melatonin plays in the body, it is unsurprising that its suppression has been linked to multiple physiological consequences (i.e., mental disorders and immune dysregulation) (Claustrat et al. 2005; Srinivasan et al. 2006; Castanon-Cervantes et al. 2010).

Some species affected by ALAN can serve as zoonotic reservoirs, i.e., hosts that naturally amplify pathogens that can spill into human populations. House sparrows, American robins (*Turdus migratorius*), Blue jays (*Cyanocitta cristata*), and Northern cardinals (*Cardinalis cardinalis*), for instance, are all important reservoirs of West Nile virus (WNV) (Chace and Walsh 2006). They all also are quite common in ALAN-polluted habitats. Several bat species, too, are reservoirs of zoonoses, and these species alter their behavior when exposed to light at night (Calisher et al. 2006; Spoelstra et al. 2017). Peromyscus mice and related rodents, hosts to Borrellia burgdorferi (the causative agent of Lyme disease) and hantavirus among other infections, also alter their nighttime behaviors and social interactions in the presence of light pollution (Han et al. 2015; Gaitan and Millien 2016; Hoffmann et al. 2018, 2019).

In a recent study, we found that House sparrows exposed to a low intensity (5 lux) of broad-spectrum (3000K) light at night (ALAN) maintained higher WNV titers for longer than controls; mortality rates to WNV were unaffected by ALAN, however (Kernbach et al. 2019).

Using a traditional epidemiological framework (e.g., the comparison of the initial reproductive rate (R_0) changes in response to an environmental change), we found that these modest effects on individual birds meant that ALAN might increase WNV R₀ by as much as 41% (Wonham et al. 2004; Kernbach et al. 2019). Because ALAN has both organismal- and ecological-level effects, we felt it important to determine if changes in the practice of night-time lighting could moderate some of these effects (Khan and Abas 2011). First, we wanted to determine if melatonin was dysregulated by broad-spectrum (3000K) ALAN; if so, the blue-dominated spectra of these bulbs would be expected to blunt the natural circadian rhythms in melatonin. Melanopsin receptors are maximally sensitive to the blue-rich hues emitted by these LEDs (Cashmore et al. 1999; Mure et al. 2007; Pawson and Bader 2014). To save money, many cities have begun switching to 1800K, 3000K, and 5000K LED lighting, which is concerning because blue-rich hues are especially detrimental to both human and wildlife health (Falchi et al. 2011). Our second aim was to reveal whether blue-rich (5000K) LED lighting exacerbates the effects of ALAN on avian WNV responses and whether other lighting options that mostly emit in the amber-hue (1800K) part of the light spectrum could alleviate the impacts. These bulbs have had positive effects in some contexts (e.g., turtle nestling success), but their impacts in other ALAN contexts have been rarely investigated (Witherington and Bjorndal 1991; Ferenc and Leonard 2008; Gaston et al. 2012).

We focused on the House Sparrow, as ALAN affected competence of this species for WNV (Marra et al. 2004; Hanson et al. 2019). We studied WNV, a vector-transmitted arbovirus, because it continues to pose health threats to humans and wildlife across the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018). We predicted that exposure to broadspectrum (3000K) ALAN would suppress melatonin secretion and hinder viral resistance. For blue-rich (5000K) ALAN, we expected even poorer resistance, allowing individuals to maintain
high viral titers (and hence remain infectious) for longer periods of time (Wyse and Hazlerigg 2009). We also predicted that individuals exposed to amber-hue (1800K) ALAN would manifest resistance comparable to controls (i.e., total darkness at night).

Methods:

Experimental procedures

<u>Melatonin experiment:</u> House Sparrows (N=48) were captured in the Tampa Bay area using mist nets during the months of January, February, and March 2018. All birds were captured between 5:30 and 9:30am. Following capture, birds were transported to the University of South Florida (USF) campus vivarium and housed individually in 13"x15"x18" cages in visual and auditory proximity to one another under assigned lighting conditions (N=24 control, N=24 ALAN) for 2 weeks. Food (mixed seeds) and water were provided ad libitum throughout the study. All birds were housed under 12 hours of light and 12 hours of darkness (12L:12D) such that light during the simulated day period was approximately 150 lux emitted at 3000K. At night, ALAN treatment birds were exposed to 5 lux of 3000K light [i.e., the intensity emitted by a typical street lamp at night (Dominoni et al. 2013a)], whereas control birds were housed in near darkness (~0 lux). Spectral composition of light is measured in units of Kelvin (K) and describes the light appearance in commercially sold lightbulbs. Although typically thought of as heat intensity, Kelvin in this instance describes the color temperature.

Blood samples were collected twice prior to treatment exposure (i.e., on two separate nights) at 8pm, 10pm, 12am, 2am, and 4am (Zeitgeber times 14, 16, 18, 20, 22). Individuals were only sampled once per night and at different timepoints between the two sampling nights to avoid anemia and any related adverse effects. Individuals were either exposed to ALAN or control conditions at night during the exposure duration of two weeks, and then sampled twice

again using identical methods described above, for a total of four sampling nights. None of the individuals from this melatonin suppression study were used in the subsequent WNV-infection experiment; following the conclusion of this study, all individuals were euthanized.

The serum was extracted and stored at -40°C until samples were processed. Melatonin was quantified using a commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA; RE54021; Tecan Industries, Switzerland). Samples ranged in volume from 70-110ul and were diluted to 500ul in volume for the assay parameters. Then, samples were treated according to the published Tecan Industries protocol, and melatonin concentrations were calculated for each volume of serum and extrapolated to pg/ml serum. This approach was validated by dilution of a separate set of sparrow serum samples collected from previous experiments performed in the Cassone lab to determine parallelism with the standard curve.

Spectral composition experiment: House Sparrows (N=71; not including individuals from the melatonin suppression study) were captured in the Tampa Bay area using mist nets during October and November 2018. All husbandry conditions were identical to those described above with the exception of light at night treatments. At night, control birds were housed in complete darkness (0 lux; N=24) whereas all other groups were exposed to 5 lux [i.e., the intensity emitted by a street lamp at night (Dominoni et al. 2013a)] of one of three forms of light: amber-hue (1800K) LED light (SCS Exterior Wildlife & Habitat Lighting, catalogue no. GB030, certification no. 2018-057; N=12), broad-spectrum (3000K) LED light (N=11), or blue-rich (5000K) LED light (N=24). The amber-hue bulb was selected from the Florida Fish and Wildlife Commission (FWC) Certified Wildlife Lighting list which is required by state law to be used in coastal communities (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 2019). Sample sizes were unequal due to housing limitations and the original study design (see results). After the first

two weeks, birds were transported from the USF animal biosafety-level 2 (ABSL-2) facility where they were originally housed upon capture to the USF animal biosafety-level 3 (ABSL-3) facility to be housed under the same lighting conditions as used prior to transfer to the new facility. Birds were placed inside bioBUBBLE secondary containment systems (bioBUBBLE Inc, Fort Collins CO) within the ABSL-3 facility which enclosed bird cages to prevent aerosol circulation throughout the housing facility for the remainder of the study.

All birds were exposed to 10¹ plaque-forming units (PFUs) of New York 1999 strain (NY'99) WNV one day after transfer to BSL-3 (Kernbach et al. 2019). Following WNV exposure, blood samples were collected from birds on days 2, 4, 6, and 10, and serum was stored at -20°C until viral RNA extractions were performed. Body mass (to 0.1g) was measured at WNV exposure and all sampling timepoints thereafter, and mortality was monitored daily. All birds were euthanized by isoflurane overdose followed by rapid decapitation on day 10 postexposure. This study was also originally designed to capture whether supplementing melatonin could promote viral resistance in ALAN-exposed birds. Therefore, approximately ½ of all birds were administered 200ug/mL crystalline melatonin dissolved in 0.5% EtOH in drinking water at night. As this treatment had no statistically significant effect on either treatment group (see supplementary text), this aspect of the experiment is not further addressed.

To quantify viremia, WNV RNA was first extracted from 10 uL of each frozen serum sample using the Qiagen QIAmp Viral Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen Cat. No. 52906). WNV standards were also extracted from known concentrations stocks using the same methods. Following extractions, RNA was quantified using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) using a one-step Taqman kit (iTaq Universal Probes One-Step Kit; Bio-Rad Cat. No. 1725141). All samples were run in duplicate with negative controls to detect potential

contamination. The stock titer was recently measured using plaque assays, and qPCR results closely mirrored plaque counts (Brien et al. 2013).

Data analysis

<u>Melatonin experiment:</u> Melatonin data were analyzed using a generalized linear model (GLM; Gamma distribution) with the R base and 'car' packages (Fox, John & Weisberg 2011). Melatonin concentration in pg ml-1 was the dependent variable and ALAN treatment and Zeitgeber time and their interaction were considered fixed effects. We also evaluated the generalized linear model with a type III ANOVA to determine main effects. To confirm there were no pre-existing differences among treatment groups, we built a GLM to compare melatonin concentrations between treatment groups before exposure (supplementary text). To determine whether ALAN exposure affected melatonin concentrations, we compared the group to its initial concentration (pre-exposure and post-exposure; supplementary material), as well as the concentrations between groups following 2 weeks in their respective treatments (ALAN and control).

Spectral composition experiment: Visual inspection of data indicated that 3000K and 5000K ALAN birds were quite similar in terms of viremia, body mass, and mortality rate. Statistical comparisons also indicated that these two groups were indistinguishable, so they were combined into a single "3000+5000K ALAN" group for all other analyses ([N=35]; see supplementary text). To evaluate effects of ALAN spectra (i.e., light type) on viremia, we modeled log10 transformed WNV titer as the dependent variable in a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM; distribution was non-normal) with light type (control, broad-spectrum/blue-rich [3000+5000K] ALAN, and amber-hue [1800K] ALAN), days-post exposure (2, 4, 6, and 10 dpe), and their interaction as fixed effects and bird id as a random effect in R studio using the 'lme4' package

(Bates et al. 2015). We then also asked whether changes in body mass (% since exposure) were affected by lighting treatment, viremia, their interaction, and vigor (i.e., body mass prior to WNV exposure), again using GLMM in the R studio 'lme4' package (Burgan et al. 2019).

To assess how birds tolerated infections (i.e., residual variation in performance at a given viremia), we calculated average viremia and average percent change in body mass for each individual across the course of its infection (Gervasi et al. 2017; Burgan et al. 2019). We plotted average viremia along the X-axis and average percent change body mass along the Y-axis and used a linear regression to determine whether there was a relationship between the two variables.

Finally, to discern how ALAN spectra and other factors affected mortality rate, we used the 'survival', 'survminer', and 'dplyr' packages for the Cox proportional hazards method in R Studio (Therneau and T. Lumley 2015; Wickham and Francois 2016; Kassambara 2018). We conducted two modeling exercises for WNV-dependent mortality. First, we checked whether ALAN spectra alone predicted mortality (with the body mass of an individual prior to infection as a covariate in the model). As body mass had no detectable effect it was excluded from further models (supplementary text). Our second Cox modelling effort incorporated average viremia and average percent change body mass from days 2 and 4 post-exposure as well as ALAN spectra and all two- and three-way interactions as potential predictors of mortality. We used only data from days 2 and 4 post-exposure here as no mortality occurred until after that period. Moreover, we were concerned that diminutions in health occurring late in the infection might confound our ability to detect drivers of mortality; in other words, we were interested to learn whether peak viremia or the nadir in body mass in response to infection predicted mortality. Other studies have taken a similar approach for similar reasons (Gervasi et al. 2017). To determine whether individuals died earlier or later than expected, we compared residual variation in days until death

based on average viremia (days 2 and 4) between treatment groups by conducting a one-way ANOVA followed by a Tukey pairwise comparison to more easily visualize the underlying differences in mortality.

Results:

Exposure to ALAN suppresses melatonin in House Sparrows

We found that exposure to 3000K ALAN significantly suppressed melatonin concentrations at night (ALAN*Exposure $X^2 = 186.419$, P = < 2e-16; Figure 3.1). Additionally, the melatonin concentrations within the ALAN-exposed groups were significantly suppressed from pre- to post-exposure timepoints ($X^2 = 7.7698$, P = 0.005). Finally, we confirmed that there were no pre-existing differences in melatonin secretion among the two groups ($X^2 = 0.0225$, P = 0.881).

Amber-hue ALAN enhances West Nile virus resistance

We detected a significant main effect of light type ($X^2 = 6.9942$, P = 0.030) on WNV viremia (Figure 3.2A). We found that the difference was driven by significantly lower viremia in the amber-hue ALAN treatment group (1800K, t = 2.530, P = 0.011; table 3.1), which persisted across the entire post-exposure period (1800Kxday linear, t = 2.724, P = 0.006; 1800Kxday quadratic, t = 1.999, P = 0.046). Viremia did not differ between broad-spectrum/blue-rich ALAN and control groups however (3000+5000K, t = 0.290, P = 0.772). Light type, day, and their interaction did not affect percent change in body mass since WNV exposure, but there was a significant interaction between 3000+5000K ALAN and day (3000K+5000Kxday linear, t = 2.071, P = 0.038), such that these birds lost more body mass than the other groups since WNV exposure (Figure 3.2B).

Broad-spectrum ALAN increases WNV-induced mortality

For tolerance, we found that there was no relationship between average viremia and average percent change body mass ($R^2 = 0.015$, P = 0.316). Therefore, we focused on percent change in body mass since WNV exposure, independent of viremia, as a proxy of health status during infection for further analyses. We found that light type alone affected survival rate post-WNV exposure, driven by significantly higher mortality in the broad-spectrum/blue-rich ALAN group ($X^2 = 6.0217$, P = 0.049; 3000+5000K, z = 1.893, P = 0.0583; Figure 3.2C). Additionally, both average viremia and average percent change in body mass affected mortality (Table 3.2); higher titer and greater mass loss exacerbated mortality risk. A type III ANOVA revealed that main effects of light type, average percent change body mass, average viremia, the interaction between average viremia and treatment, and the interaction between average percent change body mass and average viremia all had significant effects on mortality. In other words, broadspectrum ALAN mortality rates to WNV remained significantly higher even after the addition of other parameters, meaning that light type alone explained differences in mortality rates (z =2.205, P = 0.027). Additionally, average viremia from days 2 and 4 (z = 3.079, P = 0.002) and the interaction between average viremia and treatment (z = -2.189, P = 0.029) were significant predictors of mortality. When we calculated the residual variation in time (days) until death based on an individual's average viremia, we revealed a significant difference between light treatments (DF = 2, F-value = 3.561, P = 0.034): broad-spectrum/blue-rich ALAN exposed birds died on average approximately 1 day earlier than expected compared to controls (adjusted P = 0.035; Figure 3.3).

Discussion:

Light type affected how House Sparrows coped with WNV infections. Broad-spectrum (3000K) ALAN suppressed melatonin throughout the night after only two weeks of exposure. Alternatively, exposure to amber-hue ALAN (1800K) increased WNV resistance by maintaining lower WNV burdens for shorter periods of time and perhaps reduced competence to transmit to vectors (Sears et al. 2011; Burgan et al. 2018). Broad-spectrum/blue-rich ALAN (3000+5000K) exposure, however, did not reduce viral resistance, as seen previously, but it did increase WNV-induced mortality rates. Additionally, individuals exposed to the broad-spectrum/blue-rich ALAN died from WNV infection at lower viral burdens than control individuals. Altogether, our data indicate that the type of ALAN to which organisms are exposed likely affects melatonin secretion and could exacerbate or ameliorate how zoonotic diseases affect populations. Below we discuss both the organismal and ecological ramifications of our results as well as the mitigation opportunities they present in the interest of wildlife and human health.

Melatonin actions on antiviral immune defenses

Exposure to low intensities of 3000K ALAN is enough to significantly suppress melatonin concentrations at night. Melatonin, as emphasized above, plays many active roles in the body including coordinating and controlling immune defenses. Early research discovered a close relationship between the fluctuations of melatonin and differentiation of granulocytes (i.e., toxic-granulated white blood cells), suggesting that melatonin played a key role in synchronizing immunological processes throughout the body (Kuci et al. 1988). Since then, many other relationships between the rhythmicity and concentration of melatonin and immunity have been discovered, including effects important for antiviral defenses. For example, elevating melatonin concentrations in birds at night increases heterophil activity, which is important for recognizing and engulfing apoptotic or virally infected cells (Rodríguez et al. 1999; Kogut et al. 2005; Uematsu and Akira 2006). Although phagocytes (i.e., white blood cells that engulf and destroy virally-infected cells) can generate a disproportionate amount of free radicals, melatonin also protects against potential oxidative damage by acting as an antioxidant itself (Reiter 1996; Babior 2000; Galano et al. 2011). In other words, the collateral damage that phagocytic antiviral responses generate via radical oxygen species can typically be attenuated by melatonin directly. Furthermore, melatonin induces an anti-apoptotic regulation of T cells during differentiation, which undoubtedly affects the identification and elimination of virally infected cells by CD4+ and CD8+ lymphocytes (Sainz et al. 1995). It is therefore reasonable to expect that melatonin suppression via ALAN might mediate how sparrows control WNV infection. Some studies revealed that melatonin suppression via light at night exposure can propagate a Th1-biased humoral response, which is typically inflammatory in nature, and when uncontrolled, can cause immunopathology (Carrillo-Vico et al. 2013). Indeed, in human neuroinvasive WNV cases, polarized T-cell responses are associated with increased pathogenesis (James et al. 2016). Blocking melatonin actions in the pineal gland via propranolol (a melatonin receptor antagonist) suppressed multiple aspects of cellular and humoral immunity (Claustrat et al. 2005). ALAN exposure, viral resistance, and its relationship to melatonin

In a previous study, we found multiple indications that antiviral immune defenses and damage attenuation were affected in WNV-infected House Sparrows exposed to low-intensity 3000K ALAN (Kernbach et al. 2019). A weighted gene correlation network analysis (WGCNA) identified multiple networks of closely co-regulated genes that were differentially expressed between ALAN and control individuals. One network containing many aspects of the anti-WNV immune pathway, including the hub (i.e., most highly connected) gene, OASL, was upregulated

sooner during infection in ALAN-exposed than controls (Mashimo et al. 2002; Tag-El-Din-Hassan et al. 2012b; Kernbach et al. 2019). Although OASL stimulates antiviral responses, its advanced upregulation suggests that WNV infection disseminated more quickly in individuals that were exposed to ALAN (Choi et al. 2015). Dissemination of virus can be accelerated with the presence of reactive oxygen species; these reactive oxygen species are often neutralized by melatonin, which may be one mechanism whereby suppression of melatonin expedited viremia (Bonilla et al. 2004b). Furthermore, a different network containing the hub gene, TRAP1 (heat shock protein [HSP] 75), was upregulated later during infection, when viremia in ALANexposed individuals was very high (Kernbach et al. 2019). TRAP1 is often upregulated in response to excessive oxidative stress, which might become common in the absence of melatonin (Bonilla et al. 2004b; Hua et al. 2007). It has been suggested that TRAP1 and other heat shock proteins also aid the cellular entry of flaviviruses (i.e., a class of positive-sense and singlestranded RNA viruses) (Rastogi et al. 2016). In this light, TRAP1 might be upregulated to compensate for an absence of melatonin, and in the process, allow for enhanced viral replication by aiding cellular entry or inhibiting apoptosis of infected cells (Hua et al. 2007). ALAN exposure, immunopathology, mortality, and a potential role for melatonin

Furthermore, the WGCNA analysis from our previous study revealed that individuals exposed to ALAN were also experiencing severe immunopathology. Another network upregulated by ALAN-exposed individuals contained two hub genes, ATP11B and PLBD1 (Kernbach et al. 2019). ATP11B is associated with sepsis, an extreme response of the immune system that can cause life-threatening organ damage (Hu 2013). Similarly, PLBD1 is expressed during severe malaria infection and exposure to oxidative or thermal stressors (Chovatiya and Medzhitov 2014; Sobota et al. 2016b). A handful of studies have explored the relationship between melatonin and sepsis, including the administration of melatonin as a potential therapeutic (Şener et al. 2005; Galley et al. 2014). The antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties of melatonin contribute to the control of collateral damage during an immune response. As above, melatonin suppression might have led to the septic symptoms we observed in ALAN-exposed individuals. In support, the administration of melatonin to WNV-infected mice reduced the risk of encephalitis and resulting mortality (Ben-Nathan et al. 1995). Additionally, mice infected with Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis Virus (VEEV) experienced similar protective benefits from melatonin supplementation with effects ranging from enhanced viral resistance (signified by lower viremia burdens) to decreased risk of mortality (Bonilla et al. 1997). Here, we observed that House Sparrows exposed to broad-spectrum ALAN experienced higher WNV-induced mortality rates and succumbed to infection at lower viral burdens than their control counterparts. Although we cannot directly attribute these effects to melatonin suppression, we encourage follow-up work to determine whether melatonin suppression is a mechanism by which light pollution induces increased mortality risk.

Melatonin Independent Effects of ALAN Exposure on Immune Defenses

In this study, we observed that exposure to amber-hue ALAN slightly, yet significantly, reduced WNV burden. Although we make a case that melatonin suppression partly mediates the effects of light at night exposure on antiviral immunity, we do not anticipate that circulating melatonin concentrations differed between control and amber-hue ALAN exposed individuals. Exposure to ALAN increases nighttime activity levels in captive birds and foraging opportunity in wild shorebirds (Dwyer et al. 2013; Alaasam et al. 2018). Perhaps amber-hue nocturnal illumination provided the opportunity for individuals to forage at night to offset the costs associated with melatonin suppression. Resource availability and quality are linked to immune

function; therefore the link between food intake, metabolism, and immunity should be investigated in individuals exposed to ALAN (Lochmiller et al. 1993; Siva-Jothy and Thompson 2002).

Alternatively, enhanced immune defenses may be related to an evolutionary association between nighttime illumination and risk of injury in prey species. Risk of predation for several organisms is highest during brightly lit nights including especially the full moon phase (Daly et al. 1992; Prugh and Golden 2014). Some nocturnally active rodents avoid illuminated areas including moonlight, where predation risk is high (Lima 1998; Upham and Hafner 2013). Perhaps exposure to light at night initiates anti-predator responses, which mobilize and activate of aspects of the immune system in anticipation of injury (Martin 2009). Indeed, predation risk is associated with exaggerated immune responses in insect species (Duong and Mccauley 2016). The association between nocturnal illumination and predation risk may contribute to the enhanced immune responses and lower WNV burdens we observed in here for amber-hue ALAN exposed birds.

Seasonality in ALAN effects on WNV resistance and mortality

When comparing the present study to our previous findings, we discovered a large seasonal difference in WNV responses. When individuals were exposed to broad-spectrum ALAN during spring months, individuals maintain significantly higher WNV burdens for longer without incurring increased mortality rates (Kernbach et al. 2019). However, in this study focusing on birds caught in fall, individuals exposed to broad-spectrum ALAN showed no significant differences in WNV viremia but did incur a higher WNV-induced mortality rate. There are several different phenomena to which may explain these seasonal effects.

Organisms naturally possess seasonal patterns in the properties of their immune system (Nelson and Demas 1996). These fluctuations may correlate with the risk of exposure during different times of year, such as influenza during winter or arboviruses during late summer (Dowell 2001; Blackmore et al. 2003). Additionally, immunity is often traded-off for other important fitness investments during energetically-demanding life history stages such as reproduction, migration, and molt (Sheldon and Verhulst 1996; Martin et al. 2008). Other stressful or unpredictable conditions such as resource shortage, habitat loss, or extreme weather events may force individuals to reroute energy intended for immune defenses towards other processes required for immediate survival (Lochmiller and Deerenberg 2000; Dobson 2009). A further investigation of the effects of ALAN on host competence over the annual cycle would both enhance our understanding of how light pollution alters infectious disease dynamics and create an opportunity to predict when and where exposure risk is highest (Wonham et al. 2004; Rushing et al. 2017). Although we are unsure what contexts drive seasonal patterns in WNV competence, the effects of ALAN across seasons likely affects within-individual dynamics and ecological level outcomes.

Alternative Lighting Options

Here, we found that exposure to amber-hue LED lightbulbs alleviated most, if not all, negative effects we observed of ALAN exposure on WNV infection results in House Sparrows. This suggests that amber-hue light types may be a viable alternative to other LED lighting methods. Indeed, energy-efficient LED lightbulbs in this spectra are commercially available in multiple models (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission 2019). Because these bulbs are already widely used along shorelines, advocating for their use within neighborhoods, cities, roadways, and other developed areas with nighttime illumination should not be met by

harsh criticism (Ferenc and Leonard 2008). Although less feasible, lights-out programs advocated by organizations such as the International Dark-Sky Association (IDA) would likely also be beneficial to wild organisms. In both this and our previous studies, we found that control birds who are housed in near-complete darkness don't incur as much WNV-induced mortality or damage (Kernbach et al. 2019). Other studies have recognized the benefit of lights-out programs such as decreasing building collision rates in nocturnally migrating birds (Winger et al. 2019).

Other studies have suggested the benefits of alternative lighting (such as the technology we used in this study) for other wildlife taxa as well. The use of amber-hue filtered light at night is less impactful on several species of non-passerine wildlife such as Green turtles, Loggerhead turtles, and Newell's shearwater (Ferenc and Leonard 2008; Longcore et al. 2018). Furthermore, installation of amber-hue lighting should also have benefits for other organisms including humans. Indeed, exposure to blue-rich light at night can negatively affect sleep quality, thermoregulation, and resting heart rate in humans, all of which can be alleviated by shifting the spectral composition of nighttime lighting (Cajochen et al. 2005; Chellappa et al. 2013). Therefore, we advocate switching to amber-hue LED lightbulbs as this alternative still offers energy-efficient benefits while eliminating many health risks associate with blue-rich light exposure.

Conclusions:

Our experiment confirmed that melatonin was significantly suppressed by low intensity broad-spectrum (3000K) in House Sparrows. These data provide a plausible link between light at night exposure and antiviral immune dysregulation. However, more work needs to be done to directly link melatonin suppression to the aspects of anti-WNV immunity detailed above. We tested whether altering the spectral composition of ALAN would affect WNV resistance and

mortality; broad-spectrum ALAN enhanced WNV-induced mortality and amber-hue ALAN slightly enhanced viral resistance while maintaining low rates of mortality relative to controls. These results suggest that the substitution of blue-rich wavelengths with amber-hue light at night might be a viable alternative to limiting negative consequences. We stress that ALAN has the potential to impact other parameters that influence WNV transmission and outbreak potential such as vector biting rate, WNV extrinsic incubation period, and other parameters, all of which need to be considered when describing infectious disease dynamics (Kernbach et al. 2018a). Furthermore, it is important to consider other parameters that are known to impact infectious disease outbreak (e.g., area of impervious surfaces, human population density, climate) to determine where to focus intervention efforts. Although our findings here suggest viable lighting alternatives exist, it is still important to consider how spectral composition of ALAN affects other factors important to WNV transmission before recommending blanket lightbulb switches across the nation.

Acknowledgements:

We thank Haley Hanson, Kyle Koller, Bilal Koussayer, Sarah Guzinski, and Samantha Oakey for input on the experimental design and experimental execution. We also thank Erik Hofmeister for sharing the WNV NY'99 strain. We recognize NSF 1257773 for funding.

Author contributions:

M. E. Kernbach contributed to conceptualization, data curation, methodology, investigation, project administration, and writing; V. M. Cassone contributed to data curation and analysis; T. R. Unnasch contributed to conceptualization, funding acquisition, methodology, resources, and supervision; L. B. Martin contributed to conceptualization, data curation, formal

analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, resources, supervision, and writing- original draft.

Ethical Statement:

All experimental work was pre-approved by and performed according to IACUC #2716 and IBC #1323.

Table 3.1:

Summary statistics of the generalized linear mixed model to determine effects of day treatment, and their interaction on WNV viremia accounting for random effects of bird ID. A type III ANOVA revealed the main effects of both day and treatment had an effect on WNV viremia. Upon further investigation of the GLMM output, we determined that these main effects are driven by significantly lower viremia in the amber-hue (1800K) ALAN exposed group and the interaction between day (linear (lin) and quadratic (quad)) and the amber-hue group. Significant terms are bolded.

| ANOVA (Type III) | | | | |
|-------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|---------|----------|
| Parameter | X ² Value | Degrees of Freedom | P Value | |
| Day | 76.3587 | 3 | < 2e-16 | |
| Treatment | 6.9942 | 2 | 0.03029 | |
| Day x Treatment | 8.7008 | 6 | 0.19111 | |
| GLMM Fixed Effects | | | | |
| Parameter | Estimate | Standard Error | T Value | P Value |
| Day (linear) | 0.101127 | 0.012972 | 7.796 | 6.41e-15 |
| Day (quadratic) | 0.073140 | 0.010849 | 6.742 | 1.57e-11 |
| Day (cubic) | 0.014650 | 0.008698 | 1.684 | 0.09212 |
| 1800K Treatment | 0.031555 | 0.012474 | 2.530 | 0.01142 |
| 3000/5000K Treatment | 0.002687 | 0.009257 | 0.290 | 0.77165 |
| Day (lin) x 1800K | 0.067238 | 0.024680 | 2.724 | 0.00644 |
| Day (quad) x 1800K | 0.041429 | 0.020729 | 1.999 | 0.04565 |
| Day (cub) x 1800K | 0.015780 | 0.016147 | 0.977 | 0.32842 |
| Day (lin) x 3000/5000K | 0.006164 | 0.018069 | 0.341 | 0.73300 |
| Day (quad) x 3000/5000K | 0.006026 | 0.015218 | 0.396 | 0.69214 |
| Day (cub) x 3000/5000K | -0.003912 | 0.011954 | -0.327 | 0.74351 |

Table 3.2:

Summary statistics of the Cox proportional-hazards analysis to determine effects of treatment, average percent change body mass, average viremia, and their interaction on mortality. A type III ANOVA revealed that all bolded parameters are significant predictors of mortality including treatment, average percent change in body mass since exposure (days 2 and 4), average viremia (days 2 and 4), the interaction between treatment and average viremia, and the interaction between average change on body mass and average viremia. The model outputs illustrated which parameters are driving the significant main effects observed, including significantly higher mortality in the broad-spectrum (3000+5000K) ALAN group and average viremia as a strong indicator of future mortality. Interestingly, the interaction between the broad-spectrum ALAN group and average viremia is significant. Significant terms are bolded.

| ANOVA (Type III) | | | | |
|-----------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|-----------|---------|
| Parameter | X ² Value | Degrees of Freedom | P Value | |
| Treatment | 7.3586 | 2 | 0.02524 | |
| Avg % Δ Mass | 4.0220 | 1 | 0.04491 | |
| Avg Viremia | 15.2721 | 1 | 9.308e-05 | |
| Treat x % Δ Mass | 3.9696 | 2 | 0.13741 | |
| Treat x Avg Viremia | 6.5208 | 2 | 0.03837 | |
| % Δ Mass x Avg Viremia | 4.3120 | 1 | 0.03785 | |
| Treat x % Δ Mass x Viremia | 4.1748 | 2 | 0.12401 | |
| Cox Prop-Hazards Model | | | | |
| Parameter | Coefficient | Standard Error | Z Score | P Value |
| 1800K Treatment (2) | 1.557e+01 | 9.729e+00 | 1.601 | 0.10943 |
| 3000+5000K Treatment (3) | 1.950e+01 | 8.843e+00 | 2.205 | 0.02743 |
| Avg % ∆ Mass | -5.311e+00 | 2.932e+00 | -1.811 | 0.07014 |
| Avg Viremia | 3.577e+00 | 1.162e+00 | 3.079 | 0.00208 |
| Treat (2) x Avg % ∆ Mass | 2.685e+00 | 5.821e+00 | 0.461 | 0.64465 |
| Treat (3) x Avg $\% \Delta$ Mass | 5.158e+00 | 2.946e+00 | 1.751 | 0.07993 |
| Treat (2) x Avg Viremia | -2.028e+00 | 1.313e+00 | -1.544 | 0.12260 |
| Treat (3) x Avg Viremia | -2.561e+00 | 1.170e+00 | -2.189 | 0.02863 |
| % Δ Mass x Avg Viremia | 7.055e-01 | 3.776e-01 | 1.868 | 0.06172 |
| Treat (2) x Avg % Δ Mass x | -3.491e-01 | 8.921e-01 | -0.391 | 0.69558 |
| Avg Viremia | | | | |
| Treat (3) x Avg % ∆ Mass x | -6.864e-01 | 3.796e-01 | -1.809 | 0.07052 |
| Avg Viremia | | | | |



Figure 3.1:

Melatonin concentration in pg ml-1 measured during the dark phase at Zeitgeber times 14 (8pm), 16 (10pm), 18 (12am), 20 (2am), and 22 (4am) in both control (~0 lux, darkness; N=24) and 3000K ALAN exposed (N=24) birds post-exposure/captivity.



Figure 3.2:

The effects of spectral composition of ALAN on (**A**) WNV viremia (log10 PFU ml⁻¹), (**B**) percent change body mass since exposure (g), and (**C**) percent survival. Birds exposed to amber-hue (1800K) ALAN (N=12) had significantly lower viremia throughout the course of

infection and significant interaction across days post-exposure when day is described as both a linear and quadratic function (panel A). There are no main effects of treatment or day on percent change body mass, however, there is a significant interaction between broad-spectrum and blue-rich (3000K+5000K) ALAN (N=35) and day when day is modeled as a linear function (panel B). 3000+5000K ALAN exposed birds incurred a significantly mortality rate than control (N=24) and amber-hue exposed birds, which is partly driven by average viremia on days 2 and 4 post-exposure (panel C).



Figure 3.3:

Residual variation of the means of time (days) until death as a function of average viremia during days 2 and 4 post-exposure. A one-way ANOVA analysis followed by a Tukey pairwise comparison showed that there was a significant difference between broad-spectrum (3000+5000K) ALAN (N=35) and control (N=24) birds (P = 0.034). The significant difference exists between control (a) and broad-spectrum (b) treatments; amber-hue treatment (a,b; N=12) did not differ from either control (a) or broad-spectrum treatments (b).

CHAPTER III:

LIGHT POLLUTION AFFECTS WEST NILE VIRUS EXPOSURE RISK ACROSS FLORIDA

Note to Reader:

This is a pre-copyedited, author-produced version of an article accepted for publication in Proceedings of the Royal Society B following peer review. The version of record: Kernbach ME, Martin LB, Unnasch TR, Hall RJ, Jiang RHY, Francis CD. 2021. Light pollution affects West Nile virus exposure risk across Florida. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 288: 20210253.

Authors:

Meredith E. Kernbach¹, Lynn B. Martin¹, Thomas R. Unnasch¹, Richard J. Hall², Rays H.Y. Jiang¹, Clinton D. Francis³.

Affiliations:

- Center for Global Health and Infectious Disease Research, College of Public Health, University of South Florida, 3720 Spectrum Blvd., Tampa, FL 33612.
- Odum School of Ecology and Department of Infectious Diseases, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Georgia, 501 D.W. Brooks Dr., Athens, GA 30602.

 Department of Biological Sciences, California Polytechnic State University, 1 Grand Ave., San Luis Obispo, CA 93407.

Abstract:

Emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) present global health threats, and their emergences are often linked to anthropogenic change. Artificial light at night (ALAN) is one form of anthropogenic change that spans beyond urban boundaries and may be relevant to EIDs through its influence on behavior and physiology of hosts and/or vectors. Although West Nile virus (WNV) emergence has been described as peri-urban, we hypothesized that exposure risk could also be influenced by ALAN in particular, which is testable by comparing the effects of ALAN on prevalence while controlling for other aspects of urbanization. By modeling WNV exposure among sentinel chickens in Florida, we found strong support for a nonlinear relationship between ALAN and WNV exposure risk in chickens with peak WNV risk occurring at low ALAN levels. Although our goal was not to discern how ALAN affected WNV relative to other factors, effects of ALAN on WNV exposure were stronger than other known drivers of risk (i.e., impervious surface, human population density). Ambient temperature in the month prior to sampling, but no other considered variables, strongly influenced WNV risk. These results indicate that ALAN may contribute to spatiotemporal changes in WNV risk, justifying future investigations of ALAN on other vector-borne parasites.

Introduction:

Emerging infectious diseases (EIDs) are among the greatest threats to public health today (Binder et al. 1999; Morens et al. 2004). Most EIDs are zoonotic in origin (70%), in that causative agents spill over to human populations from other species (Woolhouse and Gowtage-Sequeria 2005; Jones et al. 2008). Anthropogenic effects on wildlife, such as habitat fragmentation, sensory pollutants, and toxin exposure, can become detrimental to humans in places where humans and wildlife come into contact (Estrada-Peña et al. 2014; Murray et al. 2019; Dominoni et al. 2020). The recent surge in many EIDs can be attributed to various forms of global change, including climate change and the structure and biological composition of landscapes (Jones et al. 2008; Lewis and Maslin 2015; McMahon et al. 2018). One recent example of an anthropogenically-driven zoonotic EID is West Nile virus (WNV), which was introduced to the United States in 1999 (Kilpatrick and Randolph 2012). WNV decimated susceptible bird populations, especially corvid species, within the first several years of its arrival, and its propensity to be transmitted by many vector species also made it a source of substantial human and livestock (i.e., horse) disease (Marfin et al. 2001; Turell et al. 2001; Hayes et al. 2005; Marm Kilpatrick and Wheeler 2019). Now, 20 years since its introduction, WNV continues to cause harm to diverse animal populations, particularly in or near highly humanmodified habitats (Liu et al. 2011; Johnson et al. 2012).

WNV is recognized as a peri-urban arbovirus, as human incidence and songbird seroprevalence are much higher in or near urban habitats (Bradley et al. 2008; Kilpatrick 2011). Historically, higher incidence of WNV in or near cities was linked to aspects of environments that influence mosquito success such as local climate and availability of breeding sites (Bradley et al. 2008; Loss et al. 2009). The Florida Department of Health surveillance system has closely

monitored arbovirus transmission in mosquito breeding hotspots, such as peri-urban drainage systems, since the late 20th century (Day and Lewis 1991; Day et al. 2015). WNV dynamics resemble other zoonoses in that urban and agricultural predominance affect emergence and transmission (Gómez et al. 2008). For instance, Lyme disease (caused by Borrelia burgdorferi) and flavivirus infections including yellow fever, dengue, and chikungunya, emerge where competent host and vector communities occur in close proximity to humans (LoGiudice et al. 2003; Dhondt et al. 2005; Weaver 2013). Some anthropogenic stressors have been found to affect zoonotic risk, but many conspicuous and common ones have never been considered, including light pollution. One form of light pollution, artificial light at night (ALAN), now covers 18.7% of the continental U.S. and affects 99% of the human population with increases anticipated in the future [e.g., 2.2% increase globally per year from 2012 to 2016, (Kyba, Kuester, et al. 2017)]. Further, small areas of urban development can emit light into distant suburban and rural landscapes, suggesting that light pollution effects, and skyglow in particular, may be widespread (Population, Housing Units, Area, and Density: 2010 - United States --States; and Puerto Rico 2010; Horton et al. 2019).

Light pollution affects multiple host traits with consequences for disease transmission. For instance, in night shift workers, ALAN can affect non-communicable disease risk (e.g., cancer, diabetes, etc.) (Navara and Nelson 2007), likely because vertebrate immune systems are 'fundamentally circadian in nature' (Navara and Nelson 2007; Cermakian et al. 2013; Becker and Ketterson 2020). House sparrows, a common passerine reservoir of WNV, experimentally infected with WNV and exposed to modest ALAN (i.e., 5 lux; a full moon on a clear night is 0.3 lux) maintained transmissible WNV titers for 2 days longer than controls but did not experience higher mortality (Kyba, Mohar, et al. 2017; Kernbach et al. 2019). Epidemiologically, this extension of the infectious-to-vector period were estimated to increase outbreak potential by 41% (Kernbach et al. 2019). Host population characteristics also have the capacity to alter disease transmission. For example, avian species diversity is known to affect WNV transmission, but there are no studies to our knowledge that have quantified direct effects of ALAN on avian community composition (Dominoni et al. 2014; Evans et al. 2015).

ALAN also probably alters a multitude of vector traits that affect arbovirus transmission. Arthropod vectors of WNV, mainly *Culex spp.*, are renowned for their flight-to-light behaviors; for those vectors that survive desiccation or depredation, flight-to-light behavior might concentrate infection risk where light pollution is common (Barghini and de Medeiros 2010; Donners et al. 2018). WNV can be transmitted by as many as 45 vector species, many of which bite wildlife (including songbirds) and humans, and are abundant across Florida (Sardelis et al. 2001; Marra et al. 2004; Hamer et al. 2008). WNV vectors are dense in urban areas, as surface imperviousness is one of the strongest predictors of *Culex spp*. distribution (Gangoso et al. 2020). Interestingly, *Culex spp*. are more abundant in areas of moderate ALAN than low or high ALAN during late summer months during peak transmission (Kernbach et al. 2018b).

Given the current pervasiveness of ALAN, we asked whether light pollution can affect infectious disease dynamics in a part of the US where arboviruses are common and influential, both economically and socially (Kernbach et al. 2018b). Specifically, we investigated whether ALAN affected risk of WNV exposure across several counties of Florida where emergence and spillover has occurred in the recent past ("Mosquito-Borne Disease Surveillance" 2020). We chose to focus on WNV because it is the most broadly distributed arbovirus and most common causative agent of viral encephalitis worldwide (Chancey et al. 2015; Davies and Smyth 2018). Using data from the Florida Department of Health (FDOH) sentinel chicken WNV surveillance

program (Day and Lewis 1991), we tested whether WNV exposure, as estimated by the number of sentinel chickens undergoing antibody seroconversion, would be related to ALAN exposure. We used mixed-effect models with and without spatial correlation structure to assess the effects of ALAN (in radiance, millicandela/m²) on WNV exposure for four recent years across 5 counties based on 6468 samples from individual chickens from 1126 surveillance events across 105 unique geographical coordinates, including many peri-urban regions (Figure 4.1). These models also accounted for previously documented and other hypothesized predictors of WNV risk (i.e., variation in temperature, precipitation, soil moisture, and several aspects of urbanization).

We hypothesized that WNV exposure risk would have a nonlinear relationship with ALAN, being greatest in areas of moderate ALAN, and lowest in non- and intensely light polluted areas. We made this specific and yet complex prediction because we expected vector density and/or host competence to be highest in areas with intermediate light pollution (Kernbach et al. 2019). As above, house sparrows were more infectious under these ALAN conditions than natural light-dark conditions. Also, we found previously that some *Culex* mosquitoes were most abundant in areas of moderate ALAN during WNV transmission season, indicating there might be combined effects of flight-to-light behavior from dark areas, but increased vector predation in intensely illuminated areas (Eisenbeis and Hassel 2011; Krebs et al. 2014; Lewanzik and Voigt 2014; Kernbach et al. 2018b). Active avoidance of ALAN by passerines, likely in part due to increased predation risk or negative physiological effects, could also decrease host density in brightly illuminated places, subsequently reducing opportunities for transmission (Daly et al. 1992; Dominoni et al. 2014; Lewanzik et al. 2014; Fallows et al. 2016; Kernbach et al. 2020).

Methods:

Sentinel Data

Sentinel chicken data were shared by the Florida Department of Health offices in Leon, Manatee, Nassau, Sarasota, St. Johns, Volusia, and Walton counties for the years 2015-2018. The data were provided as monthly total number of sentinel chickens per site that tested positive for WNV antibodies. WNV case counts result from weekly sampling of either 6 (89.5% of observations) or 4 (10.5% observations) sentinel chickens located at each site ("Mosquito-Borne Disease Surveillance" 2020). Once a chicken tested positive for WNV antibodies, it was removed from a coop and replaced with a WNV-naïve chicken, ensuring that all positives are new exposures. Coops housing sentinel chickens were occasionally moved small distances (typically < 0.001 degrees or less than approximately 100m, but as much as 11km) resulting in small differences in coop locations across years. As such, we used the unique coordinates from each sentinel chicken sampling location to determine the anthropogenic components of night sky brightness in radiance (ALAN), weather variables (soil moisture, temperature, precipitation), and urbanization variables (human population density, anthropogenic impervious surface extent, human footprint index, see below) at the time and place of sampling of each chicken coop. Environmental Data

Because multiple dimensions of the environment, including ALAN, vary along an urbanization gradient, understanding which aspects are responsible for elevated WNV risk is challenging. As such, we assembled geospatial data reflective of several dimensions of urbanization: percent anthropogenic impervious surface from the 2011 National Landcover Database [30m resolution; (Homer et al. 2015)], human population density from the 2010 US Census [1km resolution; (US Census Bureau 2010)], human footprint index data reflective of

conditions in 2009 [1km resolution; (Venter et al. 2016)], plus ALAN estimates from the world atlas of artificial night sky brightness [30-arc seconds, i.e., approx. 1 km resolution; (Falchi et al. 2016)], which is an improved measure of NASA's VIIRS data using zenith sky brightness confirmed with handheld sky quality monitors (Zhong et al. 2020). This resource provides the anthropogenic component of night sky brightness in radiance (microcandela/m², henceforth denoted as μ cd/m²) and is regarded as the most relevant available option at the spatial scale of our study, particularly as zenith sky brightness is more highly correlated with ground-level ALAN exposure than VIIRs satellite data (Simons et al. 2020). We temporally-harmonized highresolution monthly cumulative precipitation and monthly mean temperature data (0.8km resolution) from the PRISM database (Schneider et al. 2013) and monthly mean soil moisture estimates (3km resolution) generated from NASA's Sentinel 1/SMAP platform (Das et al. 2017) to match the month of sentinel chicken sampling. Additionally, to account for potential lags in conditions that could favor vector abundance, we also collected data for these variables from the month prior to sampling. Because >94% of the positive detections of WNV occurred after May of each year, which is similar to other studies (Apperson et al. 2004b; Bolling et al. 2009), we restricted our analyses to June-December. Additionally, because mean soil moisture estimates for the month of surveillance and the prior month were not available for all records, we restricted analyses to those records with complete environmental data, resulting in a final dataset of 6,468 samples from individual chickens from 1,126 surveillance events spanning 80 sites and 105 unique spatial locations.

Data analysis

We modeled incidence of WNV seroprevalence using mixed-effect models with and without a spatially-explicit exponential correlation structure with negative binomial error and

implemented in the fitme function of the R package *spaMM* 2.7.5 (Rousset and Ferdy 2014) and the glmm.nb function of the R package *lme4* 1.1-21 (Bates et al. 2015). We used a negative binomial error rather than Poisson error in our models as many preliminary Poisson models did not converge. Models that did converge received less support from the data than identical models with negative binomial error (i.e., $\Delta AIC \ge 30$). Because of the high number of zeros in the response variable, we also checked models for zero-inflation using the testZeroInflation function in the R package *DHARMa* 0.2.4 (Hartig 2020) but found no evidence that a zero inflated term was necessary.

Given the hierarchical and repeated sampling regime of sentinel chicken surveillance programs, we included nested random effects of sampling month within site within county. For fixed effects, we built a model that included ALAN, the three variables reflective of urbanization (i.e., impervious surface extent, population density, human footprint) and monthly mean soil moisture, precipitation total, and mean temperature, plus year to account for interannual variation. All continuous variables were centered and scaled to facilitate direct comparisons of effects and, based on our hypothesis that WNV seroprevalence would peak at intermediate ALAN exposure levels, we also modeled the effect of ALAN as a second-order polynomial. Preliminary data exploration revealed a nonlinear relationship between WNV seroprevalence and monthly mean temperature, which was also best explained by a second-order polynomial.

From the fully parameterized model described above, we explored whether substituting monthly soil moisture, precipitation total, and mean temperature values with the corresponding values from the previous month improved model performance using Akaike information criterion (AIC) values. We retained soil moisture and precipitation totals from the months in which chickens were sampled. However, subsequent analyses included monthly mean

temperature of the prior month because this time-lagged form of the temperature variable received stronger support than monthly mean temperature of the month of sampling ($\Delta AIC >$ 90). We used AIC scores to gauge whether polynomial terms for ALAN and mean temperature of the previous month improved model performance over linear effects of each. We also used AIC scores to arbitrate between spatial and non-spatial models, to evaluate the support for using an offset to account for the number of chickens sampled per site per month, and to test whether there was any evidence for polynomial effects of predictor variables other than ALAN that reflected urbanization. We considered models with $\triangle AIC$ scores ≤ 2.0 as equally competitive and determined that a parameter had a strong effect on WNV seroprevalence patterns when its 95% confidence interval (95% CI) did not overlap zero. Finally, because different approaches to model selection can result in different results (Posada and Buckley 2004), we evaluated relative model support using two additional information criteria in the *spaMM* package: the conditional AIC (cAIC) (Vaida and Blanchard 2005), which is conditional on the realized values of the random effects, and the dispersion AIC (dAIC), which focuses on dispersion parameters (Ha et al. 2007).

Finally, we conducted two forms of model diagnostics. First, we checked for potential multicollinearity and redundancy among predictor variables with variance inflation factor (VIF) and considered VIF > 10 as potentially problematic (F. Dormann et al. 2007). Mean temperature of the previous month, and its quadratic term, were the only parameters with suspect VIF scores. However, centering this variable at its mean resulted in VIF < 2.0 for each variable. Second, we assessed model performance with qqplots and residual vs. expected value plots using the simulateResiduals function in the R package *DHARMa* 0.2.4 (Hartig 2020).

Results and Discussion:

ALAN was a strong but nonlinear predictor of WNV exposure risk in Florida (Figure 4.2A). Models with and without spatial correlation structure (or an offset to account for variation in the number of chicken samples per site; see supplementary text) were equally competitive (Table 4.1) and included qualitatively similar parameter estimates for ALAN. Alternative model selection criteria also confirmed model rankings via AIC and relative competitiveness. Specifically, we found that WNV risk rises rapidly from dark conditions and peaks at low anthropogenic radiance intensities (i.e., <1), but then declines with higher ALAN exposure (Figure 4.3A), which was slightly lower than expected but overall consistent with our hypothesis. Besides the consistent influence of ALAN, all models provided strong evidence for a lag effect of temperature whereby high temperature (>25 °C) during the previous month strongly and positively influenced WNV seroprevalence (Figure 4.2B, Figure 4.3C). In contrast, increases in monthly cumulative precipitation were negatively related to WNV seroprevalence (Figure 4.3D), which is also consistent with prior work (Paull et al. 2017). In contrast with previous reports (Bradley et al. 2008; Kilpatrick 2011), we found no influence of two metrics of urbanization, human footprint index or percent anthropogenic impervious surface, on WNV seroprevalence in chickens. We found mixed support for an influence of human population density on WNV seroprevalence where two of the four models suggested there was a positive relationship (Figure 4.3B; supplementary text). Additionally, there was also some evidence for inter-annual variation in WNV prevalence; nonetheless, we found consistent polynomial ALAN effects on WNV risk across several years (Figure 4.3A).

To ensure that the relationship between WNV seroprevalence and ALAN did not reflect nonlinear effects of other variables characteristic of urbanization, we also tested for polynomial

effects of human population density, human footprint index, and percent anthropogenic impervious surface on WNV exposure risk. No polynomial terms for these variables were supported, and the model with only linear terms for all predictors (including weather variables and ALAN) received the least support (Table 4.2). Alternative model selection criteria (cAIC and dAIC) led to the same conclusions. Finally, based on the polynomial effects of both temperature of the previous month and the natural log of ALAN, we conducted a post hoc analysis with a model containing the interaction between the two, but the interaction decreased model performance (Δ AIC = 7.564; Table 4.2).

The use of radiance in units of microcandelas per m^2 in this study is admittedly hard to translate into values of light pollution measurable at fine spatial scales. Radiance values in our dataset appear relatively low, but supplemental figures show most ALAN values range from 0-2.5, so the peak in WNV cases around <1 can be interpreted as low to moderate light pollution. Previous experimental studies measured ALAN in units of lux using handheld light meters in enclosed facilities, which served as the foundation for our hypotheses (Kernbach et al. 2020). Whereas others have emphasized that data from the New World Atlas of Artificial Night Sky Brightness that we chose to use here are highly related to light pollution levels at ground-level (Bustamante-Calabria et al. 2020; Zhong et al. 2020), a critical component to future work involving ALAN will be understanding how remotely-sensed values translate to other common metrics for quantifying light exposure, such as lux (Zamorano et al. 2017). Thus, although our models suggest that WNV risk increases from the darkest sites in our dataset to peak in areas exposed to some degree of light pollution, we are limited by the current availability of data. namely that our ALAN measure captures only the artificial component of night sky brightness. Notwithstanding the importance of developing methods to better describe light pollution at finer

spatial scales, below we discuss how light pollution might exacerbate risk of WNV and other EIDs, and why WNV risk exhibited a nonlinear relationship with ALAN.

Why does ALAN affect WNV exposure?

The relationship between ALAN and WNV exposure risk we described was not altogether surprising. As highlighted earlier, ALAN can extend the infectious period of one avian host; perhaps similar effects occur in other host species (Kernbach et al. 2018a). Other studies strongly suggest that ALAN could also increase the local density and feeding period of crepuscular vectors, which might significantly alter opportunities for transmission (Wonham et al. 2004). Such effects are particularly likely because many vectors exhibit flight-to-light behavior, which could further concentrate risk spatiotemporally (Barghini and de Medeiros 2010).

Nonlinearity of ALAN effects on WNV exposure risk

Our results suggest that although WNV exposure risk initially increased with ALAN, it subsequently declined towards the most intensely lit sites in our study. Previously, we found that hosts exposed to broad-spectrum ALAN incurred greater mortality risk to WNV, which may create a disease "sink" for some avian hosts in highly light polluted areas (Kernbach et al. 2020). As above, surveys of *Culex* mosquitoes in the Tampa Bay region also suggest that vectors are more abundant in moderately light-polluted areas than non- and highly light-polluted areas during the WNV transmission season (Kernbach et al. 2018a). Hosts and vectors are probably both at higher risk of predation under a full moon or street lights or other sources of ALAN, which may contribute to lower host and vector densities in intensely light-polluted areas (Lewanzik and Voigt 2014; Minnaar et al. 2015). Similarly, individual birds avoid light exposure at night, which would further decrease host density in intensely light polluted areas (Dominoni et

al. 2014). Many characteristics of highly light polluted areas (e.g., fragmented habitat) support fewer hosts and fewer vector breeding sources, and may be subject to extensive vector control efforts (Norris 2004; Wright and Gompper 2005; Luz et al. 2011). Altogether, recruitment of vectors to light polluted areas, combined with reduced viral resistance, predator avoidance behavior, and/or host or vector mortality effects could all contribute to the observed nonlinear relationship between ALAN intensity and WNV exposure risk. To better understand the mechanisms underlying the nonlinear relationship between WNV exposure and ALAN, we advocate for future research on the light intensity-dependent effects of ALAN on vector survival, vector bite rate, and host susceptibility (Wonham et al. 2004).

Weather, precipitation, and WNV

In addition to ALAN, average temperature of the prior month predicted WNV exposure in parts of Florida. It is unsurprising that this climate component was important in our models, as many aspects of WNV transmission are temperature-dependent (e.g., vector development, survival, and competence) (Paz 2015). Indeed, most vectors of WNV thrive when temperatures increase over summer months, as high temperatures accelerate vector growth rates and extrinsic incubation periods (i.e., the time required to develop transmissible virus in salivary glands) (Paz and Semenza 2013). Periods of heavy rainfall and the availability of water sources for breeding can also sustain large populations of *Culex nigripalpus*, a moderately competent WNV vector in south Florida (Shaman et al. 2003; Turell et al. 2005). Relatedly, irrigation in the Western United States has sustained populations of WNV vectors during dry periods, creating suburban hotspots (DeGroote and Sugumaran 2012). Although water sources are required for mosquito breeding, drought is a significant predictor of high WNV infection rates in *Culex pipiens* and *restuans* (Johnson and Sukhdeo 2013). Drought can indirectly increase vector abundance by decreasing
mosquito predator density during drought years, however, these effects are typically time-lagged (Chase and Knight 2003; Lebl et al. 2013). Alternatively, contradicting data indicate that higher WNV incidence may reflect changes in host competence rather than vector success (Paull et al. 2017). While drought could be considered in future studies, we argue that the inclusion of rainfall data here enhanced our ability to control for natural factors at a higher resolution when asking how other variables affect WNV exposure risk.

Urbanization and zoonotic exposure risk

Urbanization has long been viewed as a driver of WNV prevalence (Bradley et al. 2008), but here, multiple metrics of urbanization had no to little explanatory power for WNV risk. Other studies have concluded that urban land use and human population density were important predictors of inter-annual WNV prevalence over large geographic regions (Begon et al. 2002; Gibbs et al. 2006a; Gómez et al. 2008). These environmental features are hypothesized to drive WNV incidence due to decreased host diversity in urban areas, altered vector ecology (e.g., small water sources ideal for mosquito breeding), and/or increased host susceptibility to infection (Ezenwa et al. 2006b; Bradley and Altizer 2007b). However, besides mixed support for a positive influence of human population density, we found minimal effects of urbanization on risk. One potential reason we did not detect relationships with urbanization might be due to a lack of data from the most urbanized areas of Florida. However, our study did include locations where anthropogenic surface was 67% and the human footprint index was 46.28 on a scale of 0-50, so we were able to capture diverse intensities of human inhabitation (Venter et al. 2016). It is also possible that our urbanization metrics are distinct to the ones used in previous studies, as sentinel chicken sites typically are not located in city centers (supplementary text). Further

exploration of how ALAN interacts with other aspects of urbanization across the landscape to influence WNV risk will be valuable.

Conclusions and Implications

Our study suggests that light pollution might affect arbovirus infection risk in Florida and perhaps elsewhere. Investigating how host and vector responses to ALAN vary with intensity level of light will be required to fully understand patterns in WNV exposure risk. The consideration of wild bird or vector data in the future would provide a more comprehensive description of how light at night might be affecting WNV outbreaks, whether it be *Culex spp*. derived or reservoir driven, and provide information regarding effective intervention strategies. Although additional studies are needed to assess the commonness of relationships between ALAN and WNV risk in other areas, mitigation opportunities (e.g., alternative lighting technologies) exist that could ameliorate the negative consequences of ALAN on wildlife and humans (Navara and Nelson 2007). Furthermore, we emphasize the need to investigate effects of ALAN on other passerine reservoirs of WNV, as songbirds, rather than sentinel chickens, drive transmission (Komar et al. 2003). In particular, we should consider important peri-urban and rural reservoirs such as Northern Cardinals (Cardinalis cardinalis) and American Robins (Turdus migratorius) as they dominate avian communities in areas with low-intensity ALAN and are quite competent for WNV (Evans et al. 2015). Many cities and neighborhoods are switching to cool white light-emitting diodes (LEDs), which could be especially harmful given the sensitivity of wildlife and humans to blue wavelengths (Witherington and Bjorndal 1991; Ferenc and Leonard 2008; Dimovski and Robert 2018). Attenuating spectral composition while substituting high pressure sodium and halogen street lights would provide an energy efficient

alternative while potentially alleviating broad light pollution effects on other ecological systems (Gaston et al. 2012).

Acknowledgements:

We thank the Florida Department of Health for sharing their sentinel chicken surveillance data with us. We thank funding agencies NSF-IOS 1257773 (LBM), NSF-CNH 1414171, NASA Ecological Forecasting NNX17AG36G, and NPS P17AC01178 (CDF).

Author Contributions:

M. E. Kernbach solicited data, assisted in data cleaning, and wrote manuscript; L. B. Martin solicited data, assisted in data cleaning, and revised manuscript; T. R. Unnasch solicited data and revised manuscript; R. J. Hall assisted in data anlyses and revised manuscript; R. H. Y. Jiang revised manuscript; C. D. Francis solicited data, assisted in data cleaning, performed analyses, and revised manuscript.

There is no ethical statement for this study.

Table 4.1:

Rankings among models with and without spatial correlation structure and offsets to account for variation in number of sentinel chickens surveyed. All models contained the following fixed effects: 2nd order polynomial terms for mean temperature of the previous month and natural log of ALAN, plus human footprint index, human population density, percent impervious surface, monthly total precipitation, monthly soil moisture and year.

| Model | logLik | AIC | DAIC |
|-------------------------|----------|----------|-------|
| Spatial | -727.492 | 1492.984 | 0.000 |
| Non spatial | -729.800 | 1493.601 | 0.617 |
| Non spatial with offset | -729.939 | 1493.878 | 0.895 |
| Spatial with offset | -729.272 | 1496.543 | 3.560 |

Table 4.2:

Sensitivity analysis of polynomial effects on WNV exposure. Rankings among models where anthropogenic predictors and mean temperature of the previous month were modeled with linear or polynomial effects. All models contained the following fixed effects: mean temperature of the previous month (temp), natural log of ALAN, human footprint index (hum foot), human population density (pop den), percent impervious surface (imp sur), monthly total precipitation, monthly soil moisture, and year. For each model, all predictors remained in each iteration of the model and we denote which parameters were included as polynomial effects with "poly". "All linear" reflects a model with no polynomial terms. "poly ALAN * poly temp" reflects the *post hoc* analysis of adding an interaction to the top ranked model in Table 4.1. All models were spatially explicit and did not contain an offset (i.e., such as top ranked model from Table 4.1).

| Model | logLik | AIC | ΔAIC | cAIC | dAIC |
|--------------------------|----------|----------|--------|----------|---------|
| poly ALAN, poly temp | -727.492 | 1492.981 | 0.000 | 1460.880 | 1466.98 |
| poly temp | -730.790 | 1497.580 | 4.596 | 1463.940 | 1473.58 |
| poly pop den; poly temp | -730.753 | 1499.506 | 6.522 | 1465.320 | 1473.51 |
| poly imp sur; poly temp | -730.754 | 1499.508 | 6.524 | 1465.544 | 1473.51 |
| poly hum foot; poly temp | -730.781 | 1499.561 | 6.577 | 1465.450 | 1473.57 |
| poly ALAN | -736.806 | 1509.611 | 16.627 | 1478.040 | 1485.61 |
| all linear | -740.050 | 1514.100 | 21.116 | 1481.260 | 1492.11 |
| poly ALAN * poly temp | -727.272 | 1500.545 | 7.564 | 1468.182 | 1466.54 |



Figure 4.1:

Sentinel chicken sampling locations (white circles) throughout Florida overlaid on the artificial component of night sky brightness in radiance (μ cd/m²) estimates from Falchi et al. (Falchi et al. 2016).



Figure 4.2:

Effect sizes of (A) ALAN and urbanization, and (B) temperature and weather variables on West Nile virus risk. Standardized effect sizes (square points) and 95% CI (lines) for (A) anthropogenic and (B) weather-related variables from top ranked model in Table 4.1. Natural log of ALAN and ALAN² in radiance (μ cd/m²) had the largest effects on WNV risk compared to urbanization parameters, whereas mean temperature and mean temperature² of the prior month had the largest effect sizes compared to precipitation and soil moisture variables. Variables are natural log transformed to account for the extreme values in the distribution of data.





Interannual effects of (A) ALAN, (B) human population density per km², (C) mean temperature of the previous month in degrees Celsius, and (D) monthly total precipitation (mm) on incidence of WNV seroprevalence. Marginal effects of each plotted by year with 95% CI band. Darkest color denotes earliest year (i.e., 2015) with lighter colors denoting subsequent years. Effects of ALAN (anthropogenic component of night sky brightness in radiance (µcd/m²), human population density, temperature, and precipitation on WNV exposure were consistent across 5 years.

CONCLUSION

Through my dissertation research, I have started to uncover the effects of ALAN on WNV disease dynamics. Ultimately, light pollution was often overlooked when considering urban stressors, but has gained much attention over recent years. Here, I expanded upon the current knowledge about ALAN, immunity, and impacts on wildlife by considering the many points at which ALAN could affect vector-transmitted pathogens, and then asking whether ALAN affects the ability of house sparrows to cope with WNV, whether ALAN spectral composition affects coping ability, and whether these effects of ALAN on host competence observed in the lab translate ecologically (Kernbach et al. 2018a, 2019, 2020). Through these studies, I found that even modest levels of ALAN do affect the ability of individuals to resist and tolerate infection (Kernbach et al. 2019). Further, I found that these effects could potentially be resolved by altering spectral composition of ALAN (Kernbach et al. 2020). Lastly, I found that ALAN is one of the best predictors of WNV exposure risk in across Florida. Below, I consider the consequences of these studies and areas for future study.

The centerpiece of ALAN effects on WNV dynamics tends to hinge on circadian dysregulation and the mismatch of organisms with their environments. Previously, many studies have found that physiological mismatch with an organisms (Lof et al. 2012; Walker et al. 2019). Here, the mismatch of organisms with the correct time of day resulting from masking or incorrect light cues leads to false or dysregulated physiology. For example, fluctuation of immune cells throughout the day coordinated with relative risk of infection can become out of synch with consequences for host competence and spillover (Westermark et al. 2009; Lange et

al. 2010). Hormonal fluctuations throughout the day such as glucocorticoids with the onset of activity or melatonin with sleep/wake cycles are important to synchronizing organismal functions with environmental demands (Dickmeis 2009; Pevet and Challet 2011). When glucocorticoids and melatonin are dysregulated, the coordinated timing of activity and sleep/wake cycles will follow. Subsequently, the ability of a host or vector to combat infection pivots on environmental mismatch, ultimately generating consequences for disease dynamics.

Effects of ALAN on host immune responses to WNV were not altogether surprising but provide new insights into how environmental stressors may impact that ability of wildlife to battle infection. Many other stressors, including forest fragmentation, resource limitation, and habitat loss all affect host health, including immunity (Aguirre and Tabor 2008). Given that ALAN also affects wildlife health, it is important to consider whether urban expansion should occur in certain areas, and if existing effects of urban areas might be mitigated through the installation of new lighting. City planners and urban developers should collaborate with ecologists and wildlife physiologists in the future to determine whether certain aspects of development are acceptable in various regions (Murray et al. 2019). For example, building brightly illuminated agricultural facilities along the edge of forests that are home to species that harbor infectious diseases would likely generate many negative consequences for both wild organisms and the people that reside nearby if spillover occurs (Weaver 2013). Some of these species include bats or flying foxes, mice or related rodents, and corvids or other birds that harbor diseases that spill over to humans (Allan et al. 2003; Luniak 2004; Ferraguti et al. 2016). A proper assessment of species presence and disturbance level, including extent of light pollution, should be incorporated in further urbanization plans.

As mentioned previously, altering the spectral composition of light pollution is also an alternative that requires further consideration. As many organisms are most sensitive to shortwavelength light, reducing blue-hues in outdoor lighting technologies might prevent effects of ALAN on wildlife (Gaston et al. 2012). However, it is important to note that amber-hue ALAN is not without effect on sparrows, as I found here (Kernbach et al. 2020). While amber-hue ALAN enhanced viral resistance, which is beneficial to both bird and community, it is still unknown whether this also alters behavior or other physiological functions that might affect host competence in other ways (Wonham et al. 2004). Additionally, it is important to consider that not all organisms in the environment are uniform in visual spectral sensitivity (Osorio and Vorobyev 2008). Insect species respond differently to various spectral compositions of ALAN, which in turn affects their behavior and predation risk (Eisenbeis and Hassel 2011; Pawson and Bader 2014). While I emphasize that more work on this front must be completed to determine whether amber-hue lights at night are "safer", I must also stress that the current switch to more energy-efficient lighting provides a unique opportunity to alter spectral composition at little to no additional cost.

Given that ALAN affects WNV exposure risk across Florida, further arbovirus control efforts should take ALAN intensity into account. Focusing vector control efforts in areas of low to moderate ALAN intensities may prevent community transmission in these areas, thus preventing spillover ("Mosquito-Borne Disease Surveillance" 2020). Additionally, more surveillance in these areas should provide insights on why low to moderate ALAN increases exposure risk. Perhaps fine-scale lights in these areas draw in mosquitoes closer to suburban communities, thus exposing more sentinel chickens and people to WNV (Frank 1988; Eisenbeis and Hassel 2011). Alternatively, bright light at night may generate similar effects, but at certain

intensities renders mosquitoes vulnerable to predation, thus decreasing exposure risk where mosquitoes have low odds of survival (Spoelstra et al. 2017). Therefore, mosquito control efforts should also adjust their focus based on light pollution intensity in the future.

Ultimately, much work is to be done to fully understand how ALAN affects arbovirus dynamics. For example, it is unknown whether ALAN affects host-vector interactions, which is considered and heavily weighted in the WNV disease model (Woolhouse et al. 1997; Wonham et al. 2004). Biting rate could be affected by ALAN in two ways: hosts may be better able to reduce biting rate with increased visibility in light polluted areas and therefore kill more mosquitoes that are attempting to take a bloodmeal (Prugh and Golden 2014). On the other hand, metabolic dysregulation generated by light at night exposure in hosts may increase carbon dioxide emissions at night, known to attract mosquitoes (Allan et al. 2006; Dominoni et al. 2016). Along the same lines, the probability that a host or a vector is infected by a bite is considered in the WNV outbreak potential model, both of which could be affected by ALAN if hosts and vectors both experience dysregulated immune defenses early after exposure (Wonham et al. 2004; Bedrosian et al. 2011). Lastly, infection-induced and background mortality have an effect on whether WNV transmission is sustained in a population (Wonham et al. 2004). While these metrics seem trivial to measure, this phenomenon is not easily observed in nature. Even though infection-induced mortality can be observed in the laboratory, it is hard to determine whether individuals experience increased risk of mortality under natural conditions, with limited food availability and limited protection from predators. Additionally, observing natural background mortality rates of birds and mosquitoes in areas with different light pollution intensities is a large and laborious study, this metric is more attainable than the former. Therefore, I advocate that more metrics that contribute to transmission potential are considered in the future.

Consequences of light pollution on spillover to humans should also be considered in the future. Above, I considered the ways in which ALAN exposure likely affects other R₀ terms, with consequences for transmission among birds and mosquitoes (Wonham et al. 2004). This is however applicable to transmission to humans in the vicinity as well. While I found through my research that light pollution affects wildlife host infection responses, it is likely that similar intensities of ALAN exposure generate physiological consequences for humans, thus suppressing their antiviral responses as well (Kernbach et al. 2019). Additionally, two common WNV vector species (*Culex pipiens* and *Culex quinquefasciatus*) reside within close proximity of humans, which could increase further with human-affiliated light pollution and vector flight-to-light behavior (Eisenbeis and Hassel 2011; Farajollahi et al. 2011). Lastly, although humans are deadend hosts of WNV, no research has yet asked whether light at night affects the ability of humans to limit viral replication, thus raising into question whether humans are actually dead end hosts of WNV under certain contexts (Higgs et al. 2005).

Importantly, there are many implications of my research for public health and human disease. Research first investigating the negative effects of ALAN occurred in the biomedical field, but to date no research on the effects of ALAN on communicable disease in humans has been conducted (Navara and Nelson 2007). However, there are likely effects of ALAN on communicable disease in humans that have yet to be uncovered. First, there's much evidence that exposure to short-wavelength light at night suppresses melatonin secretion (Brainard et al. 1988b). Additionally, humans are known to experience chronological disruption when exposed to light at night, dysregulating their body's natural rhythms (Reiter et al. 2011). Further, work in night shift workers found that individuals exhibit increased incidence of several types of cancer and non-communicable disease (Haim and Zubida 2015; Zubidat and Haim 2017). Various

technologies have taken these effects into consideration by reducing the amount of shortwavelength light emitted by technology at night (Nagare et al. 2019). While no work exploring how these effects relate to communicable disease in humans, light at night clearly affects immunity and daily rhythms enough to cause significant dysregulation of other diseases.

REFERENCES

ADAMOPOULOS S, PONIKOWSKI P, CERQUETANI E, PIEPOLI M, ROSANO G,

- SLEIGHT P, COATS AJS. 1995. Circadian pattern of heart rate variability in chronic heart failure patients Effects of physical training. Eur Heart J 16:1380–86.
- Adelman JS, Mayer C, Hawley DM. 2017. Infection reduces anti-predator behaviors in house finches. J Avian Biol.
- Adelman JS, Moyers SC, Farine DR, Hawley DM. 2015. Feeder use predicts both acquisition and transmission of a contagious pathogen in a North American songbird. Proc R Soc London B Biol Sci 282.
- Agarwal N, Srivastava S, Malik S, Rani S, Kumar V. 2015. Altered light conditions during spring: effects on timing of migration and reproduction in migratory redheaded bunting (Emberiza bruniceps). Biol Rhythm Res 46:647–57.
- Agil A, Rosado I, Ruiz R, Figueroa A, Zen N, Fernández-Vázquez G. 2012. Melatonin improves glucose homeostasis in young Zucker diabetic fatty rats. J Pineal Res 52:203–10.
- Aguirre AA, Tabor GM. 2008. Global factors driving emerging infectious diseases: Impact on wildlife populations. In: Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences p. 1–3.
- Alaasam VJ, Duncan R, Casagrande S, Davies S, Sidher A, Seymoure B, Shen Y, Zhang Y, Ouyang JQ. 2018. Light at night disrupts nocturnal rest and elevates glucocorticoids at cool color temperatures. J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Integr Physiol 329:465–72.

Albrecht U, Sun ZS, Eichele G, Lee CC. 1997. A Differential Response of Two Putative

Mammalian Circadian Regulators, mper1and mper2, to Light. Cell 91:1055–64.

- Ali A, Weaver MS, Cotsenmoyer E. 1989. Effectiveness of Bacillus thuringiensis serovar.
 israelensis (Vectobac 12 AS) and Bacillus sphaericus 2362 (ABG-6232) against Culex spp.
 Mosquitoes in a Dairy Lagoon in Central Florida. Florida Entomol 72:585–91.
- Allan BF, Keesing F, Ostfeld RS. 2003. Effect of forest fragmentation on lyme disease risk. Conserv Biol 17:267–72.
- Allan SA, Bernier UR, Kline DL. 2006. Laboratory evaluation of avian odors for mosquito (Diptera: Culicidae) attraction. J Med Entomol 43:225–31.
- Anders S, Pyl PT, Huber W. 2015. HTSeq-A Python framework to work with high-throughput sequencing data. Bioinformatics.
- Apperson CS, Harrison BA, Unnasch TR, Hassan HK, Irby WS, Savage HM, Aspen SE, Watson DW, Rueda LM, Engber BR, Nasci RS. 2002. Host-feeding habits of Culex and other mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in the borough of queens in New York City, with characters and techniques for identification of Culex mosquitoes. J Med Entomol 39:777–85.
- Apperson CS, Hassan HK, Harrison BA, Savage HM, Aspen SE, Farajollahi A, Crans W, Daniels TJ, Falco RC, Benedict M, Anderson M, McMillen L, Unnasch TR. 2004a. Host feeding patterns of established and potential mosquito vectors of West Nile virus in the Eastern United States. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis 4:71–82.
- Apperson CS, Hassan HK, Harrison BA, Savage HM, Aspen SE, Farajollahi A, Crans W, Daniels TJ, Falco RC, Benedict M, Anderson M, McMillen L, Unnasch TR. 2004b. Host feeding patterns of established and potential mosquito vectors of West Nile virus in the Eastern United States. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis 4:71–82.

- Araujo RV, Albertini MR, Costa-da-Silva AL, Suesdek L, Franceschi NCS, Bastos NM, Katz G, Cardoso VA, Castro BC, Capurro ML, Allegro VLAC. 2015. São Paulo urban heat islands have a higher incidence of dengue than other urban areas. Brazilian J Infect Dis.
- Arble DM, Bass J, Laposky AD, Vitaterna MH, Turek FW. 2012. Circadian Timing of Food Intake Contributes to Weight Gain. Obesity 17:2100–2102.
- Aronson BD, Bell-Pedersen D, Block GD, Bos NPA, Dunlap JC, Eskin A, Garceau NY, Geusz ME, Johnson KA, Khalsa SBS, Hoffen GCK-V, Koumenis C, Lee TM, LeSauter J, Lindgren KM, Liu Q, Loros JJ, Michel SH, Mirmiran M, Moore RY, Ruby NF, Silver R, Turek FW, Zatz M, Zucker I. 1993. Circadian rhythms. Brain Res Rev 18:315–33.
- Aschoff J. 1966. Circadian Activity Pattern with Two Peaks. Ecology 47:657–62.
- Aubrecht, C., Jaiteh, M., & De Sherbinin A. 2010. Global assessment of light pollution impact on protected areas., Columbia University, New York.

Babior BM. 2000. Phagocytes and oxidative stress. Am J Med.

- Balsalobre A, Damiola F, Schibler U. 1998. A Serum Shock Induces Circadian Gene Expression in Mammalian Tissue Culture Cells. Cell 93:929–37.
- Ban JY, Kim BS, Kim SC, Kim DH, Chung J-H. 2011. Microarray Analysis of Gene Expression
 Profiles in Response to Treatment with Melatonin in Lipopolysaccharide Activated RAW
 264.7 Cells. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 15:23–29.
- Barghini A, de Medeiros BAS. 2010. Artificial lighting as a vector attractant and cause of disease diffusion. Environ Health Perspect.
- Barron D, Gervasi S, Pruitt J, Martin L. 2015. Behavioral competence: how host behaviors can interact to influence parasite transmission risk. Curr Opin Behav Sci 6:35–40.

Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker BM, Walker SC. 2015. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using

lme4. J Stat Softw 67:1–48.

- Becker D, Ketterson E. 2020. Artificial light at night amplifies seasonal relapse of haemosporidian parasites in a widespread songbird. bioRxiv.
- Becker DJ, Hall RJ. 2014. Too much of a good thing: Resource provisioning alters infectious disease dynamics in wildlife. Biol Lett 10.
- Bedrosian TA, Fonken LK, Walton JC, Nelson RJ. 2011. Chronic exposure to dim light at night suppresses immune responses in Siberian hamsters. Biol Lett 7:468–71.
- Begon M, Bennett M, Bowers RG, French NP, Hazel SM, Turner J. 2002. A clarification of transmission terms in host-microparasite models: Numbers, densities and areas. Epidemiol Infect.
- Bell-Pedersen D, Cassone VM, Earnest DJ, Golden SS, Hardin PE, Thomas TL, Zoran MJ. 2005a. Circadian rhythms from multiple oscillators: lessons from diverse organisms. Nat Rev Genet 6:544.
- Bell-Pedersen D, Cassone VM, Earnest DJ, Golden SS, Hardin PE, Thomas TL, Zoran MJ. 2005b. Circadian rhythms from multiple oscillators: Lessons from diverse organisms. Nat Rev Genet 6:544–56.
- Ben-Nathan D, Maestroni GJM, Lustig S, Conti A. 1995. Protective effects of melatonin in mice infected with encephalitis viruses. Arch Virol 140:223–30.
- Binder S, Levitt AM, Sacks JJ, Hughes JM. 1999. Emerging infectious diseases: Public health issues for the 21st century. Science (80-).
- Binkley SA, Riebman JB, Reilly KB. 1978. The pineal gland: a biological clock in vitro. Science (80-) 202:1120–98.
- Biron CA. 1998. Role of early cytokines, including alpha and beta interferons (IFN- α/β), in

innate and adaptive immune responses to viral infections. Semin Immunol 10:383–90.

- Blackmore CGM, Stark LM, Jeter WC, Oliveri RL, Brooks RG, Conti LA, Wiersma ST. 2003. Surveillance results from the first West Nile virus transmission season in Florida, 2001. Am J Trop Med Hyg 69:141–50.
- Blair RB. 1996. Land use and avian species diversity along an urban gradient. Ecol Appl 6:506–19.
- Blask DE, Dauchy RT, Sauer LA, Krause JA, Brainard GC. 2002. Light during darkness, melatonin suppression and cancer progression. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 23 Suppl 2:52—56.
- Boga JA, Coto-Montes A, Rosales-Corral SA, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. 2012. Beneficial actions of melatonin in the management of viral infections: A new use for this "molecular handyman"? Rev Med Virol 22:323–38.
- Bolling BG, Barker CM, Moore CG, Pape WJ, Eisen L. 2009. Seasonal Patterns for
 Entomological Measures of Risk for Exposure to Culex Vectors and West Nile Virus in
 Relation to Human Disease Cases in Northeastern Colorado . J Med Entomol 46:1519–31.
- Bollinger T, Bollinger A, Naujoks J, Lange T, Solbach W. 2010. The influence of regulatory T cells and diurnal hormone rhythms on T helper cell activity. Immunology 131:488–500.
- Bonilla E, Valero-Fuenmayor N, Pons H, Chacín-Bonilla L. 1997. Melatonin protects mice infected with Venezuelan equine encephalomyelitis virus. Cell Mol Life Sci 53:430–34.
- Bonilla E, Valero N, Chacín-Bonilla L, Medina-Leendertz S. 2004a. Melatonin and viral infections. J Pineal Res 36:73–79.
- Bonilla E, Valero N, Chacín-Bonilla L, Medina-Leendertz S. 2004b. Melatonin and viral infections. J Pineal Res.

Bonneaud C, Balenger SL, Hill GE, Russell AF. 2012. Experimental evidence for distinct costs

of pathogenesis and immunity against a natural pathogen in a wild bird. Mol Ecol.

- Borniger JC, McHenry ZD, Abi Salloum BA, Nelson RJ. 2014. Exposure to dim light at night during early development increases adult anxiety-like responses. Physiol Behav 133:99–106.
- Boscolo P, Youinou P, Theoharides TC, Cerulli G, Conti P. 2008. Environmental and occupational stress and autoimmunity. Autoimmun Rev 7:340–43.
- Boyce P. 2003. Human Factors in Lighting, Second Edition, Human Factors in Lighting, Second Edition.
- Bradley CA, Altizer S. 2007a. Urbanization and the ecology of wildlife diseases. Trends Ecol Evol 22:95–102.
- Bradley CA, Altizer S. 2007b. Urbanization and the ecology of wildlife diseases. Trends Ecol Evol.
- Bradley CA, Gibbs SEJ, Altizer S. 2008. Urban land use predicts west Nile virus exposure in songbirds. Ecol Appl 18:1083–92.
- Brainard GC, Lewy AJ, Menaker M, Fredrickson RH, Miller LS, Weleber RG, Cassone V,Hudson D. 1988a. Dose-response relationship between light irradiance and the suppression of plasma melatonin in human volunteers. Brain Res.
- Brainard GC, Lewy AJ, Menaker M, Fredrickson RH, Miller LS, Weleber RG, Cassone V,
 Hudson D. 1988b. Dose-response relationship between light irradiance and the suppression of plasma melatonin in human volunteers. Brain Res 454:212–18.
- Brandstätter R, Abraham U, Albrecht U. 2001. Initial demonstration of rhythmic Per gene expression in the hypothalamus of a non-mammalian vertebrate, the house sparrow. Neuroreport 12:1167–70.

- Brearley G, Rhodes J, Bradley A, Baxter G, Seabrook L, Lunney D, Liu Y, Mcalpine C. 2013. Wildlife disease prevalence in human-modified landscapes. Biol Rev 88:427–42.
- Breuner CW, Wingfield JC, Romero LM. 1999. Diel rhythms of basal and stress-induced corticosterone in a wild, seasonal vertebrate, Gambel's white-crowned sparrow. J Exp Zool 284:334–42.
- Brien JD, Lazear HM, Diamond MS. 2013. Propagation, quantification, detection, and storage of west nile virus. Curr Protoc Microbiol.
- Bunger MK, Wilsbacher LD, Moran SM, Clendenin C, Radcliffe LA, Hogenesch JB, Simon MC, Takahashi JS, Bradfield CA. 2000. Mop3 Is an Essential Component of the Master Circadian Pacemaker in Mammals. Cell 103:1009–17.
- Burgan SC, Gervasi SS, Johnson LR, Martin LB. 2019. How individual variation in host tolerance affects competence to transmit parasites. Physiol Biochem Zool.
- Burgan SC, Gervasi SS, Martin LB. 2018. Parasite Tolerance and Host Competence in Avian Host Defense to West Nile Virus. Ecohealth 15:360–71.
- Bustamante-Calabria M, Sánchez De Miguel A, Martín-Ruiz S, Ortiz JL, Vílchez JM, Pelegrina A, García A, Zamorano J, Bennie J, Gaston KJ. 2020. Effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on urban light emissions: ground and satellite comparison.
- Cajochen C, Münch M, Kobialka S, Kräuchi K, Steiner R, Oelhafen P, Orgül S, Wirz-Justice A. 2005. High sensitivity of human melatonin, alertness, thermoregulation, and heart rate to short wavelength light. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 90:1311–16.
- Calisher CH, Childs JE, Field HE, Holmes K V., Schountz T. 2006. Bats: Important reservoir hosts of emerging viruses. Clin Microbiol Rev.

Campbell GL, Marfin AA, Lanciotti RS, Gubler DJ. 2002. West Nile virus. Lancet Infect Dis

2:519–29.

- Carrillo-Vico A, Guerrero JM, Lardone PJ, Reiter RJ. 2005. A review of the multiple actions of melatonin on the immune system. Endocrine 27:189–200.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Lardone PJ, Álvarez-Sánchez N, Rodríguez-Rodríguez A, Guerrero JM. 2013. Melatonin: Buffering the Immune System. Int J Mol Sci 14:8638–83.
- Carrillo-Vico A, Reiter RJ, Lardone PJ, Herrera JL, Fernández-Montesinos R, Guerrero JM, Pozo D. 2006. The modulatory role of melatonin on immune responsiveness. Curr Opin Investig Drugs.
- Cashmore AR, Jarillo JA, Wu YJ, Liu D. 1999. Cryptochromes: Blue light receptors for plants and animals. Science (80-).
- Cassone VM, Paulose JK, Whitfield-Rucker MG, Peters JL. 2009. Time's arrow flies like a bird: Two paradoxes for avian circadian biology. Gen Comp Endocrinol 163:109–16.
- Castanon-Cervantes O, Wu M, Ehlen JC, Paul K, Gamble KL, Johnson RL, Besing RC, Menaker M, Gewirtz AT, Davidson AJ. 2010. Dysregulation of Inflammatory Responses by Chronic Circadian Disruption. J Immunol 185:5796–5805.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017. Preliminary Maps & 2016 | West Nile Virus | CDCJanuary 17.

(https://www.cdc.gov/westnile/statsmaps/preliminarymapsdata/index.html).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2018. West Nile virus. (https://www.cdc.gov/westnile/index.html).

Cermakian N, Lange T, Golombek D, Sarkar D, Nakao A, Shibata S, Mazzoccoli G. 2013. Crosstalk between the circadian clock circuitry and the immune system. Chronobiol Int.

Chace JF, Walsh JJ. 2006. Urban effects on native avifauna: A review. In: Landscape and Urban

Planning p. 46–69.

- Chamberlain DE, Toms MP, Cleary-McHarg R, Banks AN. 2007. House sparrow (Passer domesticus) habitat use in urbanized landscapes. J Ornithol.
- Chancey C, Grinev A, Volkova E, Rios M. 2015. The global ecology and epidemiology of west nile virus. Biomed Res Int.
- Chase JM, Knight TM. 2003. Drought-induced mosquito outbreaks in wetlands. Ecol Lett 6:1017–24.
- Chellappa SL, Steiner R, Oelhafen P, Lang D, Götz T, Krebs J, Cajochen C. 2013. Acute exposure to evening blue-enriched light impacts on human sleep. J Sleep Res 22:573–80.
- Chepesiuk R. 2009. Missing the dark: health effects of light pollution. Environ Health Perspect 117:A20-7.
- Choi UY un., Kang JS, Hwang YS ahn., Kim YJ. 2015. Oligoadenylate synthase-like (OASL) proteins: dual functions and associations with diseases. Exp Mol Med.
- Chovatiya R, Medzhitov R. 2014. Stress, Inflammation, and Defense of Homeostasis. Mol Cell 54:281–88.
- Cinzano P, Falchi F, Elvidge CD. 2001. The first World Atlas of the artificial night sky brightness. Mon Not R Astron Soc 328:689–707.
- Cissé YM, Russart KLG, Nelson RJ. 2017. Parental Exposure to Dim Light at Night Prior to Mating Alters Offspring Adaptive Immunity. Sci Rep 7.
- Claustrat B, Brun J, Chazot G. 2005. The basic physiology and pathophysiology of melatonin. Sleep Med Rev 9:11–24.
- Cochran WW, Mouritsen H, Wikelski M. 2004. Migrating Songbirds Recalibrate Their Magnetic Compass Daily from Twilight Cues. Science (80-) 304:405–8.

- Coon CAC, Warne RW, Martin LB. 2011. Acute-phase responses vary with pathogen identity in house sparrows (Passer domesticus). AJP Regul Integr Comp Physiol.
- Crowley TJ, North GR. 1988. Abrupt Climate Change and Extinction Events in Earth History. Science (80-) 240:996–1002.
- Daly M, Behrends PR, Wilson MI, Jacobs LF. 1992. Behavioural modulation of predation risk: moonlight avoidance and crepuscular compensation in a nocturnal desert rodent, Dipodomys merriami. Anim Behav 44:1–9.
- Das N, Entekhabi D, Kim S, Yueh S, Dunbar RS, Colliander A. 2017. SMAP/Sentinel-1 L2 Radiometer/Radar 30-Second Scene 3 km EASE-Grid Soil Moisture, Version 1 Boulder, Colorado USA.
- David MR, Ribeiro GS, de Freitas RM. 2012. Bionomics of Culex quinquefasciatus within urban areas of Rio de Janeiro, Southeastern Brazil. Rev Saude Publica.
- Davies TW, Smyth T. 2018. Why artificial light at night should be a focus for global change research in the 21st century. Glob Chang Biol.
- Day JF, Lewis AL. 1991. An integrated approach to arboviral surveillance in Indian River County, Florida. J Florida Mosq Control Assoc.
- Day JF, Tabachnick WJ, Smartt CT. 2015. Factors that Influence the Transmission of West Nile Virus in Florida. J Med Entomol.
- DeGroote JP, Sugumaran R. 2012. National and regional associations between human West Nile virus incidence and demographic, landscape, and land use conditions in the coterminous United States. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis 12:657–65.
- Dhondt AA, Altizer S, Cooch EG, Davis AK, Dobson A, Driscoll MJL, Hartup BK, Hawley DM, Hochachka WM, Hosseini PR, Jennelle CS, Kollias G V., Ley DH, Swarthout ECH,

Sydenstricker K V. 2005. Dynamics of a novel pathogen in an avian host: Mycoplasmal conjunctivitis in house finches. Acta Trop.

Dickmeis T. 2009. Glucocorticoids and the circadian clock. J Endocrinol.

- Dimovski AM, Robert KA. 2018. Artificial light pollution: Shifting spectral wavelengths to mitigate physiological and health consequences in a nocturnal marsupial mammal. J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Integr Physiol.
- Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, Drenkow J, Zaleski C, Jha S, Batut P, Chaisson M, Gingeras TR. 2013. STAR: Ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics.
- Dobson A. 2009. Climate variability, global change, immunity, and the dynamics of infectious diseases. Ecology.
- Dominoni D, Quetting M, Partecke J. 2013a. Artificial light at night advances avian reproductive physiology. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 280:20123017–20123017.
- Dominoni D, Quetting M, Partecke J. 2013b. Artificial light at night advances avian reproductive physiology. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.
- Dominoni DM. 2015. The effects of light pollution on biological rhythms of birds: an integrated, mechanistic perspective. J Ornithol.
- Dominoni DM, Borniger JC, Nelson RJ. 2016. Light at night, clocks and health: From humans to wild organisms. Biol Lett 12.
- Dominoni DM, Carmona-Wagner EO, Hofmann M, Kranstauber B, Partecke J. 2014. Individualbased measurements of light intensity provide new insights into the effects of artificial light at night on daily rhythms of urban-dwelling songbirds. J Anim Ecol 83:681–92.
- Dominoni DM, Halfwerk W, Baird E, Buxton RT, Fernández-Juricic E, Fristrup KM, McKenna MF, Mennitt DJ, Perkin EK, Seymoure BM, Stoner DC, Tennessen JB, Toth CA, Tyrrell

LP, Wilson A, Francis CD, Carter NH, Barber JR. 2020. Why conservation biology can benefit from sensory ecology. Nat Ecol Evol 4:502–11.

- Donners M, van Grunsven RHA, Groenendijk D, van Langevelde F, Bikker JW, Longcore T, Veenendaal E. 2018. Colors of attraction: Modeling insect flight to light behavior. J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Integr Physiol.
- Dowell SF. 2001. Seasonal variation in host susceptibility and cycles of certain infectious diseases. Emerg Infect Dis 7:369–74.
- Duong TM, Mccauley SJ. 2016. Predation risk increases immune response in a larval dragonfly (Leucorrhinia intacta). Ecology 97:1605–10.
- Dwyer RG, Bearhop S, Campbell HA, Bryant DM. 2013. Shedding light on light: Benefits of anthropogenic illumination to a nocturnally foraging shorebird. J Anim Ecol 82:478–85.
- Eden E, Navon R, Steinfeld I, Lipson D, Yakhini Z. 2009. GOrilla: A tool for discovery and visualization of enriched GO terms in ranked gene lists. BMC Bioinformatics.
- Eisenbeis G, Hassel F. 2011. Attraction of nocturnal insects to street lights lighting systems, with considerations of LEDs. Natur und Landschaft.
- Ekmekcioglu C, Haslmayer P, Philipp C, Mehrabi MR, Glogar HD, Grimm M, Leibetseder VJ, Thalhammer T, Marktl W. 2001. EXPRESSION OF THE MT1 MELATONIN RECEPTOR SUBTYPE IN HUMAN CORONARY ARTERIES. J Recept Signal Transduct 21:85–91.
- Elvidge CD, Keith DM, Tuttle BT, Baugh KE. 2010. Spectral Identification of Lighting Type and Character. Sensors 10:3961–88.
- Esposito E, Mazzon E, Riccardi L, Caminiti R, Meli R, Cuzzocrea S. 2008. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 and metalloproteinase-2 activity and expression is reduced by melatonin during experimental colitis. J Pineal Res 45:166–73.

- Esquifino AI, Pandi-Perumal SR, Cardinali DP. 2004. Circadian organization of the immune response: A role for melatonin. Clin Appl Immunol Rev 4:423–33.
- Estrada-Peña A, Ostfeld RS, Peterson AT, Poulin R, de la Fuente J. 2014. Effects of environmental change on zoonotic disease risk: An ecological primer. Trends Parasitol.
- Evans BS, Ryder TB, Reitsma R, Hurlbert AH, Marra PP. 2015. Characterizing avian survival along a rural-to-urban land use gradient. Ecology 96:1631–40.
- Evans KL, Gaston KJ, Sharp SP, McGowan A, Simeoni M, Hatchwell BJ. 2009. Effects of urbanisation on disease prevalence and age structure in blackbird Turdus merula populations. Oikos 118:774–82.
- Ezenwa VO, Godsey MS, King RJ, Guptill SC. 2006a. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: Testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci.
- Ezenwa VO, Godsey MS, King RJ, Guptill SC. 2006b. Avian diversity and West Nile virus: testing associations between biodiversity and infectious disease risk. Proceedings Biol Sci 273:109–17.
- F. Dormann C, M. McPherson J, B. Araújo M, Bivand R, Bolliger J, Carl G, G. Davies R, Hirzel A, Jetz W, Daniel Kissling W, Kühn I, Ohlemüller R, R. Peres-Neto P, Reineking B, Schröder B, M. Schurr F, Wilson R. 2007. Methods to account for spatial autocorrelation in the analysis of species distributional data: A review. Ecography (Cop).
- Falchi F, Cinzano P, Duriscoe D, Kyba CCM, Elvidge CD, Baugh K, Portnov BA, Rybnikova NA, Furgoni R. 2016. The new world atlas of artificial night sky brightness. Sci Adv 2.
- Falchi F, Cinzano P, Elvidge CD, Keith DM, Haim A. 2011. Limiting the impact of light pollution on human health, environment and stellar visibility. J Environ Manage 92:2714–

22.

- Fallows C, Fallows M, Hammerschlag N. 2016. Effects of lunar phase on predator-prey interactions between white shark (Carcharodon carcharias) and Cape fur seals (Arctocephalus pusillus pusillus). Environ Biol Fishes 99:805–12.
- Farajollahi A, Fonseca DM, Kramer LD, Marm Kilpatrick A. 2011. "Bird biting" mosquitoes and human disease: A review of the role of Culex pipiens complex mosquitoes in epidemiology. Infect Genet Evol.
- Ferenc KA, Leonard KM. 2008. The new red light district: Field testing new lighting technology and light management techniques in Sarasota County, Florida. NOAA Tech Memo NMFS SEFSC 83.
- Ferraguti M, Martínez-De La Puente J, Roiz D, Ruiz S, Soriguer R, Figuerola J. 2016. Effects of landscape anthropization on mosquito community composition and abundance. Sci Rep.
- Figueiro MG, Wood B, Plitnick B, Rea MS. 2011. The impact of light from computer monitors on melatonin levels in college students. Neuroendocrinol Lett 32:158–63.
- Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission. 2019. Certified Wildlife LightingState of Florida. (https://myfwc.com/conservation/you-conserve/lighting/criteria/certified/).
- Fonken LK, Nelson RJ. 2011. Illuminating the deleterious effects of light at night. F1000 Med Rep 3.
- Fonken LK, Nelson RJ. 2014. The Effects of Light at Night on Circadian Clocks and Metabolism. Endocr Rev 35:648–70.
- Fonken LK, Weil ZM, Nelson RJ. 2013. Mice exposed to dim light at night exaggerate inflammatory responses to lipopolysaccharide. Brain Behav Immun 34:159–63.

Fonken LK, Workman JL, Walton JC, Weil ZM, Morris JS, Haim A, Nelson RJ. 2010. Light at

night increases body mass by shifting the time of food intake. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:18664–69.

Fox, John & Weisberg S. 2011. An R Companion to Applied Regression. .

Frank K. 1988. Impact of outdoor lighting on moths: an assessment. J Lepid Soc.

- Gaitan J, Millien V. 2016. Stress level, parasite load, and movement pattern in a small-mammal reservoir host for lyme disease. Can J Zool 94:565–73.
- Galano A, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. 2011. Melatonin as a natural ally against oxidative stress: A physicochemical examination. J Pineal Res.
- Galley HF, Lowes DA, Allen L, Cameron G, Aucott LS, Webster NR. 2014. Melatonin as a potential therapy for sepsis: A phase i dose escalation study and an ex vivo whole blood model under conditions of sepsis. J Pineal Res 56:427–38.
- Gangoso L, Aragonés D, Martínez-de la Puente J, Lucientes J, Delacour-Estrella S, Estrada Peña R, Montalvo T, Bueno-Marí R, Bravo-Barriga D, Frontera EM, Marqués E, Ruiz-Arrondo I, Muñoz A, Oteo JA, Miranda MA, Barceló C, Arias Vázquez MS, Silva-Torres MI, Ferraguti M, Magallanes S, Muriel J, Marzal A, Aranda C, Ruiz S, González MA, Morchón R, Gómez-Barroso D, Figuerola J. 2020. Determinants of the current and future distribution of the West Nile virus mosquito vector Culex pipiens in Spain. Environ Res 109837.
- Gaston KJ, Bennie J, Davies TW, Hopkins J. 2013a. The ecological impacts of nighttime light pollution: A mechanistic appraisal. Biol Rev 88:912–27.
- Gaston KJ, Bennie J, Davies TW, Hopkins J. 2013b. The ecological impacts of nighttime light pollution: A mechanistic appraisal. Biol Rev 88:912–27.
- Gaston KJ, Davies TW, Bennie J, Hopkins J. 2012. Reducing the ecological consequences of night-time light pollution: Options and developments. J Appl Ecol 49:1256–66.

- Gervasi SS, Burgan SC, Hofmeister E, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2017. Stress hormones predict a host superspreader phenotype in the west nile virus system. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284.
- Gervasi SS, Burkett-Cadena N, Burgan SC, Schrey AW, Hassan HK, Unnasch TR, Martin LB.2016. Host stress hormones alter vector feeding preferences, success, and productivity. ProcR Soc B Biol Sci 283:20161278.
- Gervasi SS, Civitello DJ, Kilvitis HJ, Martin LB. 2015. The context of host competence: a role for plasticity in host–parasite dynamics. Trends Parasitol 31:419–25.
- Gibbs DSEJ, Wimberly MC, Madden M, Masour J, Yabsley MJ, Stallknecht DE. 2006a. FactorsAffecting the Geographic Distribution of West Nile Virus in Georgia, USA: 2002–2004.Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis 6:73–82.
- Gibbs SEJ, Wimberly MC, Madden M, Masour J, Yabsley MJ, Stallknecht DE. 2006b. Factors affecting the geographic distribution of West Nile virus in Georgia, USA: 2002-2004. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.
- Gómez A, Kilpatrick AM, Kramer LD, Dupuis AP, Maffei JG, Goetz SJ, Marra PP, Daszak P, Aguirre AA. 2008. Land use and West Nile virus seroprevalence in wild mammals. Emerg Infect Dis.
- Gooley JJ, Chamberlain K, Smith KA, Khalsa SBS, Rajaratnam SMW, Van Reen E, Zeitzer JM,
 Czeisler CA, Lockley SW. 2011. Exposure to Room Light before Bedtime Suppresses
 Melatonin Onset and Shortens Melatonin Duration in Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab
 96:E463–72.
- Griffith SC, Crino OL, Andrew SC. 2017. Commentary: A Bird in the House: The Challenge of Being Ecologically Relevant in Captivity. Front Ecol Evol.

Guardado P, Olivera A, Rusch HL, Roy M, Martin C, Lejbman N, Lee H, Gill JM. 2016. Altered

gene expression of the innate immune, neuroendocrine, and nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- κ B) systems is associated with posttraumatic stress disorder in military personnel. J Anxiety Disord.

- Gülben K, Özdemir H, Berbero\uglu U, Mersin H, Ýrkin F, Çakýr E, Aksaray S. 2010. Melatonin Modulates the Severity of Taurocholate-Induced Acute Pancreatitis in the Rat. Dig Dis Sci 55:941–46.
- Guo J-T, Hayashi J, Seeger C. 2005. West Nile Virus Inhibits the Signal Transduction Pathway of Alpha Interferon. J Virol.
- Gwinner E, Benzinger I. 1978. Synchronization of a circadian rhythm in pinealectomized European starlings by daily injections of melatonin. J Comp Physiol 127:209–13.
- Ha I Do, Lee Y, MacKenzie G. 2007. Model selection for multi-component frailty models. Stat Med 26:4790–4807.
- Haim A, Zubida AE. 2015. Artificial light at night: Melatonin as a mediator between the environment and epigenome. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.
- Hamer GL, Walker ED, Brawn JD, Loss SR, Ruiz MO, Goldberg TL, Schotthoefer AM, BrownWM, Wheeler E, Kitron UD. 2008. Rapid Amplification of West Nile Virus: The Role ofHatch-Year Birds. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.
- Han BA, Schmidt JP, Bowden SE, Drake JM. 2015. Rodent reservoirs of future zoonotic diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:7039–44.
- Hanson H, Zolik J, Martin L. 2019. House Sparrow (Passer domesticus Linnaeus, 1758). In:Global trends and impacts of alien invasive birds CABI, Wallingford, UK: In Downs, C.T. & Hart, L.A.

Hardeland R, Madrid JA, Tan DX, Reiter RJ. 2012. Melatonin, the circadian multioscillator

system and health: The need for detailed analyses of peripheral melatonin signaling. J Pineal Res 52:139–66.

- Hartig F. 2020. DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical Regression Models. Compr R Arch Netw.
- Hastings MH, Herbert J, Martensz ND, Roberts AC. 1985. Annual Reproductive Rhythms in Mammals: Mechanisms of Light Synchronization. Ann N Y Acad Sci 453:182.
- Hayes EB, Komar N, Nasci RS, Montgomery SP, O'Leary DR, Campbell GL. 2005.Epidemiology and transmission dynamics of West Nile virus disease. Emerg Infect Dis.
- Hebbali A. 2018. olsrr: Tools for Building OLS Regression Models. .
- Hedges SB, Kumar S. 2003. Genomic clocks and evolutionary timescales. Trends Genet.
- Higgs S, Schneider BS, Vanlandingham DL, Klingler KA, Gould EA. 2005. Nonviremic transmission of West Nile virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:8871–74.
- Hing-Sing Yu RJR. 1992. Melatonin Biosynthesis and Metabolism. In: Melatonin: Biosynthesis, Physiological Effects, and Clinical Applications p. 3–4.
- Hoffmann J, Palme R, Eccard JA. 2018. Long-term dim light during nighttime changes activity patterns and space use in experimental small mammal populations. Environ Pollut 238:844–51.
- Hoffmann J, Schirmer A, Eccard JA. 2019. Light pollution affects space use and interaction of two small mammal species irrespective of personality. BMC Ecol 19.
- Homer C, Dewitz J, Yang L, Jin S, Danielson P, Xian G, Coulston J, Herold N, Wickham J,
 Megown K. 2015. Completion of the 2011 national land cover database for the
 conterminous United States Representing a decade of land cover change information.
 Photogramm Eng Remote Sensing.

- Horton KG, Nilsson C, Van Doren BM, La Sorte FA, Dokter AM, Farnsworth A. 2019. Bright lights in the big cities: migratory birds' exposure to artificial light. Front Ecol Environ.
- Horváth G, Kriska G, Malik P, Robertson B. 2009. Polarized light pollution: A new kind of ecological photopollution. Front Ecol Environ 7:317–25.
- Hoyle NP, Seinkmane E, Putker M, Feeney KA, Krogager TP, Chesham JE, Bray LK, Thomas JM, Dunn K, Blaikley J, O'Neill JS. 2017. Circadian actin dynamics drive rhythmic fibroblast mobilization during wound healing. Sci Transl Med.
- Hu W-C. 2013. Sepsis is a syndrome with hyperactivity of TH17-like innate immunity and hypoactivity of adaptive immunity. arXiv Prepr 1–67.
- Hua G, Zhang Q, Fan Z. 2007. Heat shock protein 75 (TRAP1) antagonizes reactive oxygen species generation and protects cells from granzyme M-mediated apoptosis. J Biol Chem 282:20553–60.
- IDA. 2009. International Dark-Sky Association's Practical Guide 1: Introduction to Light Pollution.
- International Dark-Sky Association. 2009. IDA Practical Guide.
- James EA, Gates TJ, LaFond RE, Yamamoto S, Ni C, Mai D, Gersuk VH, O'Brien K, Nguyen QA, Zeitner B, Lanteri MC, Norris PJ, Chaussabel D, Malhotra U, Kwok WW. 2016.
 Neuroinvasive West Nile Infection Elicits Elevated and Atypically Polarized T Cell Responses That Promote a Pathogenic Outcome. PLoS Pathog 12.
- Johnson BJ, Munafo K, Shappell L, Tsipoura N, Robson M, Ehrenfeld J, Sukhdeo MVK. 2012. The roles of mosquito and bird communities on the prevalence of West Nile virus in urban wetland and residential habitats. Urban Ecosyst 15:513–31.

Johnson BJ, Sukhdeo MVK. 2013. Drought-Induced Amplification of Local and Regional West

Nile Virus Infection Rates in New Jersey. J Med Entomol 50:195–204.

Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, Daszak P. 2008. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature.

Kassambara A. 2018. Package ' survminer 'R.

- Keller M, Mazuch J, Abraham U, Eom GD, Herzog ED, Volk H-D, Kramer A, Maier B. 2009. A circadian clock in macrophages controls inflammatory immune responses. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:21407–12.
- Kernbach ME, Cassone VM, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2020. Broad-spectrum light pollution suppresses melatonin and increases West Nile virus–induced mortality in House Sparrows (Passer domesticus). Condor.
- Kernbach ME, Hall RJ, Burkett-Cadena ND, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2018a. Dim light at night: physiological effects and ecological consequences for infectious disease. Integr Comp Biol 58:995–1007.
- Kernbach ME, Hall RJ, Burkett-Cadena ND, Unnasch TR, Martin LB. 2018b. Dim light at night: physiological effects and ecological consequences for infectious disease. Integr Comp Biol.
- Kernbach ME, Newhouse DJ, Miller JM, Hall RJ, Gibbons J, Oberstaller J, Selechnik D, Jiang RHY, Unnasch TR, Balakrishnan CN, Martin LB. 2019. Light pollution increases West Nile virus competence of a ubiquitous passerine reservoir species. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 286:20191051.
- Khan N, Abas N. 2011. Comparative study of energy saving light sources. Renew Sustain Energy Rev.
- Kilpatrick AM. 2011. Globalization, land use, and the invasion of West Nile virus. Science (80-).

- Kilpatrick AM, Daszak P, Jones MJ, Marra PP, Kramer LD. 2006. Host heterogeneity dominates West Nile virus transmission. Proceedings Biol Sci 273:2327–33.
- Kilpatrick AM, Randolph SE. 2012. Drivers, dynamics, and control of emerging vector-borne zoonotic diseases. Lancet.
- Kinsella RJ, Kähäri A, Haider S, Zamora J, Proctor G, Spudich G, Almeida-King J, Staines D, Derwent P, Kerhornou A, Kersey P, Flicek P. 2011. Ensembl BioMarts: A hub for data retrieval across taxonomic space. Database.
- Klein DC, Moore RY. 1979. Pineal N-acetyltransferase and hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase: control by the retinohypothalamic tract and the suprachiasmatic nucleus. Brain Res 174:245–62.
- Kogut MH, Iqbal M, He H, Philbin V, Kaiser P, Smith A. 2005. Expression and function of Tolllike receptors in chicken heterophils. Dev Comp Immunol 29:791–807.
- Komar N, Langevin S, Hinten S, Nemeth N, Edwards E, Hettler D, Davis B, Bowen R, Bunning M. 2003. Experimental Infection of North American Birds with the New York 1999 Strain of West Nile Virus. Emerg Infect Dis 9:311–22.
- Konakchieva R, Kyurkchiev S, Kehayov I, Taushanova P, Kanchev L. 2018. Selective effect of methoxyindoles on the lymphocyte proliferation and melatonin binding to activated human lymphoid cells. J Neuroimmunol 63:125–32.
- Kornmann B, Schaad O, Bujard H, Takahashi JS, Schibler U. 2007. System-Driven and Oscillator-Dependent Circadian Transcription in Mice with a Conditionally Active Liver Clock. PLOS Biol 5:1–11.
- Krebs BL, Anderson TK, Goldberg TL, Hamer GL, Kitron UD, Newman CM, Ruiz MO, Walker ED, Brawn JD. 2014. Host group formation decreases exposure to vector-borne disease: A

field experiment in a 'hotspot' of West Nile virus transmission. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 281.

- Kuci S, Becker J, Veit G, Handretinger R, Attanasio A, Bruchelt G, Treuner J, Niethammer D,Gupta D. 1988. Circadian variations in the immunomodulatory role of the pineal gland.Neuroendocrinol Lett 10:65–79.
- Kyba CCM, Kuester T, De Miguel AS, Baugh K, Jechow A, Hölker F, Bennie J, Elvidge CD, Gaston KJ, Guanter L. 2017. Artificially lit surface of Earth at night increasing in radiance and extent. Sci Adv 3.
- Kyba CCM, Mohar A, Posch T. 2017. How bright is moonlight? Astron Geophys 58:1.31-1.32.
- Lange T, Dimitrov S, Born J. 2010. Effects of sleep and circadian rhythm on the human immune system: Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1193:48–59.
- Langfelder P, Horvath S. 2008. WGCNA: an R package for weighted correlation network analysis. BMC Bioinformatics 9:559.
- Lebl K, Brugger K, Rubel F. 2013. Predicting Culex pipiens/restuans population dynamics by interval lagged weather data. Parasites and Vectors 6.
- Leu, M., Hanser, S., & Knick S. 2008. The Human Footprint in the West: A Large-Scale Analysis of Anthropogenic Impacts. Ecol Appl 18:1119–39.
- Lewanzik D, Voigt CC. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. J Appl Ecol 51:388–94.
- Lewanzik D, Voigt CC, Pocock M. 2014. Artificial light puts ecosystem services of frugivorous bats at risk. J Appl Ecol 51:388–94.
- Lewis SL, Maslin MA. 2015. Defining the Anthropocene. Nature.
- Lewy AJ, Wehr TA, Goodwin FK, Newsome DA, Markey SP. 1980. Light suppresses melatonin secretion in humans. Science (80-) 210:1267–69.
- Liebl AL, Shimizu T, Martin LB. 2013a. Covariation among glucocorticoid regulatory elements varies seasonally in house sparrows. Gen Comp Endocrinol 183:32–37.
- Liebl AL, Shimizu T, Martin LB. 2013b. Covariation among glucocorticoid regulatory elements varies seasonally in house sparrows. Gen Comp Endocrinol 183:32–37.
- Liker A, Papp Z, Bókony V, Lendvai ÁZ. 2008. Lean birds in the city: Body size and condition of house sparrows along the urbanization gradient. J Anim Ecol.
- Lima SL. 1998. Stress and Decision Making under the Risk of Predation: Recent Developments from Behavioral, Reproductive, and Ecological Perspectives. In: Advances in the Study of Behavior p. 215–90.
- Lin XJ, Mei GP, Liu J, Li YL, Zuo D, Liu SJ, Zhao TB, Lin MT. 2011. Therapeutic effects of melatonin on heatstroke-induced multiple organ dysfunction syndrome in rats. J Pineal Res 50:436–44.
- Liu H, Weng Q, Gaines D. 2011. Geographic incidence of human West Nile virus in northern Virginia, USA, in relation to incidence in birds and variations in urban environment. Sci Total Environ 409:4235–41.
- Lochmiller RL, Deerenberg C. 2000. Trade-Offs in Evolutionary Immunology: Just What Is the Cost of Immunity? Oikos.
- Lochmiller RL, Vestey MR, Boren JC. 1993. Relationship between Protein Nutritional Status and Immunocompetence in Northern Bobwhite Chicks. Auk.
- Lof ME, Reed TE, Mcnamara JM, Visser ME. 2012. Timing in a fluctuating environment: Environmental variability and asymmetric fitness curves can lead to adaptively mismatched avian reproduction. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 279:3161–69.

LoGiudice K, Ostfeld RS, Schmidt KA, Keesing F. 2003. The ecology of infectious disease:

Effects of host diversity and community composition on lyme disease risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.

Longcore T, Rich C. 2004. Ecological light pollution. Front Ecol Environ.

Longcore T, Rodríguez A, Witherington B, Penniman JF, Herf L, Herf M. 2018. Rapid assessment of lamp spectrum to quantify ecological effects of light at night. J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Integr Physiol 329:511–21.

Loo Y-M, Gale M. 2011. Immune Signaling by RIG-I-like Receptors. Immunity 34:680–92.

- Loss SR, Hamer GL, Walker ED, Ruiz MO, Goldberg TL, Kitron UD, Brawn JD. 2009. Avian host community structure and prevalence of West Nile virus in Chicago, Illinois. Oecologia.
- Louder MIM, Hauber ME, Balakrishnan CN. 2018. Early social experience alters transcriptomic responses to species-specific song stimuli in female songbirds. Behav Brain Res.
- Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. 2014. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. Genome Biol.
- Luniak M. 2004. Synurbization: Adaptation of animal wildlife to urban development, Proceedings 4th International Urban Wildlife Symposium.
- Luz PM, Vanni T, Medlock J, Paltiel AD, Galvani AP. 2011. Dengue vector control strategies in an urban setting: An economic modelling assessment. Lancet 377:1673–80.
- Ma DY, Suthar MS. 2015. Mechanisms of innate immune evasion in re-emerging RNA viruses. Curr Opin Virol 12:26–37.
- Maes M, De Meyer F, Thompson P, Peeters D, Cosyns P. 1994. Synchronized annual rhythms in violent suicide rate, ambient temperature and the light-dark span. Acta Psychiatr Scand 90:391–96.

Maestroni GJ, Conti A, Pierpaoli W. 1988. Role of the pineal gland in immunity. III. Melatonin

antagonizes the immunosuppressive effect of acute stress via an opiatergic mechanism. Immunology 63:465–69.

- Mansfield KL, Johnson N, Cosby SL, Solomon T, Fooks AR. 2010. Transcriptional Upregulation of SOCS 1 and Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling 3 mRNA in the Absence of Suppressors of Cytokine Signaling 2 mRNA After Infection with West Nile Virus or Tick-Borne Encephalitis Virus. Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis 10:649–53.
- Marfin AA, Petersen LR, Eidson M, Miller J, Hadler J, Farello C, Werner B, Campbell GL, Layton M, Smith P, Bresnitz E, Cartter M, Scaletta J, Obiri G, Bunning M, Craven RC, Roehrig JT, Julian KG, Hinten SR, Gubler DJ, Hilger T, Jones JE, Lehman JA, Medlin K, Morris T, Perilla MJ, Sutliff S, Withum D, Sorhage F, Tan C, Beckett G, Gensheimer K, Greenblatt J, Montero J, Galbraith P, Tassler P, DeMaria A, Matyas B, Timperi R, Bandy U, Breslosky T, Andreadis T, Cartter M, McCarthy T, Backenson B, Hagiwara Y, Kramer L, Morse D, Wallace B, White D, Willsey A, Wong S, Cherry B, Fine A, Kellachan J, Kulakasera V, Poshni I, Rankin J, Hathcock L, Wolfe D, Roche J, Jenkins S, Levy M, MacCormack JN, Gibson J, Blake P, Kramer S, Lance-Parker S, Conti L, Hopkins RS, Oliveri R, Lofgren JP, Woernle CH, Currier M, Slavinski S, Kelso K, Rawlings J. 2001. Widespread West Nile virus activity, eastern United States, 2000. Emerg Infect Dis 7:730–35.
- Marm Kilpatrick A, Wheeler SS. 2019. Impact of West Nile Virus on Bird Populations: Limited Lasting Effects, Evidence for Recovery, and Gaps in Our Understanding of Impacts on Ecosystems. J Med Entomol.
- Marra PP, Griffing S, Caffrey C, Kilpatrick MA, McLean R, Brand C, Saito E, Dupuis AP, Kramer L, Novak R. 2004. West Nile Virus and Wildlife. Bioscience 54:393–402.

129

- Martí O, Gavaldà A, Jolín T, Armario A. 1993. Effect of regularity of exposure to chronic immobilization stress on the circadian pattern of pituitary adrenal hormones, growth hormone, and thyroid stimulating hormone in the adult male rat. Psychoneuroendocrinology 18:67–77.
- Martin LB. 2009. Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: Timing is everything. Gen Comp Endocrinol 163:70–76.
- Martin LB, Burgan SC, Adelman JS, Gervasi SS. 2016a. Host Competence: An Organismal Trait to Integrate Immunology and Epidemiology. Integr Comp Biol icw064.
- Martin LB, Burgan SC, Adelman JS, Gervasi SS. 2016b. Host Competence: An Organismal Trait to Integrate Immunology and Epidemiology. Integr Comp Biol 56:1225–37.
- Martin LB, Kidd L, Liebl AL, Coon CAC. 2011. Captivity induces hyper-inflammation in the house sparrow (Passer domesticus). J Exp Biol 214:2579–85.
- Martin LB, Weil ZM, Nelson RJ. 2008. Seasonal changes in vertebrate immune activity: mediation by physiological trade-offs. Philos Trans R Soc London B Biol Sci 363:321–39.
- Martin M. 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. EMBnet.journal.
- Marzluff JM. 2015. Avian Urban Ecology: Behavioural and Physiological Adaptations edited by Diego Gil and Henrik Brumm. Condor 117:683–84.

Mashimo T, Lucas M, Simon-Chazottes D, Frenkiel M-P, Montagutelli X, Ceccaldi P-E, Deubel V, Guénet J-L, Desprès P. 2002. A nonsense mutation in the gene encoding 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase/L1 isoform is associated with West Nile virus susceptibility in laboratory mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 99:11311–16.

Matzke EB. 1936. The Effect of Street Lights in Delaying Leaf-Fall in Certain Trees. Am J Bot

23:446.

- McMahon BJ, Morand S, Gray JS. 2018. Ecosystem change and zoonoses in the Anthropocene. Zoonoses Public Health.
- Mideo N, Reece SE, Smith AL, Metcalf CJE. 2013. The Cinderella syndrome: why do malariainfected cells burst at midnight? Trends Parasitol 29:10–16.
- Miller DL, Mauel MJ, Baldwin C, Burtle G, Ingram D, Hines ME, Frazier KS. 2003. West Nile virus in farmed alligators. Emerg Infect Dis 9:794–99.
- Miller MW. 2006a. APPARENT EFFECTS OF LIGHT POLLUTION ON SINGING BEHAVIOR OF AMERICAN ROBINS. Condor.
- Miller MW. 2006b. Apparent Effects of Light Pollution on Singing Behavior of American Robins. Condor 108:130–39.
- Minnaar C, Boyles JG, Minnaar IA, Sole CL, Mckechnie AE. 2015. Stacking the odds: Light pollution may shift the balance in an ancient predator-prey arms race. J Appl Ecol 52:522– 31.
- Moore M V., Pierce SM, Walsh HM, Kvalvik SK, Lim JD. 2000. Urban light pollution alters the diel vertical migration of Daphnia . SIL Proceedings, 1922-2010 27:779–82.
- Morens DM, Folkers GK, Fauci AS. 2004. The challenge of emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases. Nature.
- Morison EE, Hughes TP. 1991. American Genesis: A Century of Invention and Technological Enthusiasm 1870-1970. Technol Cult 32:127.
- Mosquito-Borne Disease Surveillance. 2020. Florida Dep Heal. (http://www.floridahealth.gov/diseases-and-conditions/mosquito-bornediseases/surveillance.html).

- Mure LS, Rieux C, Hattar S, Cooper HM. 2007. Melanopsin-dependent nonvisual responses: Evidence for photopigment bistability in vivo. J Biol Rhythms 22:411–24.
- Murray MH, Sánchez CA, Becker DJ, Byers KA, Worsley-Tonks KEL, Craft ME. 2019. City sicker? A meta-analysis of wildlife health and urbanization. Front Ecol Environ 17:575–83.
- Nagare R, Plitnick B, Figueiro MG. 2019. Does the iPad Night Shift mode reduce melatonin suppression? Light Res Technol 51:373–83.
- Navara KJ, Nelson RJ. 2007. The dark side of light at night: physiological, epidemiological, and ecological consequences. J Pineal Res 43:215–24.
- Nelson RJ. 2011. An Introduction to Behavioral Endocrinology Oxford University Press, Incorporated.
- Nelson RJ, Demas GE. 1996. Seasonal changes in immune function. Q Rev Biol 71:511-48.
- Newhouse DJ, Hofmeister EK, Balakrishnan CN. 2017. Transcriptional response to West Nile virus infection in the zebra finch (Taeniopygia guttata). R Soc Open Sci 4.
- Nicholas Komar. 2003. West Nile Virus: Epidemiology and Ecology in North America. Adv Virus Res.
- Niemelä PT, Dingemanse NJ. 2018. On the usage of single measurements in behavioural ecology research on individual differences. Anim Behav 145:99–105.

NOAA/NGDC - Earth Observation Group. 2019. . (https://ngdc.noaa.gov/eog/).

Norris DE. 2004. Mosquito-borne Diseases as a Consequence of Land Use Change. Ecohealth.

Ortega-Álvarez R, MacGregor-Fors I. 2009. Living in the big city: Effects of urban land-use on bird community structure, diversity, and composition. Landsc Urban Plan 90:189–95.

Osorio D, Vorobyev M. 2008. A review of the evolution of animal colour vision and visual communication signals. Vision Res 48:2042–51.

- Ouyang JQ, de Jong M, Hau M, Visser ME, van Grunsven RHA, Spoelstra K. 2015. Stressful colours: corticosterone concentrations in a free-living songbird vary with the spectral composition of experimental illumination. Biol Lett 11.
- Ouyang JQ, De Jong M, Hau M, Visser ME, Van Grunsven RHA, Spoelstra K. 2015. Stressful colours: Corticosterone concentrations in a free-living songbird vary with the spectral composition of experimental illumination. Biol Lett 11:13–20.
- Ouyang JQ, de Jong M, van Grunsven RHA, Matson KD, Haussmann MF, Meerlo P, Visser ME, Spoelstra K. 2017. Restless roosts: Light pollution affects behavior, sleep, and physiology in a free-living songbird. Glob Chang Biol.
- Pan A, Schernhammer ES, Sun Q, Hu FB. 2011. Rotating Night Shift Work and Risk of Type 2Diabetes: Two Prospective Cohort Studies in Women. PLOS Med 8:1–8.
- Pauley SM. 2004. Lighting for the human circadian clock: recent research indicates that lighting has become a public health issue. Med Hypotheses 63:588–96.
- Paull SH, Horton DE, Ashfaq M, Rastogi D, Kramer LD, Diffenbaugh NS, Kilpatrick AM. 2017.
 Drought and immunity determine the intensity of west nile virus epidemics and climate change impacts. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284.
- Paull SH, Song S, McClure KM, Sackett LC, Kilpatrick AM, Johnson PT. 2012. From superspreaders to disease hotspots: linking transmission across hosts and space. Front Ecol Environ 10:75–82.
- Pawson SM, Bader MKF. 2014. LED lighting increases the ecological impact of light pollution irrespective of color temperature. Ecol Appl 24:1561–68.
- Paz S. 2015. Climate change impacts on West Nile virus transmission in a global context. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.

- Paz S, Albersheim I. 2008. Influence of Warming Tendency on Culex pipiens Population
 Abundance and on the Probability of West Nile Fever Outbreaks (Israeli Case Study: 2001--2005). Ecohealth 5:40–48.
- Paz S, Semenza JC. 2013. Environmental drivers of West Nile fever epidemiology in Europe and Western Asia--a review. Int J Environ Res Public Health.
- Perelygin AA, Scherbik S V., Zhulin IB, Stockman BM, Li Y, Brinton MA. 2002. Positional cloning of the murine flavivirus resistance gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci.
- Petersen LR, Brault AC, Nasci RS. 2013. West Nile virus: Review of the literature. JAMA J Am Med Assoc.
- Pevet P, Challet E. 2011. Melatonin: Both master clock output and internal time-giver in the circadian clocks network. J Physiol 105:170–82.
- Pietroiusti A, Neri A, Somma G, Coppeta L, Iavicoli I, Bergamaschi A, Magrini A. 2010. Incidence of metabolic syndrome among night-shift healthcare workers. Occup Environ Med 67:54 LP – 57.
- Pioli C, Caroleo MC, Nistico' G, Doriac G. 1993. Melatonin increases antigen presentation and amplifies specific and non specific signals for T-cell proliferation. Int J Immunopharmacol 15:463–68.
- Population, Housing Units, Area, and Density: 2010 United States -- States; and Puerto Rico. 2010. .
- Posada D, Buckley TR. 2004. Model selection and model averaging in phylogenetics: Advantages of akaike information criterion and bayesian approaches over likelihood ratio tests. Syst Biol.

Prugh LR, Golden CD. 2014. Does moonlight increase predation risk? Meta-analysis reveals

divergent responses of nocturnal mammals to lunar cycles. J Anim Ecol 83:504–14.

R Core Team. 2013. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. .

- Råberg L, Graham AL, Read AF. 2009. Decomposing health: Tolerance and resistance to parasites in animals. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci 364:37–49.
- Råberg L, Sim D, Read AF. 2007. Disentangling Genetic Variation for Resistance and Tolerance to Infectious Diseases in Animals. Science (80-) 318:812 LP – 814.
- Rastogi M, Sharma N, Singh SK. 2016. Flavivirus NS1: A multifaceted enigmatic viral protein. Virol J.
- Redlin U. 2001. Neural basis and biological function of masking by light in mammals: Suppression of melatonin and locomotor activity. Chronobiol Int.
- Redman J, Armstrong S, Ng KT. 1983. Free-running activity rhythms in the rat: entrainment by melatonin. Science (80-) 219:1089–91.
- Reiter R, Tan D, SanchezBarcelo E, Mediavilla M, Gitto E, Korkmaz A. 2011. Circadian mechanisms in the regulation of melatonin synthesis: disruption with light at night and the pathophysiological consequences. J Exp Integr Med 1:13.
- Reiter RJ. 1991. Melatonin: The chemical expression of darkness. Mol Cell Endocrinol 79.
- Reiter RJ. 1993. The melatonin rhythm: both a clock and a calendar. Experientia.
- Reiter RJ. 1996. Functional aspects of the pineal hormone melatonin in combating cell and tissue damage induced by free radicals. Eur J Endocrinol.
- Reiter RJ, Tan D, Burkhardt S. 2002. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and cellular and organismal decline: amelioration with melatonin. Mech Ageing Dev 123:1007–19.
- Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Manchester LC, Pilar Terron M, Flores LJ, Koppisepi S. 2007. Medical implications of melatonin: receptor-mediated and receptor-independent actions. Adv Med

Sci.

Reppert SM, Weaver DR. 2002. Coordination of circadian timing in mammals. Nature 418:935.

- Rich EL, Romero LM. 2005. Exposure to chronic stress downregulates corticosterone responses to acute stressors. Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol 288:R1628–36.
- Richards SL, Lord CC, Pesko KN, Tabachnick WJ. 2010. Environmental and biological factors influencing Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae) vector competence for West Nile virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg.
- Rodríguez AB, Marchena JM, Nogales G, Durán J, Barriga C. 1999. Correlation between the circadian rhythm of melatonin, phagocytosis, and superoxide anion levels in ring dove heterophils. J Pineal Res 26:35–42.
- Rousset F, Ferdy JB. 2014. Testing environmental and genetic effects in the presence of spatial autocorrelation. Ecography (Cop).
- Rushing CS, Hostetler JA, Sillett TS, Marra PP, Rotenberg JA, Ryder TB. 2017. Spatial and temporal drivers of avian population dynamics across the annual cycle. Ecology 98:2837– 50.
- Saarela S, Reiter RJ. 1994. Function of melatonin in thermoregulatory processes. Life Sci 54:295–311.
- Sainz RM, Mayo JC, Rodriguez C, Tan DX, Lopez-Burillo S, Reiter RJ. 2003. Melatonin and cell death: differential actions on apoptosis in normal and cancer cells. Cell Mol Life Sci C 60:1407–26.
- Sainz RM, Mayo JC, Uría H, Kotler M, Antolfn I, Rodriguez C, Menendez-Pelaez† A. 1995. The pineal neurohormone melatonin prevents in vivo and in vitro apoptosis in thymocytes. J Pineal Res 19:178–88.

- Sallam MF, Michaels SR, Riegel C, Pereira RM, Zipperer W, Graeme Lockaby B, Koehler PG. 2017. Spatio-temporal distribution of Vector-Host Contact (VHC) ratios and ecological niche modeling of the west nile virus mosquito vector, culex quinquefasciatus, in the City of New Orleans, LA, USA. Int J Environ Res Public Health.
- Sapolsky RM, Romero LM, Munck AU. 2000. How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocr Rev.
- Sardelis MR, Turell MJ, Dohm DJ, O'Guinn ML. 2001. Vector competence of selected North American Culex and Coquillettidia mosquitoes for West Nile virus. Emerg Infect Dis 7:1018–22.
- Sasaki M, Jordan P, Joh T, Itoh M, Jenkins M, Pavlick K, Minagar A, Alexander SJ. 2002. Melatonin reduces TNF-a induced expression of MAdCAM-1 via inhibition of NF-κB. BMC Gastroenterol 2.
- Scheiermann C, Kunisaki Y, Frenette PS. 2013. Circadian control of the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol 13:190.

Schibler U. 2005. The daily rhythms of genes, cells and organs. EMBO Rep 6:S9--S13.

- Schneider DP, Deser C, Fasullo J, Trenberth KE. 2013. Climate data guide spurs discovery and understanding. Eos (Washington DC).
- Schoech SJ, Bowman R, Hahn TP, Goymann W, Schwabl I, Bridge ES. 2013. The effects of low levels of light at night upon the endocrine physiology of western scrub-jays (Aphelocoma californica). J Exp Zool Part A Ecol Genet Physiol 319:527–38.
- Sears BF, Rohr JR, Allen JE, Martin LB. 2011. The economy of inflammation: When is less more? Trends Parasitol 27:382–87.

- Şener G, Toklu H, Kapucu C, Ercan F, Erkanli G, Kaçmaz A, Tilki M, Yeğen BÇ. 2005. Melatonin protects against oxidative organ injury in a rat model of sepsis. Surg Today 35:52–59.
- Shaman J, Day JF, Stieglitz M. 2003. St. Louis Encephalitis Virus in Wild Birds During the 1990 South Florida Epidemic: The Importance of Drought, Wetting Conditions, and the Emergence of Culex nigripalpus (Diptera: Culicidae) to Arboviral Amplification and Transmission . J Med Entomol.
- Shearman LP, Sriram S, Weaver DR, Maywood ES, Chaves I, Zheng B, Kume K, Lee CC, van der GTJ, Horst, Hastings MH, Reppert SM. 2000. Interacting Molecular Loops in the Mammalian Circadian Clock. Science (80-) 288:1013–19.
- Sheldon BC, Verhulst S. 1996. Ecological immunology: Costly parasite defences and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. Trends Ecol Evol 11:317–21.
- Shimoda M, Honda K. 2013. Insect reactions to light and its applications to pest management. Appl Entomol Zool 48:413–21.
- Shoemaker JE, Lopes TJS, Ghosh S, Matsuoka Y, Kawaoka Y, Kitano H. 2012. CTen: a webbased platform for identifying enriched cell types from heterogeneous microarray data. BMC Genomics.
- Simons AL, Yin X, Longcore T. 2020. High correlation but high scale-dependent variance between satellite measured night lights and terrestrial exposure. Environ Res Commun 2:021006.
- Siva-Jothy MT, Thompson JJW. 2002. Short-term nutrient deprivation affects immune function. Physiol Entomol 27:206–12.

Sobota RS, Dara A, Manning JE, Niangaly A, Bailey JA, Kone AK, Thera MA, Djimdé AA,

Vernet G, Leissner P, Williams SM, Plowe C V., Doumbo OK. 2016a. Expression of complement and toll-like receptor pathway genes is associated with malaria severity in Mali: A pilot case control study. Malar J.

- Sobota RS, Dara A, Manning JE, Niangaly A, Bailey JA, Kone AK, Thera MA, Djimdé AA, Vernet G, Leissner P, Williams SM, Plowe C V., Doumbo OK. 2016b. Expression of complement and toll-like receptor pathway genes is associated with malaria severity in Mali: a pilot case control study. Malar J 15:150.
- Spoelstra K, van Grunsven RHA, Ramakers JJC, Ferguson KB, Raap T, Donners M, Veenendaal EM, Visser ME. 2017. Response of bats to light with different spectra: Light-shy and agile bat presence is affected by white and green, but not red light. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284.
- Srinivasan V, Smits M, Spence W, Lowe A, Kayumov L, Pandi-Perumal S, Parry B, CardinaliD. 2006. Melatonin in mood disorders. World J Biol Psychiatry.
- Suthar MS, Diamond MS, Gale Jr M. 2013. West Nile virus infection and immunity. Nat Rev Microbiol 11:115.
- Tag-El-Din-Hassan HT, Sasaki N, Moritoh K, Torigoe D, Maeda A, Agui T. 2012a. The chicken 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase A inhibits the replication of West Nile Virus. Jpn J Vet Res 60:95–103.
- Tag-El-Din-Hassan HT, Sasaki N, Moritoh K, Torigoe D, Maeda A, Agui T. 2012b. The chicken 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase A inhibits the replication of West Nile Virus. Jpn J Vet Res 60:95–103.
- Thapan K, Arendt J, Skene DJ. 2001. An action spectrum for melatonin suppression: evidence for a novel non-rod, non-cone photoreceptor system in humans. J Physiol 535:261–67.

Therneau TM, T. Lumley. 2015. Package ' survival .' R Top Doc.

- Tompkins DM, Dunn AM, Smith MJ, Telfer S. 2011. Wildlife diseases: From individuals to ecosystems. J Anim Ecol 80:19–38.
- Tricoire H, Malpaux B, Møller M. 2003. Cellular lining of the sheep pineal recess studied by light-, transmission-, and scanning electron microscopy: Morphologic indications for a direct secretion of melatonin from the pineal gland to the cerebrospinal fluid. J Comp Neurol 456:39–47.
- Turell MJ, Dohm DJ, Sardelis MR, O'Guinn ML, Andreadis TG, Blow JA. 2005. An update on the potential of North American mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) to transmit West Nile virus. J Med Entomol.
- Turell MJ, O'Guinn ML, Dohm DJ, Jones JW. 2001. Vector Competence of North American Mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) for West Nile Virus. J Med Entomol 38:130–34.
- Turell MJ, O'Guinn M, Oliver J. 2000. Potential for New York mosquitoes to transmit West Nile virus. Am J Trop Med Hyg 62.
- Uematsu S, Akira S. 2006. Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Uirusu J Virol.

United States Census Bureau. 2016. American Community Survey: 2011-2015.

- Upham NS, Hafner JC. 2013. Do nocturnal rodents in the Great Basin Desert avoid moonlight? J Mammal 94:59–72.
- US Census Bureau. 2010. United States Census, 2010United States Census 2010.
- Uttah EC, Wokem GN, Okonofua C. 2013. The Abundance and Biting Patterns of *Culex quinquefasciatus* Say (Culicidae) in the Coastal Region of Nigeria. ISRN Zool.
- Vaida F, Blanchard S. 2005. Conditional Akaike information for mixed-effects models. Biometrika 92:351–70.
- Valero N, Mosquera J, Alcocer S, Bonilla E, Salazar J, Álvarez-Mon M. 2015. Melatonin,

minocycline and ascorbic acid reduce oxidative stress and viral titers and increase survival rate in experimental Venezuelan equine encephalitis. Brain Res.

- Van Doren BM, Horton KG, Dokter AM, Klinck H, Elbin SB, Farnsworth A. 2017. Highintensity urban light installation dramatically alters nocturnal bird migration. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
- VanderWaal KL, Ezenwa VO. 2016. Heterogeneity in pathogen transmission: mechanisms and methodology. Funct Ecol.
- Venter O, Sanderson EW, Magrach A, Allan JR, Beher J, Jones KR, Possingham HP, Laurance WF, Wood P, Fekete BM, Levy MA, Watson JEM. 2016. Sixteen years of change in the global terrestrial human footprint and implications for biodiversity conservation. Nat Commun.
- Verheijen FJ. 1985. Photopollution: Artificial light optic spatial control systems fail to cope with. Incidents, causations, remedies. Exp Biol.
- Vijayalaxmi, Reiter RJ, Tan DX, Herman TS, Thomas CR. 2004. Melatonin as a radioprotective agent: A review. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 59:639–53.
- Viswanathan AN, Hankinson SE, Schernhammer ES. 2007. Night Shift Work and the Risk of Endometrial Cancer. Cancer Res 67:10618 LP – 10622.
- Walker WH, Meléndez-Fernández OH, Nelson RJ, Reiter RJ. 2019. Global climate change and invariable photoperiods: A mismatch that jeopardizes animal fitness. Ecol Evol.

Warkany J. 1986. Hyperthermia. Teratology 33:365–71.

Warren WC, Clayton DF, Ellegren H, Arnold AP, Hillier LW, Künstner A, Searle S, White S,Vilella AJ, Fairley S, Heger A, Kong L, Ponting CP, Jarvis ED, Mello C V., Minx P, LovellP, Velho TAF, Ferris M, Balakrishnan CN, Sinha S, Blatti C, London SE, Li Y, Lin YC,

George J, Sweedler J, Southey B, Gunaratne P, Watson M, Nam K, Backström N, Smeds L, Nabholz B, Itoh Y, Whitney O, Pfenning AR, Howard J, Völker M, Skinner BM, Griffin DK, Ye L, McLaren WM, Flicek P, Quesada V, Velasco G, Lopez-Otin C, Puente XS, Olender T, Lancet D, Smit AFA, Hubley R, Konkel MK, Walker JA, Batzer MA, Gu W, Pollock DD, Chen L, Cheng Z, Eichler EE, Stapley J, Slate J, Ekblom R, Birkhead T, Burke T, Burt D, Scharff C, Adam I, Richard H, Sultan M, Soldatov A, Lehrach H, Edwards S V., Yang SP, Li X, Graves T, Fulton L, Nelson J, Chinwalla A, Hou S, Mardis ER, Wilson RK. 2010. The genome of a songbird. Nature.

- Weaver SC. 2013. Urbanization and geographic expansion of zoonotic arboviral diseases: Mechanisms and potential strategies for prevention. Trends Microbiol.
- Wehr TA. 2001. Photoperiodism in Humans and Other Primates: Evidence and Implications. J Biol Rhythms 16:348–64.
- Weishampel ZA, Cheng WH, Weishampel JF. 2016. Sea turtle nesting patterns in Florida vis-àvis satellite-derived measures of artificial lighting. Remote Sens Ecol Conserv 2:59–72.
- Welsh DK, Logothetis DE, Meister M, Reppert SM. 1995. Individual neurons dissociated from rat suprachiasmatic nucleus express independently phased circadian firing rhythms. Neuron 14:697–706.
- Westermark PO, Welsh DK, Okamura H, Herzel H. 2009. Quantification of circadian rhythms in single cells. PLoS Comput Biol 5.
- Wichmann MW, Zellweger R, DeMaso CM, Ayala A, Chaudry IH. 2018. Melatonin Administration Attenuates Depressed Immune Functions after Trauma-Hemorrhage. J Surg Res 63:256–62.
- Wickham H, Francois R. 2016. The dplyr package. R Core Team.

- Widmaier EP, Kunz TH. 1993. Basal, diurnal, and stress-induced levels of glucose and glucocorticoids in captive bats. J Exp Zool 265:533–40.
- Wiltschko R, Stapput K, Ritz T, Thalau P, Wiltschko W. 2007. Magnetoreception in birds: different physical processes for two types of directional responses. HFSP J 1:41.
- Winger BM, Weeks BC, Farnsworth A, Jones AW, Hennen M, Willard DE. 2019. Nocturnal flight-calling behaviour predicts vulnerability to artificial light in migratory birds. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 286.
- Witherington B, Martin RE. 2000. Understanding, assessing, and resolving light-pollution problems on sea turtle nesting beaches. 2nd ed., rev.
- Witherington BE, Bjorndal KA. 1991. Influences of Wavelength and Intensity on Hatchling Sea Turtle Phototaxis: Implications for Sea-Finding Behavior. Copeia 1991:1060.
- Wonham MJ, De-Camino-Beck T, Lewis MA. 2004. An epidemiological model for West Nile virus: invasion analysis and control applications. Proc R Soc London B Biol Sci 271:501–7.
- Wood B, Rea MS, Plitnick B, Figueiro MG. 2013. Light level and duration of exposure determine the impact of self-luminous tablets on melatonin suppression. Appl Ergon 44:237–40.
- Woolhouse MEJ, Dye C, Etard JF, Smith T, Charlwood JD, Garnett GP, Hagan P, Hii JLK,
 Ndhlovu PD, Quinnell RJ, Watts CH, Chandiwana SK, Anderson RM. 1997.
 Heterogeneities in the transmission of infectious agents: Implications for the design of control programs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
- Woolhouse MEJ, Gowtage-Sequeria S. 2005. Host range and emerging and reemerging pathogens. Emerg Infect Dis.

Wright AN, Gompper ME. 2005. Altered parasite assemblages in raccoons in response to

manipulated resource availability. Oecologia 144:148–56.

Wyse C, Hazlerigg D. 2009. Seasonal Biology: Avian Photoreception Goes Deep. Curr Biol.

- Yamada H, Oshima I, Sato K, Ebihara S. 1988. Loss of the circadian rhythms of locomotor activity, food intake, and plasma melatonin concentration induced by constant bright light in the pigeon (Columba livia). J Comp Physiol A 163:459–63.
- Yamazaki S, Numano R, Abe M, Hida A, Takahashi R, Ueda M, Block GD, Sakaki Y, Menaker M, Tei H. 2000. Resetting Central and Peripheral Circadian Oscillators in Transgenic Rats. Science (80-) 288:682 LP 685.
- Yoshimura T, Suzuki Y, Makino E, Suzuki T, Kuroiwa A, Matsuda Y, Namikawa T, Ebihara S. 2000. Molecular analysis of avian circadian clock genes. Mol Brain Res 78:207–15.
- Zamorano J, García C, Tapia C, Sánchez de Miguel A, Pascual S, Gallego J. 2017. STARS4ALL Night Sky Brightness Photometer. Int J Sustain Light 18:49–54.
- Zerbino DR, Achuthan P, Akanni W, Amode MR, Barrell D, Bhai J, Billis K, Cummins C, Gall A, Girón CG, Gil L, Gordon L, Haggerty L, Haskell E, Hourlier T, Izuogu OG, Janacek SH, Juettemann T, To JK, Laird MR, Lavidas I, Liu Z, Loveland JE, Maurel T, McLaren W, Moore B, Mudge J, Murphy DN, Newman V, Nuhn M, Ogeh D, Ong CK, Parker A, Patricio M, Riat HS, Schuilenburg H, Sheppard D, Sparrow H, Taylor K, Thormann A, Vullo A, Walts B, Zadissa A, Frankish A, Hunt SE, Kostadima M, Langridge N, Martin FJ, Muffato M, Perry E, Ruffier M, Staines DM, Trevanion SJ, Aken BL, Cunningham F, Yates A, Flicek P. 2018. Ensembl 2018. Nucleic Acids Res 46:D754–61.
- Zhong C, Franklin M, Wiemels J, McKean-Cowdin R, Chung NT, Benbow J, Wang SS, Lacey J V., Longcore T. 2020. Outdoor artificial light at night and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma among women in the California Teachers Study cohort. Cancer Epidemiol 69.

Zubidat AE, Haim A. 2017. Artificial light-At-night-a novel lifestyle risk factor for metabolic disorder and cancer morbidity. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol.

APPENDIX A:

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER I

Materials and Methods:

Experimental procedures

House sparrows were captured using mist nets at two sites in the Tampa Bay area with comparable levels of light pollution as determined by satellite imaging and handheld light meters ("NOAA/NGDC - Earth Observation Group" 2019). All birds were captured between the hours of 5:30 and 9:30 AM. Males and females were evenly distributed throughout treatments to account for differences among sexes. Additionally, all birds captured were adults (i.e., between 1-3 years of age). To assess how light pollution affects the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal HPA axis, we performed dexamethasone (DEX) suppression tests using methods described below on each bird immediately after capture in the field and after ALAN/control lighting exposure. Birds were then transported to the University of South Florida vivarium where they were housed individually in 13"x15"x18" cages for the next 7-25 days in visual and audial proximity to each other. Control birds were exposed to ~0 lux at night and kept on 12h light:12h dark cycle consistent with late spring in Florida for the project duration. All ALAN birds were exposed to ~8 lux of incandescent white light during what was the dark period for control birds (12h light:12h dim light). Food (mixed seeds) and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the study and IACUC (#2716) and USF Biosafety (#1323) approved the studies prior to the work.

Two days prior to WNV exposure, all birds were administered second DEX suppression tests according to the below bleeding timeline and procedures. The next day, all birds were transported to the USF Biosafety level-3 (BSL-3) suite where they were kept singly in similar cages but inside bioBUBBLE containment systems (bioBUBBLE Inc, Fort Collins CO) to prevent WNV escape into rooms. Light conditions during this period were identical to conditions described above. One day after acclimation to the BSL-3 facility, all birds were inoculated with 10¹ plaque-forming units (PFUs) each of New York 1999 strain at ~5 minute intervals between 7 and 9 am to account for any effect of inoculation time on competence (NY 1999; Gervasi, Burgan, Hofmeister, Unnasch, & Martin, 2017). Due to space constraints in the BSL-3 facility, this study was conducted in two cohorts, but all birds from both cohorts were inoculated using a common WNV stock.

Although we did not assess prior exposure to or current infection with WNV in these birds, unpublished research by our lab found that individuals are unable to be infected with WNV twice. We used infection as a proxy for whether individuals had any prior exposure to WNV. As all individuals became infected once they were exposed, we concluded that none of the individuals had any prior exposure to WNV.

Birds were sampled on days 2, 4, 6, and 10 at the same time of day following WNV inoculation. ~70 uL of blood was extracted using procedures described below. Bird mass was also measured prior to WNV inoculation, and during sampling periods on days 2, 4, 6, and 10 using methods described below. Mortality was monitored twice daily during infection period, and birds were euthanized when expressing sickness behaviors, which are typically only expressed when death appears imminent in the near future. All birds were euthanized on d10 following inoculation using deep isoflurane anesthesia and rapid decapitation.

147

Sample collection

Blood samples for the DEX suppression test required a baseline CORT sample, which was obtained within 3 minutes of capture, a post-stressor blood sample which was collected after 30 minutes of restraint in a cloth bag following initial capture, which was immediately followed by a DEX injection (s.q., 28 ug dissolved in 50 uL peanut oil), and final samples were collected 1h after injections. Blood samples were collected from the brachial vein using sterile 26-gauge needles and microcapillary tubes, and serum was frozen at -20C until hormone assay.

Blood samples for viremia were collected using sterile 26-gauge needles and microcapillary tubes rinsed with sodium citrate to prevent clotting of blood. Serum was extracted from the blood samples and frozen at -20C until viral RNA extraction and qPCR.

Body mass

Body mass measurements were recorded using a Pesola spring scale. Mass was recorded to the 0.01 gram on the day of inoculation, and days 2, 4, 6, and 10 following WNV exposure. *RNA extraction and qPCR for WNV titer*

WNV RNA was extracted from 10 uL of stored serum using the Qiagen QIAmp Viral Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen Cat. No. 52906). Viremia was quantified using quantitative realtime polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) using a one-step Taqman kit (iTaq Universal Probes One-Step Kit; Bio-Rad Cat. No. 1725141). Standards were extracted from known concentrations (via plaque-assay) of WNV stock and quantified using the same methods listed above. Forward and reverse primers and probe sequences are listed below (Gervasi et al. 2017). All samples were run in duplicate with negative controls.

Forward Primer: 5' CAGACCACGCTACGGCG 3'

Reverse Primer: 5' CTAGGGCCGCGTGGG 3'

Probe: 5' [6~FAM] CTGCGGAGAGTGCAGTCTGCGAT [BHQ1a~6FAM]

Corticosterone Assays

Corticosterone concentrations were quantified in serum using an enzyme immunoassay (EIA) kit from Arbor Assays (Arbor Assays, Ann Arbor, MI, product # K014-H5; Gervasi et al., 2017). Samples were run in duplicate and standardized across plates. Concentrations were derived from known values along the standard curve, and all values fell within the curve.

Supplementary text:

Days in captivity results

Our study was designed to capture the effects of duration of exposure to ALAN on corticosterone and viremia by housing birds under their designated conditions for a range of 7-25 days. We added "days in captivity" as a fixed effect in the mixed model analysis using the nlme package in R studio and found that days in captivity had no significant effect on the models (P=0.8024). A second set of mixed models intended to determine the effect of days in captivity on CORT area under the curve (AUC) was unable to be run using the 'nlme' package or the 'lme4' package in R studio. After a series of diagnostic tests, we discovered the reason the mixed model was unable to be run was that the random effects explained almost all of the variance (i.e., there was no difference in the CORT AUC between treatment groups).

Corticosterone results

First, we queried effects of ALAN on baseline (i.e., prior to a stressor), post-restraint (i.e., after a 30-minute psychological stressor), and post-dexamethasone (i.e., a synthetic

glucocorticoid that induces down-regulation of endogenous corticosterone release; Liebl, Shimizu, & Martin, 2013) concentrations, but there was little evidence that ALAN affected HPA function when all aspects were analyzed in a single model (treatment: $F_{1,40} = 2.8$, P = 0.14). HPA function changed over the course of the study (time: $F_{5,197} = 38.2$, P < 0.001; time x treatment: $F_{5,197} = 2.4$, P = 0.04), but most of this variation was due to captivity, which we have observed previously to affect HPA function in house sparrows (**Figs. S1 & S2**; Martin, Kidd, Liebl, & Coon, 2011). The only statistically significant effect of ALAN on HPA function was on baseline CORT (time x treatment: $F_{1,75} = 4.6$, P = 0.03); baseline CORT was lower just prior to WNV exposure in ALAN compared to control birds (**Fig. S3**).

Cell type enrichment results

Following a principal components analysis visualized in **Fig S4**, significant cell type enrichments are presented in **Fig S5**. Down regulated genes for both contrasts were strongly enriched for CD71+ Early Erythroid cells, an early precursor of red blood cells (RBCs). This down regulation occurs in ALAN birds at d6 relative to d2 and at d6 relative to Control. Additionally, up regulated genes in both comparisons are enriched for a wide variety of cell types, including many immune functioning cells (**Fig S6**). Thus, this represents a decrease in RBCs and increase in circulating lymphocytes. The down regulation of hemoglobin (Supplemental DEseq2 results) and up regulation of immune related genes in ALAN birds could result from a shift in cell type abundance. Nearly 3000 genes across several networks were differentially expressed and likely impacted the outcome of WNV infection in ALAN exposed individuals.

Body mass analysis

150

We have analyzed body mass throughout the course of infection using two models. The first model was a linear mixed model conducted in the nlme r software package where equal variances were assumed between groups. The dependent variable was body mass, the fixed effects were treatment, day, and their interaction, and the random effect was bird ID. There was a significant effect of treatment (P=0.0023), day (day4 P=0.0277; day6 P=0.0104) and their interaction (treatment*day6 P=0.0215) on body mass. A second mixed model using the same terms but allowed for variances to differ between groups was built; again, treatment (P=0.0021), day (day4 P=0.0253, day6 P=0.0147) and their interaction (treatment*day6 P=0.0147) and their interaction (treatment*day6 P=0.0461) had a significant effect of allowing for variance to differ on the linear mixed model (P=0.1392). We therefore chose to report the statistics from the linear mixed model that allowed for differing variances as a conservative estimate of the observed effects. See tables for details of models. *Collinearity Diagnostics*

We performed collinearity diagnostics in R studio using the 'olsrr' package between treatment, day, and viremia (Hebbali 2018). We used variance inflation factors (VIF) to detect any variance that may have been inflated by a collinear relationship between variables. VIF values above 4 demand further diagnostics, where values above 10 are strong signals of collinearity; there were two values that were between 4 and 10, so we conducted a follow-up Eigenvalue condition index diagnostic test. No two values had large variances denoted by Eigenvalue condition indices greater than 30, so we further concluded that there was no collinearity between variables in this model. See tables for detailed output information.

151

Table A2.1:

Terms used in the linear mixed model to determine effects of days in captivity on viremia. These two models were conducted with the 'nlme' package in R studio; the first model included days in captivity as a fixed effect and the second model removed this term. The ANOVA comparison revealed that these models did not significantly differ and that days in captivity (i.e. duration of ALAN exposure) did not influence viremia.

| R package | Dependent Variable | Fixed Effects | Random Effects | AIC | BIC | LogLikelihood | P value |
|-----------|--------------------|-----------------------------|----------------|---------|----------|---------------|---------|
| nlme | viremia | dayscaptivity+treatment*day | id | 568.105 | 637.3499 | -262.0525 | 0.8024 |
| nlme | viremia | treatment*day | id | 555.459 | 596.3767 | -264.7296 | |

Table A2.2:

Parameters used for the survival analysis. This table shows the number of birds alive at each day throughout the course of infection; notice that mortality only occurs between days 4 and 8 post exposure.

| Day | Treatment | Number Alive |
|-----|-----------|--------------|
| 0 | Control | 22 |
| 0 | ALAN | 23 |
| 1 | Control | 22 |
| 1 | ALAN | 23 |
| 2 | Control | 22 |
| 2 | ALAN | 23 |
| 3 | Control | 22 |
| 3 | ALAN | 23 |
| 4 | Control | 22 |
| 4 | ALAN | 23 |
| 5 | Control | 18 |
| 5 | ALAN | 19 |
| 6 | Control | 14 |
| 6 | ALAN | 14 |
| 7 | Control | 13 |
| 7 | ALAN | 10 |
| 8 | Control | 13 |
| 8 | ALAN | 10 |
| 9 | Control | 13 |
| 9 | ALAN | 10 |
| 10 | Control | 13 |
| 10 | ALAN | 10 |

Table A2.3:

Terms used in the linear mixed models to determine effects of ALAN, day post-exposure, and their interactions on body mass throughout the course of infection. These two models were conducted with the 'nlme' package in R studio; the first model assumed equal variance among groups and the second model allowed for unequal variance. The ANOVA comparison determined these models did not significantly differ, therefore, the statistics for the more robust model allowing for unequal variance were reported.

| R package | Variance | Dependent Variable | Fixed Effects | Random effects | AIC | BIC | LogLikelihood | P Value |
|-----------|----------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|--------|--------|---------------|---------|
| nlme | equal | mass | treatment*day | id | 437.24 | 478.23 | -205.62 | |
| nlme | unequal | mass | treatment*day | id | 441.69 | 511.06 | -198.85 | 0.139 |

Table A2.4:

Output from type III test of fixed effects in SPSS to analyze relationship between fixed effects (day, treatment, day*treatment) and dependent variable (viremia), accounting for random effects (id).

| Software | Dependent Variable | Fixed Effects | Random Effects | AIC | numerator df | denominator df | F value | P value |
|----------|--------------------|---------------|----------------|---------|--------------|----------------|---------|---------|
| SPSS | viremia | day | id | 540.466 | 4 | 123.594 | 270.47 | 0 |
| SPSS | viremia | treatment | id | 540.466 | 1 | 39.337 | 0.655 | 0.423 |
| SPSS | viremia | treatment*day | id | 540.466 | 4 | 123.594 | 2.945 | 0.023 |

Table A2.5:

Output from type III test of fixed effects in R studio to analyze relationship between day, treatment, and their interaction on viremia; output is nearly identical between SPSS and R studio, so we were confident that reporting statistics from both software programs would not impact the output.

| туре III | Analy | /sis | of | Vari | ance | e Table | e with | h Sa | lttert | hwa ⁻ | ite's | s met | chod |
|----------|--------|------|------|-------|------|---------|--------|------|--------|------------------|-------|-------|------|
| | | Sum | Sq | Mean | Sq | NumDF | Dei | nDF | F va | lue | Pr(| (>F) | |
| treatmer | nt | 0 | . 67 | 0. | 670 | 1 | 39.3 | 336 | 0.6 | 552 | 0.42 | 2315 | |
| day | | 476 | .99 | 119. | 248 | 4 | 123.2 | 702 | 116.6 | 442 | < 26 | e-16 | *** |
| treatmer | nt:day | 12 | .00 | 3. | 001 | 4 | 123.0 | 676 | 2.9 | 351 | 0.02 | 2334 | * |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Signif. | codes | : 0 | •** | **' 0 | .001 | L '**' | 0.01 | (*) | 0.05 | ۰. | ' 0.1 | | ' 1 |

Table A2.6:

| | Estimates of Fixed Effects ^a | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------------------------------|---|--------------|----------------|---------|-------|-----------|-----------|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | | | Inte | rval | | | | |
| | | | | | | Lower | Upper | | | | |
| Parameter | Estimate | Std. Error | df | t | Sig. | Bound | Bound | | | | |
| Intercept | 1.960458 | 0.368851 | 159.805 | 5.315 | 0.000 | 1.232006 | 2.688911 | | | | |
| [treatment =.00] | 0.321883 | 0.525684 | 157.318 | 0.612 | 0.541 | -0.716426 | 1.360191 | | | | |
| [treatment =1.00] | 0 ^b | 0 | | | | | | | | | |
| [time=.00] | -1.960458 | 0.396255 | 127.842 | -4.947 | 0.000 | -2.744526 | -1.176391 | | | | |
| [time=2.00] | 2.577890 | 0.400585 | 128.896 | 6.435 | 0.000 | 1.785318 | 3.370463 | | | | |
| [time=4.00] | 5.178810 | 0.396255 | 127.842 | 13.069 | 0.000 | 4.394742 | 5.962877 | | | | |
| [time=6.00] | 3.203637 | 0.414423 | 126.126 | 7.730 | 0.000 | 2.383514 | 4.023759 | | | | |
| [time=10.0 0] | 0 ^b | 0 | | | | | | | | | |
| [treatment =.00] * [time=.00] | -0.321883 | 0.568058 | 127.781 | -0.567 | 0.572 | -1.445902 | 0.802137 | | | | |
| [treatment =.00] * [time=2.00] | -0.147725 | 0.571087 | 128.301 | -0.259 | 0.796 | -1.277693 | 0.982243 | | | | |
| [treatment =.00] * [time=4.00] | -0.593375 | 0.570009 | 127.290 | -1.041 | 0.300 | -1.721295 | 0.534546 | | | | |
| [treatment =.00] * [time=6.00] | -1.693626 | 0.606943 | 122.947 | -2.790 | 0.006 | -2.895037 | -0.492214 | | | | |
| a. Depende | nt Variable: | PFU. | | | | | | | | | |
| b. This para | meter is set | to zero beca | ause it is red | undant. | | | | | | | |

Full statistics from the linear mixed model in SPSS.

Table A2.7:

Linear mixed model outputs from 'nlme' package in R studio; these values account for

repeated measures in the output.

| Fixed effects: 1 | titer ~ tre | eatment * | day | | |
|----------------------------|-------------|-----------|-----|-----------|-----------|
| | Value | Std.Error | DF | t-value | e p-value |
| (Intercept) | 0.00000 | 0.2871384 | 122 | 0.00000 | 1.0000 |
| treatment | 0.00000 | 0.3880181 | 40 | 0.00000 | 1.0000 |
| day2 | 4.711579 | 0.3276110 | 122 | 14.381628 | 0.0000 |
| day4 | 6.868464 | 0.3332894 | 122 | 20.608111 | L 0.0000 |
| day6 | 3.796707 | 0.3931153 | 122 | 9.657999 | 0.0000 |
| day10 | 2.284077 | 0.4066811 | 122 | 5.616384 | 0.0000 |
| <pre>treatment:day2</pre> | -0.173625 | 0.4453719 | 122 | -0.389842 | 0.6973 |
| <pre>treatment:day4</pre> | 0.270231 | 0.4469282 | 122 | 0.604642 | 0.5465 |
| <pre>treatment:day6</pre> | 1.369194 | 0.5118253 | 122 | 2.675119 | 0.0085 |
| <pre>treatment:day10</pre> | -0.319135 | 0.5675739 | 122 | -0.562279 | 0.5750 |

Table A2.8:

Parameters used to estimate West Nile virus basic reproductive number. The table provides a definition of each parameter, values used in models, how such values were obtained or estimated (e.g., midpoint and reported range in parentheses), and relevant citations.

| Parameter | Definition | Value | Source | Citation |
|--------------|-------------------|---------------|--------------------------------------|------------------|
| а | Bite rate | 0.479/day | Based on 47.9% of <i>C</i> . | (Uttah et al. |
| | | | quinquefasciatus females | 2013) |
| | | | feeding each night | |
| b | Prob (vector | 0.51 (range: | Average proportion of vectors | (Sardelis et al. |
| | infected by bite) | 0.17-0.85) | infected when host viremia is in | 2001) |
| | | | infectious range (>10 ⁵) | |
| с | Prob (host | 1 | Derived from experiment | N/A |
| | infected by bite) | | | |
| IP (control) | Infectious period | 2 days | Derived from experiment (days | (Turell et al. |
| | (control birds) | | viremia $> 10^5$) | 2000) |
| IP (ALAN) | Infectious period | 4 days | Derived from experiment (days | (Turell et al. |
| | (ALAN birds) | | viremia $> 10^5$) | 2000) |
| m | Mosquito | 1/(25.6 days) | Derived from average adult | (David et al. |
| | mortality rate | (range: 2.93- | lifespan of C. quinquefasciatus | 2012) |
| | | 48.2) | | |
| k | WNV | 1/13 days | Derived from extrinsic | (Richards et |
| | development rate | | incubation period | al. 2010) |
| M/B | Vector:host ratio | 20.16 | Derived from vector:host data | (Sallam et al. |
| | | | | 2017) |

Table A2.9:

Variance inflation factors (VIF).

| Vä | ariables Tole | rance | VIF |
|----|---------------|-------------|-------------|
| | <chr></chr> | <db7></db7> | <db7></db7> |
| 1 | treatment | 0.989 | 1.01 |
| 2 | day2 | 0.247 | 4.05 |
| 3 | day4 | 0.137 | 7.32 |
| 4 | day6 | 0.322 | 3.10 |
| 5 | day10 | 0.677 | 1.48 |
| 6 | titer | 0.185 | 5.42 |

Table A2.10:

Eigenvalue condition indices used to determine whether collinearity exists; there are no

values above 30, therefore, collinearity does not exist between two variables.

| Eigenvalue | Condition Index | intercept | treatment | day2 | | day4 | day6 | day10 | titer |
|--------------|-----------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|-------|------------|--------------|-------------|--------------|
| 1 3.30363942 | 1.000000 | 1.505112e-02 | 2.680385e-02 | 0.004605917 | 1 0.0 | 0036952618 | 0.0046253228 | 0.003877121 | 5.514081e-0 |
| 2 1.08014630 | 1.748860 | 3.565186e-03 | 9.220352e-03 | 0.001881470 | 2 0.0 | 0343264661 | 0.0121026917 | 0.269171776 | 3.627459e-0 |
| 3 1.00121935 | 1.816485 | 1.063383e-04 | 5.160158e-04 | 0.017081323 | 3 0.0 | 0035019340 | 0.1957529311 | 0.088235993 | 1.855106e-07 |
| 4 1.0000000 | 1.817592 | 0.00000e+00 | 2.018500e-33 | 0.112735252 | 4 0.0 | 0186520409 | 0.0002191967 | 0.131713136 | 2.016315e-3 |
| 5 0.43460146 | 2.757089 | 5.823986e-05 | 7.079713e-01 | 0.021598093 | 5 0.0 | 0024236320 | 0.0399779437 | 0.095115061 | 1.803158e-02 |
| 6 0.14680278 | 4.743831 | 8.943558e-01 | 2.427874e-01 | 0.027944388 | 6 0.0 | 0007816947 | 0.0259071622 | 0.174303243 | 6.754369e-02 |
| 7 0.03359069 | 9.917150 | 8.686336e-02 | 1.270103e-02 | 0.814153558 | 7 0.9 | 9366189705 | 0.7214147517 | 0.237583671 | 9.052830e-01 |

Table A2.11:

Number of differentially expressed genes classified by DEseq2 at FDR <0.05 and <0.10. In the text, we opted to report the 0.10 values as this is the standard for DEseq2 analysis and the default in the 'DEseq2' R package used to analyze the data (Love et al. 2014).

| | FDR<0.05 | FDR<0.10 |
|------------------------|----------|----------|
| Day 2 ALAN vs Control | 101 | 162 |
| Day 6 ALAN vs Control | 1989 | 2775 |
| Control Day 6 vs Day 2 | 674 | 997 |
| ALAN Day 6 vs Day 2 | 2170 | 2794 |

Table A2.12:

Measurements of ALAN at capture sites using VIIRS satellite radiance data from

lightpollutionmap.info and handheld lux meters. Handheld measures reported as a range because

of the variation in light pollution at a local scale.

| Location | Satellite Radiance | Handheld Lux |
|----------------|--------------------|--------------|
| Lutz | 9.53 | 3.8-4.2 |
| St. Pete Beach | 8.35 | 3.9-4.2 |

Table A2.13:

Post-hoc analyses using 'emmeans' in R studio for linear mixed models accounting for

repeated measures.

| Dependent Variable | Day | Contrast | Estimate | SE | DF | T ratio | P value |
|--------------------|-----|--------------|----------|-------|----|---------|---------|
| Viremia | 6 | ALAN-control | -1.371 | 0.465 | 40 | -2.948 | 0.0053 |
| ΔBody mass | 6 | ALAN-control | 3.111 | 1.097 | 40 | 2.836 | 0.0071 |



Figure A2.1:

Corticosterone levels at capture in the wild: baseline (<3 min of hitting a mist net), 30 (after 30 min restraint in a cloth bag), and 90 (after DEX-induced negative feedback in ALAN (blue) and control (black) individuals. This regulatory profile represents the ability of birds to mount a corticosterone response to a stressor and respond to agonism of glucocorticoid receptors in the brain with attenuation of corticosterone release from the adrenals. Note that all of these values were collected before any individuals were exposed to ALAN.



Figure A2.2:

Corticosterone regulatory profiles after ALAN exposure; ALAN-exposed individuals are depicted as blue symbols and control individuals are black. As above in Fig. A2.1, < 3 depicts baseline measures, 30 minutes depicts post-stressor measures, and 90 minutes depicts post-DEX negative feedback measures.


Figure A2.3:

Baseline corticosterone levels of birds at capture (wild) and after a period of time in captivity (captive). As above, ALAN exposed birds are depicted in blue and control birds in black. Both groups increased baseline corticosterone after time in captivity, a typical response for this species (Martin et al. 2011), but this increase in baseline corticosterone was more modest in ALAN-exposed birds.



Figure A2.4:

PCA of all 18 RNAseq libraries used in the study.



Figure A2.5:

Cell type enrichment analysis based on up and down regulated genes in the 'd6 ALAN v Control' and 'ALAN d6 v d2' DEseq2 results. Only significant enrichments are shown, with lighter colors indicating a stronger enrichment.



Figure A2.6:

WGCNA module trait correlations. Each box contains the correlation value, ranging from -1 to 1, and corresponding p value. The heatmap color shading corresponds to the correlation value, with red colors representing positive correlations and blue colors representing negative correlations.

APPENDIX B:

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL FOR CHAPTER II

Experimental procedures:

House Sparrows (*Passer domesticus*; N=71) were captured in the Tampa Bay area using mist nets during the months of October and November 2018. All birds were captured between the hours of 5:30 and 9:30 AM. Following capture, birds were transported to the USF campus vivarium and housed individually in 13"x15"x18" cages in visual and auditory proximity to one another under assigned conditions for 2 weeks. Food (mixed seeds) and water were provided *ad libitum* throughout the study. All birds were housed under a 12L:12D cycle; control birds were housed in complete darkness (0 lux; N=24) at night, wildlife-safe ALAN exposed birds were housed under 5 lux of 1800K LED light at night (N=12), broad-spectrum ALAN exposed birds were housed under 5 lux of 3000K LED light at night (N=11), and cool-white ALAN exposed birds were housed under 5 lux of 5000K LED light at night (N=24). After the first two weeks, birds were transported to the USF ABSL-3 facility and housed under identical lighting conditions inside bioBUBBLE containment systems (bioBUBBLE Inc, Fort Collins CO).

All birds were exposed to 10^1 PFUs per individual of NY'99 WNV one day after transfer to BSL-3. Half of the birds in the control group (N=12) and the 5000K ALAN group (N=12) were administered 200ug/mL crystalline melatonin dissolved in 0.5% EtOH in drinking water at night, a method used in similar experiments to elevate melatonin levels in pinealectomized House Sparrows, in attempt to restore circadian rhythms and alleviate melatonin suppression caused by ALAN exposure. Following WNV exposure, birds were sampled on days 2, 4, 6, and 10, and serum was stored at -20°C until viral RNA extractions were performed. Body mass (to 0.1g) was measured at exposure and all sampling timepoints to quantify individual and group health; mortality was closely monitored daily. All birds were euthanized on day 10 post-exposure at the conclusion of the study.

To determine viremia, WNV RNA was first extracted from 10 uL of stored serum using the Qiagen QIAmp Viral Extraction Mini Kit (Qiagen Cat. No. 52906). Standards were also extracted from known concentrations using the same methods. Following extractions, RNA was quantified using quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) using a one-step Taqman kit (iTaq Universal Probes One-Step Kit; Bio-Rad Cat. No. 1725141). All samples were run in duplicate with negative controls to detect potential contamination.

Data analysis:

All data analyses were performed in R studio (R Core Team 2013). Our first goal was to determine whether melatonin administration in the control or 5000K ALAN exposed birds affected viremia, mortality, and tolerance. We first used a generalized linear mixed model in R studio package 'lme4' (non-normal distribution indicated by Shapiro test) with WNV titer as the dependent variable, day, treatment (only including control and 5000K), melatonin administered or sham, and their interactions (two and three-way) as fixed effects; bird id was a random effect. Next, we asked whether melatonin influenced mortality rates or tolerance during the infectious-to-vector period. Indeed, melatonin, treatment, and their interaction had no significant effect on mortality or tolerance. Detailed statistical outputs are depicted below.

To confirm that the 3000K and 5000K treatments did not differ, we constructed a linear mixed model in R studio package 'nlme' (normal distribution without heteroskedasticity

168

indicated by Shapiro and Bartlett tests) with WNV titer as the dependent variable, day, treatment (only including 3000K and 5000K), and their interaction as fixed effects, and bird id as a random effect. Day was the only significant term in the model; the statistics are portrayed in the tables below. To further confirm that there was no statistical difference between the 3000K and 5000K treatment groups, we built a Cox proportional hazards analyses to determine effects of treatment, viremia, and vigor on mortality. We found that average viremia was the only significant predictor of mortality. Below are the specific statistics for this analysis. Finally, we confirmed that there was no difference between 3000K and 5000K groups regarding tolerance. To calculate tolerance, we first calculated the average change in body mass since exposure and the average viremia from days 2, 4, 6, and 10 post-exposure to summarize an individual's health across the course of infection. The population average was then calculated and each individual's residual from their predicted value served as their tolerance parameter (how much more body mass or less body mass did the individual maintain per their average viremia compared to all other individuals). We used a generalized linear model (non-normal distribution indicated by Shapiro test) with treatment, viremia, treatment*viremia, and vigor as fixed effects. Vigor was the only significant predictor of tolerance in this model, so we concluded 3000K and 5000K bird tolerance did not differ. Model statistics are detailed below.

When assessing residual variation in health, we first calculated average percent change body mass since exposure across the course of infection and total average viremia in each individual. Using a linear regression, we could then calculate each residual value from their predicted average percent change body mass as a function of their average WNV viremia based on the population average. This residual value thus served as an individual's measure of health; basically, how much more or less an individual maintained their body mass than was predicted

169

based on their average viral burden. We used a generalized linear model (GLM) in R studio's 'lme4' package where residual variance was the dependent variable and treatment, viremia, their interaction, and vigor were fixed effects.

Finally, the survival analyses were performed in R studio using 'survival', 'survminer', and 'dplyr' packages for the cox proportional hazards method. Time to death and censorship (died or survived until the conclusion of experiment) were incorporated as the dependent variables. The initial analysis was performed using just treatment as a predictor of mortality. Subsequently, once initial differences were detected, two different analyses were performed to avoid over-complicating models. The first iteration incorporated treatment, residual variation of health, their interaction, and vigor as fixed effects and the second iteration incorporated treatment, average viremia, their interaction, and vigor as fixed effects. This was done to determine if differences in mortality among treatment groups were driven by interactions between viremia and health status.

Table A3.1:

Melatonin Administration Viremia Distribution. Shapiro-Wilk test for normal distribution of data. Significant p-value indicated that WNV titer between MEL admin and sham individuals was not normally distributed.

| Shapiro-Wilk Normality Test | W value | P value |
|-----------------------------|---------|-----------|
| Viremia | 0.95821 | 0.0006078 |

Table A3.2:

Melatonin Administration Viremia Type III ANOVA. Summary of main effects of type III ANOVA of the GLMM model below where WNV viremia (titer) is the dependent variable, melatonin (MEL), day, and their interaction are fixed effects, and bird id is a random effect. Indeed, melatonin and its interaction with day do not affect viremia.

| Type III ANOVA | Chi Sq value | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|----------------|--------------|--------------------|-----------|
| MEL | 0.0529 | 1 | 0.8181707 |
| Day | 17.5512 | 3 | 0.0005443 |
| MEL:day | 0.6182 | 3 | 0.8922593 |

Table A3.3:

Melatonin Administration Alone on Viremia GLMM Output. Statistical output for a GLMM in R studio 'lme4' package. Treatment term as a fixed effect was dropped from the model as the model would not converge at this level of complexity and our main question was regarding the role of melatonin in viral resistance. This confirms that melatonin had no effect on WNV titer.

| GLMM fit by 'ML', Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std error | T value | P value |
|--------------------------------------|------------|-----------|---------|-------------|
| MEL | -0.0024998 | 0.0108736 | -0.230 | 0.81817 |
| Day(L) | 0.1303988 | 0.0332830 | 3.918 | 8.93e-05*** |
| Day(Q) | 0.0860951 | 0.0283174 | 3.040 | 0.00236** |
| Day(C) | 0.0148198 | 0.0232082 | 0.639 | 0.52311 |
| MEL:day(L) | -0.0157864 | 0.0208790 | -0.756 | 0.44960 |
| MEL:day(Q) | -0.0059293 | 0.0176832 | -0.335 | 0.73740 |
| MEL(C) | 0.0001207 | 0.0140931 | 0.009 | 0.99317 |

Table A3.4:

Melatonin Administration*Treatment on Viremia GLMM Output. Statistical output of cox proportional hazards analysis to determine whether melatonin administration influenced mortality rates. Indeed, the only marginally significant predictor of mortality was vigor (body condition in absence of infection).

| CoxPH Survival Analysis | Coef | Exp(coef) | Se(coef) | Z score | P value |
|-------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|---------|---------|
| Treatment | -1.42e+01 | 6.84e-07 | 1.47e+01 | -0.97 | 0.333 |
| MEL | -1.20e+01 | 5.95e-06 | 8.63e+00 | -1.39 | 0.163 |
| Viremia | -2.90e+00 | 5.51e-02 | 2.23e+00 | -1.30 | 0.193 |
| Vigor | 4.66e-01 | 1.59e+00 | 2.48e-01 | 1.88 | 0.061 |
| Treatment:MEL | 1.33e+01 | 6.20e+05 | 1.03e+01 | 1.29 | 0.196 |
| Treatment:viremia | 3.08e+00 | 2.17e+01 | 2.56e+00 | 1.21 | 0.228 |
| MEL:viremia | 2.09e+00 | 8.06e+00 | 1.49e+00 | 1.40 | 0.161 |
| Treatment:MEL:viremia | -2.64e+00 | 7.11e-02 | 1.81e+00 | -1.46 | 0.145 |

Table A3.5:

Residual Variation in Body Mass Distribution. Shapiro-Wilk test to determine normality.

The p-value is significant, indicating that the data is not normally distributed.

| Shapiro-Wilk Normality Test | W value | P value |
|---------------------------------|---------|-----------|
| Residual Variation in Body Mass | 0.84972 | 2.137e-05 |

Table A3.6:

Melatonin Administration*Treatment*Viremia on Residual Variation in Body Mass GLM. Statistical output of a generalized linear model where we asked whether treatment, melatonin, viremia, or vigor predicted tolerance measurements. Indeed, no differences in tolerance existed between melatonin administered and sham individuals and the only significant predictor of tolerance was vigor.

| GLM Residual Var Body Mass | Estimate | Std. Error | T value | P value |
|----------------------------|------------|------------|---------|-------------|
| Treatment | -0.0002726 | -0.1652612 | -0.002 | 0.998692 |
| MEL | -0.0093786 | 0.1023457 | 0.092 | 0.927456 |
| Viremia | -0.0027277 | 0.0233191 | -0.117 | 0.907483 |
| Vigor | 0.0112710 | 0.0031364 | 3.594 | 0.000903*** |
| Treatment:MEL | -0.0353297 | 0.1171529 | -0.302 | 0.764583 |
| Treatment:Viremia | -0.0011187 | 0.0268656 | -0.042 | 0.966997 |
| MEL:Viremia | -0.0028335 | 0.0175894 | -0.161 | 0.872851 |
| Treatment:MEL:Viremia | 0.0063113 | 0.0198555 | 0.318 | 0.752285 |

Table A3.7:

Viremia Distribution between 3000K and 5000K Treatments. Shapiro-Wilk test to

determine normal distribution of data. Non-significant P-values indicate normal distribution.

| Shapiro-Wilk Normality Test | W value | P value |
|-----------------------------|---------|---------|
| Viremia | 0.97697 | 0.1145 |

Table A3.8:

Bartlett Test of Homogeneity. Bartlett test to determine homogeneity of variances. Nonsignificant P-values indicate there is no heteroskedasticity or unequal variance among groups.

| Bartlett Test of Homogeneity | K squared | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|------------------------------|-----------|--------------------|---------|
| Viremia~treatment*day | 11.175 | 7 | 0.1312 |

Table A3.9:

3000K and 5000K Type III ANOVA. Type III ANOVA test of main effects of the linear mixed model built in 'nlme'. Day is the only significant fixed effect in this model, so we concluded there are no difference between 3000K and 5000K treatments on viremia.

| Type III ANOVA | Chi Sq | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|----------------|--------|--------------------|---------|
| Treatment | 4.8539 | 3 | 0.1828 |

Table A3.10:

3000K and 5000K Effects on Mortality in a Cox Proportional Hazards Model. Statistical output for the cox proportional hazards model to determine effects of survival where treatment, viremia, their interaction, and vigor were integrated as fixed effects. The only significant predictor of mortality was viremia, so we concluded that treatments 3000K and 5000K again did not statistically differ in mortality rates.

| Cox PH Model | Coef | Exp(coef) | SE(coef) | Z score | P value |
|-------------------|----------|-----------|----------|---------|-----------|
| Treatment | 0.19382 | 1.21388 | 3.19598 | 0.061 | 0.95164 |
| Viremia | 1.09994 | 3.00397 | 0.35933 | 3.061 | 0.00221** |
| Vigor | -0.03809 | 0.96263 | 0.25329 | -0.150 | 0.88047 |
| Treatment:Viremia | 0.03031 | 1.03077 | 0.43621 | 0.069 | 0.94460 |

Table A3.11:

3000K and 5000K Effects on Body Mass in a GLM. Statistical output of the generalized linear model used to determine whether 3000K or 5000K treatments differed in change in body mass. Vigor was the only significant predictor of tolerance, therefore, we concluded that the treatments did not differ regarding tolerance statistically.

| GLM, Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std. Error | T value | P value |
|-------------------------|-----------|------------|---------|---------|
| Treatment | 0.009165 | 0.041454 | 0.221 | 0.8266 |
| Viremia | -0.001570 | 0.005246 | -0.299 | 0.7668 |
| Vigor | 0.010455 | 0.004215 | 2.480 | 0.0192* |
| Treatment:Viremia | -0.001771 | 0.006367 | -0.278 | 0.7829 |

Table A3.12:

Melatonin Pre-Exposure. Type III ANOVA output to determine melatonin pre-exposure concentrations between the control and treatment groups. No significant differences existed

between groups.

| Type III ANOVA | ChiSq | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|----------------|---------|--------------------|---------|
| Treatment | 0.02255 | 1 | 0.8806 |
| Time | 0.69236 | 1 | 0.4054 |
| Treatment:Time | 0.17504 | 1 | 0.6757 |

Table A3.13:

Melatonin Pre-Exposure. Output of the generalized linear model where melatonin concentration was the dependent variable, and treatment, time, and their interaction were fixed effects pre-exposure. We confirmed that there were no significant pre-existing differences.

| GLM Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std Error | T value | P value |
|------------------------|------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| Treatment | 4.131e-04 | 2.749e-03 | 0.150 | 0.8809 |
| Time | -9.931e-05 | 1.193e-04 | -0.832 | 0.4075 |
| Treatment:Time | -6.109e-05 | 1.461e-04 | -0.418 | 0.6768 |

Table A3.14:

Pre-/Post-ALAN Exposure Effects on Melatonin [Within-Group]. Main effects determined by Type III ANOVA for Pre-/Post-Exposure comparison of ALAN exposed birds GLM model with a gamma distribution. There is a significant main effect of exposure on melatonin concentration.

| Type III ANOVA | ChiSq | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|-------------------------|--------|--------------------|------------|
| Pre-/Post-Exposure | 7.7698 | 1 | 0.005313** |
| Time | 2.8776 | 1 | 0.089817 |
| Pre-/Post-Exposure:Time | 1.9442 | 1 | 0.163214 |

Table A3.15:

Pre-/Post-ALAN Exposure Effects on Melatonin [Within-Group]. Output of the

generalized linear model where melatonin concentration was the dependent variable, and pre-

/post-exposure, time, and their interaction were fixed effects. ALAN exposure had a significant

effect on melatonin concentration.

| GLM Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std Error | T value | P value |
|------------------------|------------|-----------|---------|-----------|
| Pre-/Post-Exposure | 4.155e-02 | 1.556e-02 | 2.670 | 0.00897** |
| Time | -1.604e-04 | 9.504e-05 | -1.688 | 0.09485 |
| Pre-/Post-Exposure | -1.135e-03 | 8.176e-04 | -1.389 | 0.16827 |

Table A3.16:

Effects of ALAN Exposure on Melatonin Concentrations. Main effects determined by Type III ANOVA for ALAN-exposed vs control melatonin concentration GLM model with a gamma distribution. There is a significant main effect of the interaction between treatment and exposure on melatonin concentration, indicating that melatonin concentrations were only suppressed when individuals are exposed to ALAN.

| Type III ANOVA | ChiSq | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|--------------------|---------|--------------------|------------|
| Treatment | 2.952 | 1 | 0.08575 |
| Pre-/Post-Exposure | 0.829 | 1 | 0.36262 |
| Time | 6.369 | 1 | 0.01161* |
| Treatment:Exposure | 186.419 | 1 | < 2e-16*** |

Table A3.17:

Effects of ALAN Exposure on Melatonin Concentrations. Output of the generalized linear model where melatonin concentration was the dependent variable, and treatment, time, and their interaction were fixed effects post-exposure. The interaction between treatment and exposure significantly affected melatonin concentrations, further confirming that only exposure to ALAN affected melatonin.

| GLM Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std. Error | T value | P value |
|------------------------|------------|------------|---------|------------|
| Treatment | -7.254e-04 | 4.294e-04 | -1.689 | 0.0929 |
| Pre-/Post-Exposure | -4.104e-04 | 4.531e-04 | -0.906 | 0.3663 |
| Time | -1.555e-04 | 6.173e-05 | -2.518 | 0.0127* |
| Treatment:Exposure | 2.099e-02 | 2.245e-03 | 9.349 | < 2e-16*** |

Table A3.18:

Main Effects of Treatment, Time, and Their Interaction on WNV Viremia. Main effects on viremia determined by Type III ANOVA for GLMM fit by 'ML' and gamma distribution. Treatment and day are both significant main effects on viremia (log10 WNV PFU).

| Type III ANOVA | ChiSq | Degrees of Freedom | P value |
|----------------|---------|--------------------|----------|
| Day | 76.3587 | 3 | 2e-16*** |
| Treatment | 6.9942 | 2 | 0.03029* |
| Day:Treatment | 8.7008 | 6 | 0.19111 |

Table A3.19:

Detailed Statistics of Treatment, Time, and Their Interaction on WNV Viremia GLMM Output. Main statistic output for the GLMM fit by 'ML' and gamma distribution to determine the effects of treatment, day, and their interaction on WNV viremia (log10 PFU). Day as a linear and quadratic function are both highly significant, which is unsurprising because it is just saying that viremia is different across time. The 1800K treatment and its interaction across time are both significant.

| GLMM fit by 'ML', Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std Error | T value | P Value |
|--------------------------------------|-----------|-----------|---------|-------------|
| Day (linear) | 0.101127 | 0.012972 | 7.796 | 6.41e-15*** |
| Day (quadratic) | 0.073140 | 0.010849 | 6.742 | 1.57e-11*** |
| Day (cubic) | 0.014650 | 0.008698 | 1.684 | 0.09212 |
| 1800K Treatment | 0.031555 | 0.012474 | 2.530 | 0.01142* |
| 3000+5000K Treatment | 0.002687 | 0.009257 | 0.290 | 0.77165 |
| Day(L):1800K | 0.067238 | 0.024680 | 2.724 | 0.00644** |
| Day(Q):1800K | 0.041429 | 0.020729 | 1.999 | 0.04565* |
| Day(C):1800K | 0.015780 | 0.016147 | 0.977 | 0.32842 |
| Day(L):3000+5000K | 0.006164 | 0.018069 | 0.341 | 0.73300 |
| Day(Q):3000+5000K | 0.006026 | 0.015218 | 0.396 | 0.69214 |
| Day(C):3000+5000K | -0.003912 | 0.011954 | -0.327 | 0.74351 |

Table A3.20:

Detailed Statistics of Treatment, Time, and Their Interaction on Percent Change Body Mass GLMM Output. GLMM output for percent change body mass across the course of infection where treatment, day, and their interaction were fixed effects and bird ID was a random effect. There was a significant interaction between broad-spectrum (3000+5000K) and day as a quadratic function.

| GLMM fit by 'ML', Gamma Distribution | Estimate | Std Error | T value | P Value |
|--------------------------------------|------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| 1800K (2) | -0.0117398 | 0.0099515 | -1.180 | 0.2381 |
| 3000+5000K (3) | 0.0006638 | 0.0074137 | 0.090 | 0.9287 |
| Day (linear) | -0.0064685 | 0.0046877 | -1.380 | 0.1676 |
| Day (quadratic) | -0.0035572 | 0.0044511 | -0.799 | 0.4242 |
| Day (cubic) | 0.0017896 | 0.0043874 | 0.408 | 0.6834 |
| 1800K:Day (L) | 0.0026512 | 0.0073996 | 0.358 | 0.7201 |
| 3000+5000K:Day (L) | 0.0130326 | 0.0062909 | 2.072 | 0.0383* |
| 1800K:Day (Q) | 0.0064073 | 0.0068622 | 0.934 | 0.3505 |
| 3000+5000K:Day (Q) | 0.0019145 | 0.0060900 | 0.314 | 0.7532 |
| 1800K:Day (C) | -0.0031822 | 0.0066844 | -0.476 | 0.6340 |
| 3000+5000K:Day (C) | -0.0044053 | 0.0060896 | -0.723 | 0.4694 |

Table A3.21:

Effects of Treatment and Vigor on Mortality. Cox proportional hazards model in Rstudio

using packages 'survival' and 'survminer'. Vigor has no effect on mortality, as demonstrated

here, so it is not included in further iterations of the model.

| Cox Proportional Hazards Model | X^2 | DF | P Value |
|--------------------------------|--------|----|---------|
| Treatment | 5.7400 | 2 | 0.0567 |
| Vigor | 0.8902 | 1 | 0.3454 |

Table A3.22:

Effects of Treatment Alone on Mortality. Cox proportional hazards model after removing

vigor from the model and only accounting for fixed effects of treatment on survival.

| Cox Proportional Hazards Model | \mathbf{X}^2 | DF | P Value |
|--------------------------------|----------------|----|---------|
| Treatment | 6.0217 | 2 | 0.0493* |

Table A3.23:

Main Effects of Treatment, Average Percent Change Body Mass, and Average Viremia on Mortality. Type III ANOVA for main effects of the Cox proportional-hazards model in R studio with treatment, average % change body mass days 2 and 4 post-exposure), and average viremia (days 2 and 4 post-exposure) as fixed effects. We also asked about the interaction between these fixed effects.

| Type III ANOVA | X^2 | DF | P Value |
|---------------------------------------|---------|----|-------------|
| Treatment | 7.3586 | 2 | 0.02524* |
| Average % Δ Body Mass | 4.0220 | 1 | 0.04491* |
| Average Viremia | 15.2721 | 1 | 9.31e-05*** |
| Treatment: Average % △ Body Mass | 3.9696 | 2 | 0.13741 |
| Treatment: Average Viremia | 6.5208 | 2 | 0.03837* |
| Average % ∆ Body Mass:Average Viremia | 4.3120 | 1 | 0.03785* |
| Treatment:Avg%∆BodyMass:AvgViremia | 4.1748 | 2 | 0.12401 |

Table A3.24:

Detailed Output of Treatment, Average Percent Change Body Mass, and Average

Viremia on Mortality. Output from the Cox proportional-hazards analysis with treatment,

average % change body mass days 2 and 4 post-exposure), and average viremia (days 2 and 4

post-exposure) as fixed effects. We also asked about the interaction between these fixed effects.

| Cox Proportional-Hazards Model | Coef | Exp(coef) | SE(coef) | Z score | P value |
|--------------------------------|------------|-----------|-----------|---------|----------|
| 1800K (2) | 1.557e+01 | 5.802e+06 | 9.729e+00 | 1.601 | 0.10943 |
| 3000+5000K (3) | 1.950e+01 | 2.953e+08 | 8.843e+00 | 2.205 | 0.02743* |
| Avg%∆Mass | -5.311e+00 | 4.939e-03 | 2.932e+00 | -1.811 | 0.07014 |
| AvgViremia | 3.577e+00 | 3.578e+01 | 1.162e+00 | 3.079 | 0.00208* |
| (2):Avg%ΔMass | 2.685e+00 | 1.466e+01 | 5.821e+00 | 0.461 | 0.64465 |
| (3):Avg % Δ Mass | 5.158e+00 | 1.738e+02 | 2.946e+00 | 1.751 | 0.07993 |
| (2):Avg Viremia | -2.028e+00 | 1.316e-01 | 1.313e+00 | -1.544 | 0.12260 |
| (3):Avg Viremia | -2.561e+00 | 7.723e-02 | 1.170e+00 | -2.189 | 0.02863* |
| %∆Mass:AvgViremia | 7.055e-01 | 2.025e+00 | 3.776e-01 | 1.868 | 0.06172 |
| (2):Avg% AMass: AvgViremia | -3.491e-01 | 7.053e-01 | 8.921e-01 | -0.391 | 0.69558 |
| (3):Avg% AMass: AvgViremia | -6.864e-01 | 5.034e-01 | 3.796e-01 | -1.809 | 0.07052 |

Table A3.25:

Comparison of Days Until Death Between Treatments. One-way ANOVA analysis to determine whether the residual of the mean of days until death (i.e. mortality occurs earlier or later than predicted based on viremia) in treatments differ.

| One-way ANOVA | DF | Sum Sq | Mean Sq | F value | P value |
|---------------|----|--------|---------|---------|---------|
| Treatment | 2 | 13.51 | 6.754 | 3.561 | 0.0341* |
| Residuals | 65 | 123.30 | 1.897 | | |

Table A3.26:

Pairwise Comparison of Time Until Death Between Treatments. Tukey multiple comparison of means analysis used to determine between which treatment groups there were significant differences. Here, we see that the significant effect of treatment is driven by the difference between the control and broad-spectrum [3000+5000K] ALAN group. This indicates that individuals in the broad-spectrum ALAN group are dying earlier than anticipated based on the residual variation of the means of time until death based on average viremia days 2 and 4 post-exposure.

| Tukey Comparison of Means | Diff | Lower | Upper | P value adjusted |
|---------------------------|---------|---------|---------|------------------|
| 1800K - control | -0.2397 | -1.4253 | 0.9458 | 0.8787 |
| 3000+5000K - control | -0.9612 | -1.8651 | -0.0573 | 0.0346* |
| 3000+5000K - 1800K | -0.7215 | -1.8307 | 0.3878 | 0.2702 |

APPENDIX C:

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION FOR CHAPTER III

Table A4.1:

Spatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with no offsets.

| Parameter | Estimate | Cond. SE | t-value | 2.5% CI | 97.5% CI |
|----------------------------------|----------|----------|---------|---------|----------|
| scale(temp) | 1.959 | 0.158 | 12.387 | 1.651 | 2.285 |
| <pre>scale(I(temp^2))</pre> | 1.020 | 0.189 | 5.400 | 0.612 | 1.380 |
| scale(log(ALAN)) | -0.665 | 0.284 | -2.342 | -1.264 | -0.085 |
| <pre>scale(I(log(ALAN)^2))</pre> | -0.624 | 0.238 | -2.621 | -1.120 | -0.150 |
| scale(hum foot) | -0.059 | 0.155 | -0.379 | -0.369 | 0.259 |
| scale(pop den) | 0.214 | 0.123 | 1.738 | -0.032 | 0.458 |
| scale(imp sur) | 0.014 | 0.080 | 0.179 | -0.144 | 0.169 |
| scale(precip) | -0.401 | 0.084 | -4.784 | -0.569 | -0.234 |
| scale(soil moisture) | -0.098 | 0.089 | -1.106 | -0.282 | 0.079 |
| year2016 | -0.034 | 0.458 | -0.074 | -0.924 | 0.881 |
| year2017 | 0.280 | 0.393 | 0.713 | -0.478 | 1.079 |
| year2018 | 0.640 | 0.379 | 1.690 | -0.092 | 1.421 |
| nu | 0.500 | | | | |
| rho | 4.436 | | | | |
| AIC | 1492.984 | | | | |
| logLik | -727.492 | | | | |

Table A4.2:

| Parameter | Estimate | Cond. SE | t-value | 2.5% CI | 97.5% CI |
|----------------------------------|----------|----------|---------|---------|----------|
| scale(temp) | 1.991 | 0.161 | 12.363 | 1.680 | 2.323 |
| <pre>scale(I(temp^2))</pre> | 1.036 | 0.191 | 5.433 | 0.628 | 1.399 |
| scale(log(ALAN)) | -1.079 | 0.284 | -3.796 | -1.674 | -0.491 |
| <pre>scale(I(log(ALAN)^2))</pre> | -0.893 | 0.245 | -3.643 | -1.417 | -0.419 |
| scale(hum foot) | 0.082 | 0.158 | 0.517 | -0.268 | 0.400 |
| scale(pop den) | 0.301 | 0.135 | 2.236 | 0.037 | 0.573 |
| scale(imp sur) | -0.047 | 0.091 | -0.516 | -0.225 | 0.133 |
| scale(precip) | -0.402 | 0.085 | -4.752 | -0.572 | -0.236 |
| scale(soil moisture) | -0.115 | 0.094 | -1.229 | -0.308 | 0.071 |
| year2016 | 0.057 | 0.465 | 0.123 | -0.839 | 0.978 |
| year2017 | 0.343 | 0.408 | 0.841 | -0.429 | 1.159 |
| year2018 | 0.763 | 0.393 | 1.942 | 0.016 | 1.559 |
| nu | NA | | | | |
| rho | NA | | | | |
| AIC | 1493.878 | | | | |
| logLik | -729.939 | | | | |

Nonspatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with offsets.

Table A4.3:

| Parameter | Estimate | Cond. SE | t-value | 2.5% CI | 97.5% CI |
|----------------------------------|----------|----------|---------|---------|----------|
| scale(temp) | 1.965 | 0.157 | 12.491 | 1.654 | 2.296 |
| <pre>scale(I(temp^2))</pre> | 1.015 | 0.186 | 5.458 | 0.606 | 1.378 |
| scale(log(ALAN)) | -0.860 | 0.260 | -3.313 | -1.432 | -0.350 |
| <pre>scale(I(log(ALAN)^2))</pre> | -0.728 | 0.209 | -3.485 | -1.189 | -0.320 |
| scale(hum foot) | -0.061 | 0.151 | -0.402 | -0.366 | 0.258 |
| scale(pop den) | 0.285 | 0.120 | 2.374 | 0.047 | 0.535 |
| scale(imp sur) | 0.042 | 0.081 | 0.522 | -0.122 | 0.201 |
| scale(precip) | -0.392 | 0.083 | -4.692 | -0.564 | -0.224 |
| scale(soil moisture) | -0.123 | 0.088 | -1.387 | -0.315 | 0.054 |
| year2016 | -0.085 | 0.459 | -0.184 | -0.991 | 0.840 |
| year2017 | 0.242 | 0.394 | 0.615 | -0.524 | 1.060 |
| year2018 | 0.636 | 0.380 | 1.675 | -0.108 | 1.431 |
| nu | NA | | | | |
| rho | NA | | | | |
| AIC | 1493.601 | | | | |
| logLik | -729.800 | | | | |

Nonspatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme without offsets.

Table A4.4:

| Parameter | Estimate | Cond. SE | t-value | 2.5% CI | 97.5% CI |
|----------------------------------|----------|----------|---------|---------|----------|
| scale(temp) | 1.965 | 0.157 | 12.491 | 1.654 | 2.296 |
| <pre>scale(I(temp^2))</pre> | 1.015 | 0.186 | 5.458 | 0.606 | 1.378 |
| scale(log(ALAN)) | -0.860 | 0.260 | -3.313 | -1.432 | -0.350 |
| <pre>scale(I(log(ALAN)^2))</pre> | -0.728 | 0.209 | -3.485 | -1.189 | -0.320 |
| scale(hum foot) | -0.061 | 0.151 | -0.402 | -0.366 | 0.258 |
| scale(pop den) | 0.285 | 0.120 | 2.374 | 0.047 | 0.535 |
| scale(imp sur) | 0.042 | 0.081 | 0.522 | -0.122 | 0.201 |
| scale(precip) | -0.392 | 0.083 | -4.692 | -0.564 | -0.224 |
| scale(soil moisture) | -0.123 | 0.088 | -1.387 | -0.315 | 0.054 |
| year2016 | -0.085 | 0.459 | -0.184 | -0.991 | 0.840 |
| year2017 | 0.242 | 0.394 | 0.615 | -0.524 | 1.060 |
| year2018 | 0.636 | 0.380 | 1.675 | -0.108 | 1.431 |
| nu | NA | | | | |
| rho | NA | | | | |
| AIC | 1493.601 | | | | |
| logLik | -729.800 | | | | |

Spatial iteration of the model predicting WNV exposure via fitme with offsets.





Histograms and density distribution of artificial night lighting across Florida (A and B) and at our sentinel chicken sample locations (C and D). Radiance units reflect the artificial component of night sky brightness (μ cd/m²). X axis for A and C span the full range of values across Florida and our study sites, respectively whereas the x axis for B and C has been restricted to lower values to more clearly display the distribution of values. Vertical dashed line in all plots denotes mean values.

APPENDIX D:

INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE (IACUC) AND INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE (IBC) APPROVAL



RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE & USE COMMITTEE

MEMORANDUM

TO:

Lynn Martin,

arah (Monleic

FROM:

 Farah Moulvi, MSPH, IACUC Coordinator Institutional Animal Care & Use Committee Research Integrity & Compliance

 DATE:
 9/26/2016

 PROJECT TITLE:
 Effects of Light Pollution on Immune Response to WNV

 FUNDING SOURCE:
 USF department, institute, center, etc.

 IACUC PROTOCOL #:
 R IS00002716

 PROTOCOL STATUS:
 APPROVED

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) reviewed your application requesting the use of animals in research for the above-entitled study. The IACUC **APPROVED** your request to use the following animals in your **protocol for a one-year period beginning 9/26/2016:**

Sparrow: house sparrow (adult/22-28g/F 96 and M)

Please take note of the following:

 IACUC approval is granted for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual renewal form must be submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol through the eIACUC system. After three years all continuing studies must be completely re-described in a new electronic application and submitted to IACUC for review.

All modifications to the IACUC-Approved Protocol must be approved by the
 IACUC prior to initiating the modification. Modifications can be submitted to the
 IACUC for review and approval as an Amendment or Procedural Change through the
 elACUC system. These changes must be within the scope of the original research

hypothesis, involve the original species and justified in writing. Any change in the IACUCapproved protocol that does not meet the latter definition is considered a major protocol change and requires the submission of a new application.

 All costs invoiced to a grant account must be allocable to the purpose of the grant. Costs allocable to one protocol may not be shifted to another in order to meet deficiencies caused by overruns, or for other reasons convenience. Rotation of charges among protocols by month without establishing that the rotation schedule credibly reflects the relative benefit to each protocol is unacceptable.

> RESEARCH & INNOVATION + RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE PHS No. A4100-01, AALAC No. 000434, USDA No. 58-R-0015 University of South Florida + 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 + Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-7105 + FAX (813) 974-7091



RESEARCH INTEGRITY & COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE & USE COMMITTEE

| MEMORANDUM | |
|---------------------------------------|--|
| TO: | Lynn Martin, |
| FROM: | Jorah (Mouleic |
| | Institutional Animal Care & Use Committee Research Integrity & Compliance |
| DATE: | 7/31/2019 |
| PROJECT TITLE: | Light pollution and seasonality in passerine responses to West Nile virus |
| FUNDING SOURCE: | USF department, institute, center, etc. |
| IACUC PROTOCOL #: PROTOCOL STATUS: | R IS00006820 APPROVED |

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) reviewed your application requesting the use of animals in research for the above-entitled study. The IACUC **APPROVED** your request to use the following animals in your **protocol for a one-year period beginning 7/31/2019:**

| Sparrow: house sparrow ((adult/22-28g/F and M)) | 108 |
|---|-----|
| Bird: Blue Jay ((adult/70-100g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Carolina Wren ((adult/ 18-22g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Great Crested Flycatcher ((adult/ 27-40g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Gray Catbird ((adult/ 23-57g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: White-eyed Vireo ((adult/ 10-14g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Northern Mockingbird ((adult/ 45-58/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Tufted Titmouse ((adult/ 18-26g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Carolina Chickadee ((adult/8-12g/F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Northern Cardinal ((adult. 42-48g/ F and M)) | 30 |
| Bird: Common Grackle ((adult/ 74-142g/ F and M)) | 30 |

Please take note of the following:

· IACUC approval is granted for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual renewal form must be

submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol through the eIACUC system. After three years all continuing studies must be completely re-described in a new electronic application and submitted to IACUC for review.

 All modifications to the IACUC-Approved Protocol must be approved by the IACUC prior to initiating the modification. Modifications can be submitted to the IACUC for review and approval as an Amendment or Procedural Change through the eIACUC system. These changes must be within the scope of the original research hypothesis, involve the original species and justified in writing. Any change in the IACUC-approved protocol that does not meet the latter definition is considered a major protocol change and requires the submission of a new application.

All costs invoiced to a grant account must be allocable to the purpose of the grant. Costs allocable to one
protocol may not be shifted to another in order to meet deficiencies caused by overruns, or for other reasons
convenience. Rotation of charges among protocols by month without establishing that the rotation schedule credibly
reflects the relative benefit to each protocol is unacceptable.

RESEARCH & INNOVATION • RESEARCH INTEGRITY AND COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL ANIMAL CARE AND USE COMMITTEE PHS No. A4100-01, AAALAC No. 000434, USDA No. 58-R-0015 University of South Florida • 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-7106 • FAX (813) 974-7091



| From: | Institutional Biosafety Committee Date: September 12, 2019 |
|---------|--|
| To: | Lynn Martin |
| Re: | PROTO2019-065 |
| | Light pollution effects on West Nile virus dynamics via heterogeneity in host competence |
| BSL: | BSL-3 ABSL-3 |
| Status: | Approved |

The above referenced protocol was reviewed by the Institutional Biosafety Committee (IBC). The IBC grants approval for this project.

Approval is for a one-year period beginning 9/12/2019.

- All modifications to the IBC approved protocol must be approved by the IBC prior to initiating the modification.
- All experimental procedures must be conducted at Biosafety Containment Level practices as described in your application. In accordance with the NIH/CDC publication Biosafety in Microbiological and Biomedical Laboratories 5th Edition.
- Report any significant problems, violations of the CDC/NIH Guidelines, or any significant research-related accidents and illnesses to Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-5091 or <u>biosafety@usf.edu</u>.

RESEARCH INTEGRITY & COMPLIANCE INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE University of South Florida · 3702 Spectrum Blvd Suite 165 · Tampa, FL 33612 (813) 974-5091 · FAX (813) 974-7091



Lynn Martin, Ph.D. Biology SCA 110

8/15/2016

IBC Study number: 1323 Infectious Agent

IBC Study Title: Stress hormone effects on host disease resistance, tolerance and transmission

Dear Dr. Martin:

Your above entitled registration application was reviewed by the Institutional Biosafety Commitee (IBC) at its 07/19/2016 meeting. The IBC acknowledges you have fulfilled the IBC review requirements. The IBC hereby grants the approval for this project. In addition, please take note of the following:

Approval is for a one-year period beginning: 8 /15/2016

 The Principal Investigator shall not modify any research project approved by the IBC until that proposed modification has been registered with and approved by the IBC.

 Report any significant problems, violations of the CDC/NIH Guidelines, or any significant research-related accidents and illnesses to Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

 All operations must be conducted at Biosafety Containment Level Practices as described in your application in accordance with the NIH/CDC publication Biosafety in Microbiological and Biomedical Laboratories, 5th Edition.

 When using research animals with an IBC registered biological agent, initiation of the animal component of the study is contingent upon the completion of and approval by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) process.

IBC registrations are approved for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual renewal/amendment
application must be submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol. A new registration application
must be reviewed and approved by the Full Committee every three (3) years.

If you have any questions regarding the status of this project, please contact Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

Sincerely,

BA: dh cc:DSR

Andrew Cans

Andrew Cannons, Ph.D. Chairperson Institutional Biosafety Committee

USF RESEARCH & INNOVATION• RESEARCH INTEGRITY & COMPLIANCE • INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE University of South Florida • 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-0954 • FAX (813) 974-7091



Lynn Martin, Ph.D. Biology SCA 110 7/24/2017

IBC Study number: 1323 Infectious Agent IBC Study Title: Stress hormone effects on host disease resistance, tolerance and transmission

Dear Dr.Martin:

BA:

cc:DSR

de

Your request to renew the above entitled Institutional Biosafety Committee (IBC) Study was reviewed and approved through an expedited process. The IBC acknowledges that this study is currently on going as previously approved. This action will be reported to the IBC at the next regularly scheduled meeting. In addition, please take note of the following:

Continuation of the project is approved for a one-year period beginning: 8/14/2017

 The Principal Investigator shall not modify any research project approved by the IBC until that proposed modification has been registered with and approved by the IBC.

All operations must be conducted at Biosafety containment level and practices as described in your
application and in accordance with the NIH/CDC publication Biosafety in Microbiological and Biomedical
Laboratories, 5th Edition.

 Report any significant problems, or any significant research-related accidents and illnesses to Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

 As a reminder to ensure security of the agent, entry doors to the lab must be shut and locked when the lab is left unattended.

IBC registration application(s) are approved for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual
renewal/amendment application must be submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol. A new
registration application must be reviewed and approved by the Full Committee every three (3) years.

If you have any questions regarding the status of this project, please contact Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

Sincerely,

Ardrew Cans

Andrew Cannons, Ph.D. Chairperson Institutional Biosafety Committee

USF RESEARCH & INNOVATION• RESEARCH INTEGRITY & COMPLIANCE • INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE University of South Florida • 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-0954 • FAX (813) 974-7091



Lynn Martin, Ph.D. Biology SCA 110 5/9/2018

IBC Study number: 1323 Infectious Agent

IBC Study Title: Stress hormone effects on host disease resistance, tolerance and transmission

Dear Dr.Martin:

Your request to renew the above entitled Institutional Biosafety Committee (IBC) Study was reviewed and approved through an expedited process. The IBC acknowledges that this study is currently on going as previously approved. This action will be reported to the IBC at the next regularly scheduled meeting. In addition, please take note of the following:

Continuation of the project is approved for a one-year period beginning: 8/13/2018

The Principal Investigator shall not modify any research project approved by the IBC until that proposed
modification has been registered with and approved by the IBC.

All operations must be conducted at Biosafety containment level and practices as described in your
application and in accordance with the NIH/CDC publication Biosafety in Microbiological and Biomedical
Laboratories, 5th Edition.

 Report any significant problems, or any significant research-related accidents and illnesses to Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

 As a reminder to ensure security of the agent, entry doors to the lab must be shut and locked when the lab is left unattended.

• IBC registration application(s) are approved for a one-year period at the end of which, an annual renewal/amendment application must be submitted for years two (2) and three (3) of the protocol. A new registration application must be reviewed and approved by the Full Committee every three (3) years.

If you have any questions regarding the status of this project, please contact Research Integrity and Compliance at 974-0954.

Sincerely,

BA: de cc:DSR

Andrew Can S

Andrew Cannons, Ph.D. Chairperson Institutional Biosafety Committee

USF RESEARCH & INNOVATION• RESEARCH INTEGRITY & COMPLIANCE • INSTITUTIONAL BIOSAFETY COMMITTEE University of South Florida • 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., MDC35 • Tampa, FL 33612-4799 (813) 974-0954 • FAX (813) 974-7091

APPENDIX E:

COPYRIGHT INFORMATION

Chapters 1 and 3:

Licence to Publish

Notice: you are the person first named under the heading 'Authors and Institutions' at stage 4 of the online process to 'Submit a Manuscript' (referred to as "you/your"). we are the Royal Society, a body incorporated by royal charter, with its place of business at 6-9 Carlton House Terrace, London SW1Y 5AG (referred to as "we/us/our").

You have indicated your intention to upload the article more fully detailed at stage 1 of the online submission process (the "article") to be considered for publication by us. In order to publish your article we need you to grant us a licence to publish*. This licence also sets out your rights regarding use of Preprints, Accepted Author Manuscripts and the Definitive Published Version of the article (as defined below). Please read the terms of this licence carefully before uploading the article.

Ticking the box next to the question "Confirm you accept the terms and conditions of the relevant Licence to Publish." at stage 6 of the online submission process will be taken as assurance that you have read, agree to grant and have the right to grant this licence.

Definitions

"Preprints" - the un-refereed version of the article;

"Accepted Author Manuscript" - your personal copy of the revised version of the article as accepted by us;

"Definitive Published Version" - the citable version of the article produced by us after peer review, copy editing and print and electronic production.

- You grant to us for the full term of copyright in the article and any extensions thereto the
 exclusive right throughout the world to edit, adapt, translate, publish reproduce, distribute
 and display the article in printed, electronic or any other medium and format whether now
 known or yet to be developed; you agree to publish associated supplementary material
 under a <u>CC-BY licence*</u>; and
- 2. You represent to us that:

 a) the article is your original work, has not previously been published and is not currently under consideration for publication by any other entity;

b) in the case of a multi-authored article, you have obtained written authorisation from all the co-authors of the article (if any) to grant this licence to us on their behalf as their agent, and you will supply a copy of the same to us if we so request;

c) where any copyright material has been included in the article which has been sourced from third parties (e.g. illustrations, photographs, charts or maps), you have obtained all necessary written authorisations for the reproduction and distribution of these materials as part of the article throughout the world, in all languages and in all media and formats whether now known or yet to be developed and you will supply a copy of the same to us if we so request;

d) if copyright in the article is owned by any third party, whether your employer or someone to whom you have assigned your rights, you have obtained written authorisation from such copyright owner to grant this licence to us on their behalf as their agent and will supply a copy of the same to us if we so request; and

e) the article does not contain anything which is obscene, defamatory, libellous, infringes any right of privacy or any intellectual property right (including without limitation rights in patents, copyright or trademarks) or any other rights of any person or entity, or is otherwise unlawful.

- You assert your moral right to be identified as the Author or co-author of the article (as applicable). If your article is published, we will provide you with a PDF copy of the published article.
- If you decide to make the Definitive Published Version of the article open access, this will be under <u>this licence</u>.

You shall pay to us any relevant fee and we shall make the article so available from the later of the date of receipt of the relevant fee or the date of first publication of the article.

- You retain copyright in the article. However, you authorise us to act on your behalf to defend your copyright in the article should anyone infringe it, and to retain half of any damages awarded after deducting our costs.
- 6. You retain the right to use the article in the following ways, provided that you acknowledge the Definitive Published Version of the article by placing the full bibliographic reference and URL of the relevant journal homepage close to the title of the article:

a) In relation to the Preprint, Accepted Author Manuscript and Definitive Published Version of the article, you are free to: make copies for your own personal use; use the article for the internal teaching purposes of your own institution or company; and make and distribute copies (including through e-mail) of the article to research colleagues, for personal use by such colleagues on a non-commercial, non-systematic basis.

b) In relation to the **Preprint** version only, you are free to post it on web sites, including electronic preprint servers.

When the **Definitive Published Version** of the article is published the Author must acknowledge it by placing the full bibliographic reference and URL of the relevant journal homepage close to the title of the article.

c) In relation to the Accepted Author Manuscript only, you are free to: post it on your personal or institutional web site and load it onto your institutional or subject repository once accepted for publication; use it in compilations of your work subsequent to publication of the Definitive Published Version of the article, expand the article into book-length form, and/or otherwise re-use portions of the Accepted Author Manuscript of the article in other works. you are also free to present the article at a meeting or conference and to disseminate copies of such article to the delegates attending such meeting or conference and/or to use the Accepted Author Manuscript in a thesis or dissertation. A licence of CC-BY may be applied to the Accepted Author Manuscript, as required by some funders.

- We are entitled to assign our rights under this licence to any third party without giving notice to you.
- 8. No change or modification of this licence will be valid unless confirmed in writing by us.
- Failure or delay by us to exercise any right or remedy under this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver of that right or remedy, or prevent us from exercising that or any other right or remedy on any occasion.
- This licence is terminated in case the article is rejected for publication or the author withdraws the article for consideration for publication before publication has occurred.

US Government contracts

*For US government employees, works created within the scope of their employment are considered to be public domain (the article is not copyrightable in the US) and our publishing agreements do not require a transfer or license of rights for such works. For such works "you/your" is replaced with "United States government"

Where the author has notified us that this is the situation, the copyright line will indicate that the article constitutes a "work of the United States government" and a statement will be included in the article "US government may reproduce, without charge, all or portions of the contribution and may authorize others to do so, for official US government purposes only."
Rights retained by ALL Oxford Journal authors

- The right, after publication by Oxford Journals, to use all or part of the Article and abstract, for their own personal use, including their own classroom teaching purposes;
- The right, after publication by Oxford Journals, to use all or part of the Article and abstract, in the preparation of derivative works, extension of the article into book-length or in other works, provided that a full acknowledgement is made to the original publication in the journal;
- The right to include the article in full or in part in a thesis or dissertation, provided that this is not published commercially;

For the uses specified here, please note that there is no need for you to apply for written permission from Oxford University Press in advance. Please go ahead with the use ensuring that a full acknowledgment is made to the original source of the material including the journal name, volume, issue, page numbers, year of publication, title of article and to Oxford University Press and/or the learned society.